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NOW Butk specialist Rick Montagne shares his knowledge — and excitement—with customers,




At Airgas, the most exciting
moment 1s always right now.
It's been that way for 25
years and our dynamic story

| continues to unfold...







To our shareholders, |
customers, associlates, and friends:

By any measurement, fiscal 2007 was the best year in our 25-year history. A strong U.S.
economy, a favorable pricing environment driven by higher energy costs and tight supply
conditions, and solid execution by Airgas associates led to record earnings and cash flow. On
an adjusted basis, we grew earnings 30 percent to $2.00 per diluted share from continuing
operations. Net EPS grew to $1.92. Return on capital improved 150 basis points to 13.3
percent. Total revenues grew 13 percent to $3.2 billion.

It was also a record year for acquisitions, with more than $335 million in acquired revenue in
13 transactions, including important core acquisitions of Aeriform and Unien Industrial Gas
Group. The year’s largest acquisition added the divested Linde U.S5. bulk gas business, which
now opetates as Airgas Merchant Gases. The product-line acquisition of CFC Refimax added
refrigerant supply and reclamation offerings to Airgas Specialiy Products, further leveraging
our infrastructure. At year-end, we announced the Linde packaged gas acquisition, the
largest in our 26-year history, which will add another $346 million in acquired revenue,
ensuring that fiscal 2008 will be another record year for acquisitions.

And to top it all off, we celebrated our 25th Anniversary in 2007. Recently, Les Graff, Airgas’
senior vice president of corporate development, asked me, "What was the most exciting
time in Airgas’ 25-year history?" I thought about it for two or three seconds and answered,
“Now!" We both laughed, hecause we hoth knew [ would have answered the same way two
years ago, 10 years ago, or back in 1982 when Tom Mason and I founded the company.

It has always been that way at Airgas. We focus on making Airgas better right “Now!"—hy
winning new customers, by adapting new technology, and by getting more efficient and
effective in every aspect of our business. Airgas truly is a “Now!" kind of company. We are
mindful of our history and that of our industry, and we have looked back to learn frem our
mistakes. We also look to the future and have developed forward-thinking strategies that
have changed our industry in the past quarter-century. Yet, we spend most of our time
executing on current opportunities. We feel a sense of urgency to move forward, and we do!
That is why “Now!" is my favorite time at Airgas, and why I start this letter by telling you
what is happening right "Now!" After that, I will look back on our 25 years and highlight
those things most important to our success. 50, let's beqgin, right “Now!”

Aurgas Right Now

As T write this letter, we are preparing to complete the biggest acquisition in our history.
The addition of Linde’s U.S. packaged gas business will strengthen our core packaged gas
business with another 130 1locations in 18 states, filling out our network in the key Pittsburgh-
to-Chicago corridor, and strengthening cur presence in other important geographies in the
easternU.S.

EXPANDING PLATFORM OF LOCAL PRESENCE

With the planned acquisition of Linde’'s U.S. packaged gas busi- That's a far cry from Airgas’ first days in business 25 years ago
ness, the latest—and largest—acquisition in our histary, Airgas  when our presence was limited to a small corner of Connecticut.
will soon have more than 1,000 facilities in the U.S., plus loca- Now, we have sites in nearly every state, including Alaska

tions in Canada, Mexico, the Sakhalin fslands of Russia, and and Hawaii. This comprehensive geographic coverage means we
Dubai in the Middle East. Our locations include branches, cylin- can provide large national customers with consistent service at
der gas fill plants, specialty gas labs, air separation plants, other  all of their sites and still know the names—and meet the
production facilities, and distribution centers. needs—of our smaller local customers.

FEBRUARY 1982 DECEMBER 1583 MARCH 1984 JUNE 1985
LS. Airgas is formed and makes its first Potomac Oxygen is acquéred, creating Acquisition of three distributors ereates Two more hubs, Southeast Airgas and
acquisition of Connecticut Oxygen, with second hub Michigan Airgas, the third hub Tennessee Airgas are created

aver $3 millian in sales
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Airgas has made nearly 360 acquisitions over 25 years. Our
latest pending purchase of Linde's $346 million U.S. packaged
gas business is 100 times farger than our first acquisition of
Connecticut Oxygen, which had about $3.5 million in annual
sales. No matter the size, we {ollow a cansistent acquisition
model to ensure we get maximum value from cur additions to

the Airgas infrastructure.

First, we keep the pipeline filled with varicus types of acquisi-
tions —core, product line, and adjacencies. With many alterna-
tives, we can migrate toward the better opportunities. Next,

AUGUST 1936

Airgas completes a reverse merger with
Werco, Inc., a $E8 million manufacturer
serving 1he industrial gas industry

THE AIRGAS ACQUISITION MODEL

The acquisition also comes at a great time for Airgas as the core markets in which we
compete—industrial manufacturing, non-residential construction, and energy —continue to
run strong, which means greater demand for our gases and welding supplies.

One of the strongest sectors in our core business is non-residential construction. Because of
the actions we have taken in the past two years, we now have a national sales team working
with the largest engineering and construction firms, regional specialists in top construction
markets, and 15 construction-focused branches to meet the needs of construction jobsites.
We also have 40 Red-D-Arc welder rental locations in North America to meet the equipment
needs of contractors. Most of Red-D-Arc’s phenomenal growth last yvear was due in large
part te increased demand for rental equipment at construction projects. More construction
branches and Red-D-Arc locations are planned in the next few years to take advantage of this
long-term secular trend as America rebuilds its infrastructure.

While the industrial economy and construction markets fuel growth in cur core business, our

key strategic growth areas of bulk, medical, and specialty gases, safety products, and carbon
dioxide all continue to perform well.

Last year's acquisition of eight air separation units (ASUs) and related business from Linde
has more than doubled the size of our bulk gas sales. Airgas Merchant Gases, headed by Tom
Thoman as senior vice president, now manages preduction and gas sourcing of bulk gas for
all our regional companies. Airgas Merchant Gases is currently supervising the constructicn
of two more ASUs in Carroliton, KY and New Carlisle, IN. These ASUs, when added to the 14
others we now operate, give us a strong presence in the U.S. bulk market. We believe that
Airgas Merchant Gases will accelerate the growth of our bulk gas business.

In specialty gases, we have named the former president of Airgas East, Jim Muller, to a new
role of senior vice president for specialty gases and life sciences. He will help cur regions
tap the full potential of the industry's largest network of specialty gas facilities. Through
acquisition, innovation, and internal growth, we have created an unrivaled network with
eight national laboratories, almost 60 regional specialty gas labs, an R&D center and a
specialty gas equipment center, Qur patented AcuGrav™ specialty gas mixing stations
automate the production of specialty gas mixes, especially EPA Protocols. We also now have
proprietary technology that automates the analysis of these mixes, which has dramatically
improved our ability to deliver accurate, consistent product to customers. As a result of the

improvements we have made in our specialty gas capabilities over the last several years, this
part of our business is growing nicely.

With Airgas Puritan Medical operations in each of our regional companies, we are the
leading U.S. distributor of medical gases and related products. The convenient Walk-O,-
Bout® portable oxygen systems and strong relationships with the leading group purchasing

organizations have helped us expand our hospital business. We expect continued growth in
medical gases.

! . 1]

our due diligence$&am conducts extensive research into all
aspects—from fhi‘ancials and geographic fit to culture, people
and customers. W use conservative projections to generate
realistic cashfflow%projections to help avoid overpaying.

When an acquisiti§n is being finalized, we communicate quickly,
honestly, and freqmently with employees. Airgas has a welcom-
ing culture that vgiies new people and new ideas, and we
Ensure our new aéiﬁociates understand that. Finally, we provide
systems and procéss training to associates, so they can seam-
lessly transition thiir customers 1o Airgas.

]

DECEMBER 1986 SEPTEMBER 1987 JANUARY 1988
With sales of $100 miilion annually, Secondary publit offering of stock raises Maore Bios. is among 16 acquisitions in
Airgas makes its initial public affering %15 millton 1988; Airgas operates in 100 locations in

of stock and raises $5.5 million 22 states, doubling its footprint from a

year earlier




NOW Airgas Merchant Gases now
delivers from this air separation plant in
Madison, WI, acquired with the Linde
U.S. butk gas business.
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THEN The Stratford, CT branch was acquired in 1982 with Connecticut Oxygen.

MARCH 1989 MARCH 1990 MARCH 1991 JUNE 1991

Airgas completes 29 more acquisitions, Sales reach nearly $300 million, with 21 more acquisitions, bring the total Airgas opens its first computerized fast-fil
topping $220 million in sales, with 2,200 225 locations in 29 states and Canada 1o 111 acquisitions, now operating as plantin Mobile, Alabama

employees and 200 locations nationwide 24 hubs, with .3 million cylinders




NOW Medical gases, including
Walk-02-Bout® axygen units,
expand our product portfolio to
serve non-cyclical markets.
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MARCH 1852 NOVEMBER 1992 MARCH 1993 OCTOBER 1993

10-Year Milesionas: 129 1otal acquisitions, Airgas stock splits 2:1 for the first time Annual revenue reaches $411 million Stock splits 2:1 for a second time
$351 million in annual sa'es, 2,400 employ-

ees; a fuli-time SAFECOR organization to

unify workplace safety and a smail bulk

gas program begin




In safety, we are one of the largest U.S. distributors of safety products, with more than $438 5280 =

million in annual sales. We offer more than 30,000 safety products through field-based and 8420 <
telesales channels. Growth in this product line looks very promising as we continue to cross- $390 ; ;
sell safety products to our 1 millien customers. $360 -

Many of these strategic product lines serve non-cyclical and counter-cyclical indusiries, 5330

making us less dependent on the health of the industrial economy. We have continued to look 5300 -
for ways to expand our platform into other profitable adjacencies.

05 06 07
Salety Sales
Airgas Specialty Products, created just two years ago with the 2005 acquisition of an
industrial ammeonia business, is a leading supplier of ammonia products and services in
the U.S. for nitrogen oxide abatement (DeNOx), metal finishing, water treatment, chemical
processing, and refrigeration. This business unit also sells and distributes bulk process
chemicals and refrigerants and provides critical services to customers that use these
products. Airgas Specialty Products gives us another platform, which we intend to grow
through cross-selling and additional acquisitions.
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Cperating from a Position of Strength 5275 5
We continue to dedicate Airgas talent and resources to operational improvemenis. We now 05 06 o7
measure the fulfillment of cylinders from our fill plants to branches and by the second half of Strateyic Accounts Sales
fiscal 2007, we had reached our initial goal of 956 percent fulfillment. We continue to invest

in state-of-the-art, fast-fill cylinder plants, with several finished in the last year and more

planned for the coming year. And, we are rolling out new ultrasonic cylinder testing systems $200 — . ‘
to speed the time it takes to requalify cylinders and return them to service. 5185 _ i
We are working on improving our operations in many other areas, including delivery routing 170 -ﬁ i

and logistics to reduce miles and driving time, improved cylinder maintenance, cylinder $155 -

tracking capabilities, and automated production planning at more of our fill plants. There $140 -

are many other ways to get more production, profits, and growih out of the Airgas business $125 -

model, and we are attacking them in a disciplined way. The potential for operational 05 08 i
improvements is furiher proof that right now is always the most exciting time at Airgas. €0, & Dry lee Sales ;

25 Years of Airgas

Actually, I cannot believe it has been 25 years since the first acquisition of Connecticut
Oxygen Corporation in February 1982, It seems like only yesterday that we finished our
first fiscal year with $3.2 million in sales. And now, we are approaching $4 billion in sales
annually. It has been non-stop excitement since 1982,

Airgas is known for our nearly 360 acquisitions over the years. The Air Products and BOC
packaged gas businesses, and Linde's divested U.S. bulk gas business are three of our
largest acquisitions. We have also made product line acquisitions in medical, safety products,
welder rentals, process chemicals and carbon dioxide, and many acquisitions of independent
industrial gas and welding supply distributors.

AN EXPANDING PRODUCT PORTFOLIO

At our core, Airgas is the same company we were in 1982,
when we were delivering packaged gas and welding equipment
“to a small group of industrial companies in Connecticut. Taday,
-Airgas is stifl providing cylinders to‘some of those originat
customers—and many more comqanies just like them. Yet,
through the years, we have expanded into product adjacencies

- that satisfy the needs of more than one million customers in

various marketl segments.

: i .
Woe have medical gases for hospitals and homecare businesses,
and precisely formulated specialty ‘gases for biotech businesses

MARCH 1994

Sates 10p $500 million with 164 tp1al
acquisitions. "We can see a world-class
distribution company with $1 billian in
sales in four years,” Pater McCausland
writes in his Letter 1o Shareholders

JUNE 1995

Company expands product list with
purchase of Red-D-Arc welder rental
operation, one of 42 acquisitions in
fiscal 1996

and university labs. Construction companies rent our Red{D-Arc
welding machines, and food companies buy liquid niirogen and
carbon dioxide for food freezing and dry ice for foed distribu-
tion. In the 1990s, we added safety products and liquid carbon
dioxide to our preduct portfolio, and in the last few years, we
began providing industrial ammonia, process chemicals and
refrigerants for energy, chemical processing, water treatment
and cooling applications. Step by step, we continue to add
strategic grow1h businesses that surround and support our
core industrial gas product line and help bring Airgas into more
customer sites each day. ‘

APRIL 1996

Airgas acquires IPCO Safety, a $55 miflion
safety products distributar; stock splits
2:1 for a third time

JUNE 1936
Airgas enters into National Welders
Supply joint venture with Turner family



Many of our best people and best practices have come from the companies we have acquired.
Everycne at Airgas has an acquisition story to tell. Thankfully, most of the stories are good
ones, because we have bheen disciplined on price and have resisted assuming liabilities.
We have always welcomed employees from acquisitions and have been open 10 new ideas.
Airgas has earned its reputation for successfully acquiring and integrating companies.

We have also become a strong operating company with a lot of hard work and discipline
through the years. In 1998, we embarked on the Repositioning for Growth strategy to
strengthen our operating culture and build an infrastructure that would support growth.
Looking back at the 1998-2002 period, that was the most challenging chapter in our history,
made even more difficult by a weak U.S. industrial economy and the dot.com lunacy on Wall
Street. While we took the long view by pursuing a consistent strategy and building the
infrastructure we needed to grow, we watched our stock price drop from the $20s to below
$5. We even attracted an “activist” investor, who filed a shareholder proposat challenging
our strategic direction.

When the dust settled, Airgas had outperformed almost every chemical and distribution
company during that period. Moreover, the Airgas strategies to pursue above-market growth
to non-cyclical customers and to be the low-cost supplier turned out to be exactly what Airgas
needed. We have proven that it pays to take the long view by developing long-term strategies
and sticking to them until we win.

There are many examples of forward-looking strategies that have rewarded us, including
core and product-line acquisition strategies. Our Airgas Direct Industrial {ADI) strategy
included work to rationalize our product offerings through a brand strategy for hardgoods
and safety products, including our Radnor® private-label program; a network of large regional
distribution centers; purchasing centers; and demand-planning software to manage the
hardgoods supply chain. Other winning strategies included a Strategic Accounts approach
to large, multi-site customers, adding product specialists for our strategic growth products,
and our Core Strategy to reinvigorate our focus on small- to medium-sized customers served
by our branches.

We have learned a lot over these 25 years.

e« QOperating sirategies must change as conditions in the economy, the customer base,
technology and competition change. But having a consistent organizational structure,
compensation philosophy and financial analysis methodology is very important because
it provides the framework within which to develop and execute new operating strategies.

o Alignment of operating strategies, metrics, and compensation from the bottom to the top
of the organization is very important and requires constant attention.

= Doing the right thing and the hest thing for the long haul are usually the same thing.
Sticking to these guiding principles has served our associates, our customers and our
shareholders very well.

STICKING TO OUR STRATEGY

The Airgas strategy has evolved over the years, but we have entrepreneurial spirit and a shared Airgas culture, market condi-
never deviated far frem our original vision of combining a nation-  tions and balance sheet considerations can tempt you to tinker
al footprint with local hands-on management. It's a strategy with the formula and lead you to tip too far to one side or the
that gives us the best of both worlds, combining the strength of  other. At Airgas, we've managed to find the right balance and
national resources with the agility of local entrepreneurship. proved that it is possible t0 be big and smali at the same time,

By following this blueprint, Airgas has become the leader
in packaged gas in the United States. It hasn't always been

In fact, it's the only sirategy for success in our industry, where
all service is local.

easy. When you walk the line hetween cultivating a strong

MARCH 1997
Airgas celebrates 15th year, by topping
$1 billion in sales, a year ahead of its goal

JUNE 1547 JULY 1997 JANUARY 1998

Cartonic Industries is acquired a few Lyons is acquired and added to the Airgas launches Repositioning for Growth
months after American Dry Ice, forming safety business to strengthen pperating culture and
Airgas Carbonic; first Airgas Emergency support growth in key strategic products

Response Organization (AEAD) team is
formed in Houston
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SEPTEMBER 1999 JANUARY 2000

Airgas streamlines operations from Airgas acquires Puritan Medical Products
42 hubs to eventually 12 regional medical gas operations

companies

A

MAY 2001
Airgas sets strategic goals of $2 billion in

sales and 10% operating margin by end
of 2005

L - 3 3 f' 1 ; Y F ¢ 3 ." \
NOW Qur long-term strategy has given
; investors a remarkable 20% annual

[ compounded return for 20 years on the
New York Stock Exchange.

o

OCTOBER 2001 |
Air Liquide exits retail packaged gases busingss |
in the U.S., selling Airgas seven retail locations

in Arizona and California while agreeing to

purchase two nitrous oxide piants from Airgas;

Airgas retains four other nitrous oxide plants ‘



NOW Airgas branches are fully
stocked and staffed by product experts,
like Harrisburg, PA branch assaciate
Tom Ballos.

THE AIRGAS BRANCH

Airgas branches are the "face” of our company-—where
customers come to buy welding hardgoods and safety supplies
and where drivers load up their trucks with gas cylinders for
their daily delivery routes. In 25 years, we have grown from a
few branches in Connecticut to mere than 700 retail locations
across the U.S., in western Canada, and in Mexico.

The interior of the stores has evolved as well. tn the early days,
most Airgas branches were little more than warehouses with
cash registers. Today, they are run like retail stores, staffed
with product experis. Shelves are siocked with the most

MARCH 2002

20-Year Milestones: 309 acquisitions,
800 locations, 5 million cylinders, 8,500
associates and $1.64 billion in revenues

FEBRUARY 2002

Airgas acquires Air Products’ U.5. pack-
aged gas business with $223 milion in
annual revenues

commonly needed items that cusiomers expect to find with

us. Cylinder inventory on the loading dock is kept up to date
through auiomated software. Branch personnel take gases and
welding classes so they can better answer customer gquestions.
And, they are constantly introducing creative store displays

and events—like open houses and on-site safety demonstra-
tions — that make their stores more customer-friendly. In a new
breed of construction branches — 15 and counting—we stock
everything the jobsite requires and staff the branches with
construction speciglists.

MAY 2003

MARCH 2003 .
Board initiates quarterly dividend

Airgas acquires 14 branches in Florida,
Georgia and California érom Union Indus-
trial Gas Group




» Winning in the distribution business is about getting on base, not hitting home runs. Our
people win with walks, broken-bat singles, doubles down the line. We have folks who will
even lean over the plate and get hit by a pitch, if that is what it takes. We have waiched a
lot of companies in our industry, some with far greater resources than Airgas, swing for
the fences and strike out,

» A healthy organization is one that empowers its associates, giving them autonomy and
responsibility. Our associates don't mind being held accountable for results because they
know they can make it happen.

= Front-line associates in sales and operations generally know what's best because they are
closest to the customer, We actively seek their ideas.

» Most people want to grow personally and professionally. It is management’s job to
create an environment where that can happen—one in which everyone feels respected,
supported, and free 1o speak their minds.

A Great Company Built by Great People

Airgas’ success really does come down to people. The ‘Old Guard' shareholders who were
arcund before we went public were very supportive. Names like McClain, Kirk, Lewis,
Harrison, Smith, Kessler, Turner, Sult, and Perkins come to mind. In addition, there have
been a number of executives who played very important roles in the development of Airgas,
including, Tom Mason, Ken Keeley, Merrill Stott, Hermann Knieling, Pat Baker, Bill Rice, Al
Crichton, Jerry Baker, Ron Scott, and Gordon Keen. We will never forget people like John
Musselman and Scott Melman, who have left their mark on our company and our hearts.
Also, the Airgas Board of Directors has been very helpful along the way.

I feel honored that those people were part of our history, and 1 am confident that our company
can live up to their legacy because of the great asscciates who are with us —right now.

People like Kathy Helmberger and Buzz Larson, who led their branches in Corpus Christi,
Texas, and Faribault, Minnesota, respectively, to outstanding sales and safety results and
earned our 2006 National Branch of the Year awards. I was delighted to share the podium
at the New York Stock Exchange with these and other Airgas associates as we celebrated
our 20th year as a public company on December 19, 2006. Airgas associates are proud
to have generated a remarkable 20 percent annual compounded return to our sharehoiders
for 20 years!

We have the best people in the industry. That has always been an unheralded strength of
this company. Right now, we are planning to welcome another 1,400 new associates when
the Linde packaged gas acquisition closes.

We also have added new faces to our board of directors and leadership ranks. In October
2006, John van Roden joined the Board. John is the former chief financial officer of P.H.
Glatfelter Company and served in the same capacity for leading companies in Lthe public

NOVEMBER 2003 MARCH 2004 JULY 2004

Airgas dedicates its new figuid C0; and Airgas integrates Airgas Puritan Medical Airgas acquires BOC's LS. packaged gas

dry ice plant in Hopewell, Virginia into the regional companies and announces business, with annual revenues of $240
the Core Business strategy to refecus million, adding 120 locations in 21 states
attention on small- and medium-sized including Hawaii

industrial customers

NOVEMBER 2004

New long-range goals set to reach $3
billien in sales. 10-11% cperating margin,
and 11-12% return on capital by end of
fiscal 2008

11
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MARCH 2005

Fiscal 2005 resulis surpass $2.4 billion as
BQC and 14 ather transactions bring total
to 334 acguisitions
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utility and steel industries. Also in October 2006, we promoted Bob McLaughlin from
company controller to chief financial officer. We will benefit from his strong leadership skills
and his focus on alignment of operating strategies and key financial metrics, standardization
and operational discipline.

Airgas has been a wonderful and rewarding personal and professtonal experience for me
over the last 25 years. Although I have made my share of mistakes, I think I have learned
te recognize them and correct them quickly. I also have learned to rely on my instincts and
to recognize instinctive feelings in my experienced and thoughtful colleagues. Instinctive
feelings are often subject to attack because they are not fact-based and do not always sound
official or professional when explained, but they are often right on the mark.

I am proud of our asscciates and of the company we've built together. Over the past 25 years,
we have created a remarkable history. Yet, we believe we are making history every day.
With the associates and rescurces we have right now, focused on the opportunities before us
right now, with the passion for succeeding right now, we are confident that we will continue
making history in the years ahead.

On behalf of all Airgas associates,  want to thank you for your continued support.

Yours very truly,

Peter McCausland
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

June 4, 2007
- ’ N o - . » ."
. - R KX
THEN Early innvations, like dynamic blending in Cheshire, CT, helped produce specialty gas mixtures.

JUNE 2005 NOVEMBER 2005 FEBRUARY 2006
Airgas acquires LaRocha ammonia Airgas opens first branch geared to con- Twao Airgas Choppers, designed and built
distribution business and forms Airgas struction contractors; increases long-lerm by Orange County Choppers, begin te tour
Specialty Products; Gitlette, WY and sales goal to $3.3 billion by end of FY08 Airgas branches and help raise mere than
Keokuk, |A named first National Branch of $220,000 for the Cystic Fibrosis Founda-
the Ygar trophy winners tion in first yaar




THE SPIRIT TO EXCEL

One thing that has never changed at Airgas is its entrepreneur-
ial spirit. This company was founded and shaped by enterpris-
ing people who saw an opportunity in America’s packaged gas
industry—and then grabbed it. Today, that same can-do atti-
tude drives our associates as we strive to win new business,
invent new i{echnologies, deliver better service, and take Airgas
to places we could not even dream of before.

MARCH 2007

Airgas purchases divested Linde bulk
husiness. forming Airgas Merchant Gases.
and then ends month by announcing plans
to acquire Linde's U.S. packaged gas busi-
ness, its largesi acquisition ever

DECEMBER 2006

Airgas rings Closing Bell 10 celebrate

i15 20% compounded annual rewirn (o
shareholders for 20 years on the New York
Stock Exchange

NOW Airgas assaciates take Cutting
& Welding classes so they can better
undersiand and meet cusipmer needs.

In 25 years, our company has experienced 1,000-fold growth
and estabtished itself as the industry leader in packaged gas
and hardgoods. This type of trajectory can be traced back to our
business sirategy, but it definitely doesn't happen without the
efforts of Airgas entrepraneurs at all levels of the company whao
are always looking for a better way and simply refuse to 1ose.
For Airgas associates, the most exciting moment is always right
now because they know they have a chance to make a differ-
ence as we build our future for the next 25 years,

APRIL 2007

25-Year Milestones: Fiscal 2007 ends with
£3.2 biltion in sales, mere than 11,500
associates working in more than 900
locations




INDUSTRIAL GASES:

More than 7 million cylinders supparting our custemers’
needs

Approximately 300 high-pressure cylinder fill plants

20 acetylene manufacturing {acilities

National supplier of shielding gases

Gas applications specialists with in-depth experience in
diverse industries

Leading manufacturer of liquid carbon dioxide in the
Southeast

Leading U.S. manufacturer of nitrous oxide

BULK GASES:

Focus on production and distribution of merchant volumes,
providing a complete line of bulk gases, storage tanks,
related equipment and logistics capabilities

14 air separation units to supply our distribution infrastructure
and independent bulk customers

Over 60 bulk gas specialists
Application engineers providing gas application expertise
across multiple industries

Equipment design engineers with in-depth knowledge
of customer storage, supply systems, and application
equipment

Over 10,300 bulk tanks

New business unit— Airgas Merchant Gases

SPECIALTY GASES:

Largest U.S. specialty gas network, including 8 national
specialty gas facilities, almost 60 regional labs, 1 research
and development center and 1 equipment center

Two-thirds of these specialiy gas labs are 1SO 9000 certified,
and 3 are also I1ISO 17025 certified

Products include research-grade, ultra-high purity, and
specialty-blend gases, including gases for diving operations

Applications in research, biotechnology, calibration, and
emission moniioring

Supplier of related specialty gases equipment

—— ——— s -

SPECIALTY PRODUCTS: o

Leading supplier of ammonia products and services in the
U.S. for nitrogen oxide abatement {DeNOx), metal finishing,
water treatment, chemical processing, and refrigeration
Supplier of a full range of refrigerant products and services,
including reclamation and reuse of refrigerant gases

Cther products include process chemical gases

. CYLINDER ANO SMALL-BULK GASES INCLUDE:

Ailrgas at a glance

MEDICAL GASES:

The leading U.S. distributor of medical gases and related
products through Airgas Puritan Medical divisions in every
region

More than 200 medical gas fili plants, including over 30
medical-only facilities, and distribution capabilities in more
than 700 locations nationwide

Offering a full range of medical gases for respiratory therapy

in liguid and compressed gas forms, medical gas equipment,
home respiratory therapy equipment, and related supplies

Serving hospitals, medical institutions, home healthcare
distributors, physicians’ practices, original medical equipment
manufacturers, and other medical businesses

Providing FDA comgpliant medical bulk gas systems,
installation and maintenance

Nitrogen « Oxygen
Argaon +  Helium
Hydrogen » Acetylene
Fuel gases = Nitrous oxide

Carbon dioxide

DRY ICE: S
Leading U.S. producer of dry ice for customers in food
processing, food service, pharmaceutical, and biotech
industries

Largest wholesale distributor of dry ice to grocery and other
retail outlets nationwide

RED-D-ARC: . __
Largest provider of welding and welding-related rental
products and services in North America

Offering a full range of rental welding and positioning
equipment for a variety of processes and applications as well
as expert product and process selection assistance

Availabie through 40 Red-D-Arc Service Centers and in Airgas
Construction Stores
Products include generators, welders, welding positioners

and specialty welding-related equipment such as pipe
bevellers, elecirode ovens, and plasma cutters




The largest U.S. distributor of packaged gases and
welding hardgoods in a $10+ hillion market.

Airgas has more than 20%, while
tndependents have mare than half
of the U.S. market.

NOR PAC
NCN

INTERMOUNTAIN

UTILITIES 2%

Serving a broad customer base...

TRANSPORTATION 2%

OTHER 3%

ANALYTICAL 3%

\

PETRQLEUM B CHEMICALS 6%

RETAIL AND WHOLESALE 5%

INDUSTRIAL MANUFACTURING 29%

FOOD PRODUCTS 6%

AEPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 26%

MEDICAL 7%

CONSTRUCTION 12%

WEST
WEST {GASPRO

WELDING HARDGOODS:

AIRGAS...

Known locally nationwide, with more than 900 locations.

EAST

NORTH CENTRAL

GREAT LAKES

M!ID AMERICA

NATIONAL WELDERS JV

MID SOUTH

GLLF STATES

SOUTHWEST

*  Sales of welding hardgeods, tools, and abrasives approaching -

$1 billion

*  Six distribution centers streamline the supply chain to Airgas

branches and customers

+ Major distributor for leading welding hardgoods brands, with

national buying power

» Radnor® private-label products in welding hardgoods and
safety products, generating about $128 million in annual

sales

SAFETY PRODUCTS:

= One of the largest U.S. distributore of safety praducts with

about $438 million in annual sales

*  Major distributor of leading brands of personal protective

equipment and products, including head protection, eyewear,

footwear, respiratory protection, environmental protection,

and work safety products

+  Distributing more than 30,000 products, all with same-day

shipping, through branch and retail sales, as well as catalog,

eBusiness and telesales channels

+ 250 safety professionals integrated with our naticnal network

to meet all our customers’ safety needs

SOUTH

CONSTRUCTION & MRO SUPPLIES AND SERVICES:

Full line of supplies for construction and maintenance/frepair
operations (MRO)} including industrial gases, shielding and
cutting gases, welding filler metals, power tools, rental
welders, workwear, head-to-toe protection and emergency
response supplies

Construction specialists with national experience in supplying
a wide range of projects from 1,000-mile natural gas
pipelines to 60,000-seat stadiums

With special services including supply chain strategies,
certified welding inspectors, and welding process specialists

OUTLOOK® SERVICES:

Tallered programs to help customers manage supply chain for
gases, equipment and safety products

Services include site survey and assessmeni, transition
management, total gas management, onsite managerment of
gas, equipment and supplies

Substantially reduces total cost of ownership for customers




MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (FROM RIGHT TO LEFT}

Peter McCausland / Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Robert A. Dougherty / Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer
Laslie J. Graff / Senior Vice President, Corporate Development

Robert M. McLaughlin / Senior Vice President and Chief Financiat Officer
Dwight T. Wilson / Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Michael L. Molinini / Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer

AIRGAS OPERATING COMPANIES AND PRESIDENTS

Airgas East
Frederick E. Manley

Airgas Great Lakes
Michael J. Ziegler

Airgas Gulf States
Henry B. (Rusty) Coher I

Airgas Intermountain
Douglas L. Jones

Airgas Mid America
J. Robart Hilliard

Airgas Mid South
D. Mike Duvall

Airgas Nor Pac
Dan L. Tatro

Airgas North Central
Ronald J. Stark

Airgas Northern California & Nevada

James D. McCarthy

Airgas South
L. Jay Sullivan

Airgas Southwest
J. Brent Sparks

Airgas West/Gaspro
Glen E. Irving

Airgas Carbonic/Dry Ice
Philip J. Filer

Airgas Safety
Donald S. Carlino, Jr.

Airgas Specialty Products
Charles E. Broadus, Jr.

Red-D-Arc
Miteh M. Imielinski

CORPORATE OFFICERS
[

+ Max D. Hooper
‘ ' Division President, West

‘ 1 B. Shaun Powers
Division President, East

" Ted R. Schulte
- Division President, Gas Operations

Kelly P. Justice
Senior Vice President, Airgas Puritan Medical

James A. Muller
Senior Vice President, Specialty Gas and
Life Sciences

Michael E. Rohde
Senior Vice President, Distribution Operations

Thomas S. Thoman
Seniar Vice President, Airgas Merchant Gases

| Patrick M. Visintainer
Senior Vice President, Sales

| Dean A. Bertolino
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Todd R. Craun
Vice President, Associate General Counsel

| James S. Ely
Vice President, Communications

David E. Levin
Vice President, Hardgoods

Thomas M. Smyth
Vice President, Controller

Joseph C. Sullivan
Vice President, Treasurer

Caray M. Verger
Vice President, Directar of Tax

E. David Coyne
Director, Internal Audit
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Financial Highlights

Airgas, Inc and Subsidianies

Net Sales Diluted Earnings Per Share Free Cash Flow™ Return on Capital™®
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{1} Dehn:tions of and tecanchavions between Lhese financial metncs and their most comparable measu-e under Generally Accepted Accounting Prinoples (“GAAP ) sre presented on pages 70 and 71

(2) Ceriain gamns and charges highlsghied in this arnual repart under “Selected Finangial Data™ and *Management’s Discussion and Analysis” have been excluded from the compuiation of Return on



Selected financial date for the Contpany are presented in the table below and
shenld be read in conjrorction with Management’s Discussion and Amalysis and thy

Company’s Consolidased Financial Statements and notes thereto iictuded herein,

Airgas, Inc.

4 4

thi thonsinds, except per siare amounis):
Years Ended March 31, 2007 200612 20059 2004 2003 1"
Operating Results
Net sales $ 3,205,051t $ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782 $ 1,855,360 $ 1,745,891
Depreciation and amortization 147,343 127,542 111078 87,447 79,279
Special charges (recoveries), net — — — (776} 2,694
Operating income 347,452 268,758 202,454 168,544 156,336
nterest expense, net 60,180 53,812 51,245 42,357 46,374
Discount on securitization of trade recervables 13,630 G371 4,711 3,264 3,326
L0ss on debt extinguishment 12,089 — — — —
Other income, net 1,601 2,462 1,129 1,472 FREY:
ncome [axes 99,883 77,866 54,261 47,659 41,571
Minority interest in earnings of

consolidated affilate (2,845) {2,656) {1,808) {452) —
-qurty in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate — — — 4,365 2,684
ncome from continuing aperations 154,416 127,515 91,558 80,649 69,881
ncome (loss) from discontinued operations,

net of tax — (1,424} 464 {457) (1,776)
_umulative effect of a change in accounting

principle, net of tax — {2,540) — — —
{et earnings % 154,416 $ 123,551 $ 92,022 5 80,192 § 68,105
Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share
3asic

Earnings from continuing operations 3 1.98 $ 1.66 $ 1.22 3 1.11 $ 0.99

Earnings {loss) from discontinued operations — (0.02) 0.01 {00h {0.02)

Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle — 0.03} — — —

Net earnings per share $ 198 3 1.61 _ $ 1.23 ) 1.10 $ _0.97
Siluted

Earnings from conunuing operations $ 1.92 $ 1.62 $ 1.19 $ 1.08 % 0.96

Earnings (loss} from discontinued operations — (0.02) 0.01 {0.01) (0.02)

Cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle — (0.03) — — —

Net earnings per share $ 192 $ 157 3 120 % 1.07 4 094
wwidends per common share

declared and paid (6} $ 0.28 $ 024 3 o.ig % 0.16 $ -
Jalance Sheet Data at March 31:
Vorking capital $ 121,543 $  (17,138) £ 132,968 $ 88,826 3 66,027
otal assets 3,333,457 2,474 412 2,291,863 1,960,606 1,726,004
urrent portion of long-term debt 40,296 131,907 6,048 5,140 2,229
ong-term debt 1,308,719 635,726 801,635 682,698 658,031
eferred income 1ax liability, net 373,246 327818 282,186 753,529 207,069
sther non-current habilities 35,963 30,864 24,391 28,756 EERLY)
Ainonty interest in affilate 57,191 57,191 36,191 36,191 —
tockholders’ equity 1,125,382 947,159 814,172 691,901 596,933
apital expenditures for years ended March 31, 243,583 214,193 167,977 93,749 67,969
) As discussed in Management's Discussion and Analysis and in the notes 1o the Company’s  (4) The results for fiscal 2004 nelude a fourth quarter special charge recavery of $776 thousand (348

Consolidated Financial Statements, the resubts for fiscal 2007 include stock-based compensatien
expense of $15.4 millien ($10 9 million after tax), or S0 13 per diluted share, due to adopting
Financial Accaunting Standard No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, utilizing the modified prospective
method Mo stock-based compensation expense was reflected in prior periods. Fiscal 2007 resuits
also include a charge of $12.1 million {37 9 million after 1ax), or approximately $0.10 per diluted
share, for the early extinguishment of debt and a ane-time tax benefit of $0.02 per diluted share
related to a change in the stale income tax law in Texas

As discussed in Management’s Discussion and Analysis and in the notes te the Company's
Consolidaled Financial Statements, the resufts for fiscal 2006 include an after-tax charge of $2 5
millian 35 a result of the adoguion of Financial Accounting Standards Board interpretatien No. 47,
Acceunting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of FASE Statement No.
143, which was recorded s & cumulative effect of & change 1n accounting principle, an after-tax
foss of $1.9 million on the divestiture of Rutland Tool, which was reported as a discontinued aper-
aton, and an estimated loss of $2.2 million ($1.4 million after tax) related to humicanes Katrina
and Rita, Working capital decreased in fiscal 2006 compared to 2005 primarily due to an increase
in the current portion of long-term debt

As discussed 1n Management's Discussion and Analysis and in the notes to the Company's
Consolidated Financial Statements, the results for fiscal 2005 include integration costs refated (o
the acquisition of the 1.5, packaged gas business of The BOC Group, Inc and emplovee separation
costs of $6 4 millien ($4 million after tax). Fiscal 2005 also reflected a full year of National Weldars
as a consolidated affiliate See Note 15 1o the Consclidated Financial Statements for the effect of
the consohdation of National Welders on the Consolidated Financia! Statements.

(6

thousand after 1ax) reflecting lower esumates of the ullimate cost of prior years' restructunn
activities. Fiscal 2004 results also include the fourth quarter cansolidation of the National Welder
joint venture in accordance with Fimancial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 46R)
Consolidation of Vanable interest Enifties, (“FIN 46R™} Prior 1o the adaption of FIN 46R, th
Company used the Equity Method of Accounung for its investment i Mational Welders)
Accordingly, the consohdation of National Welders under FIN 46R did nat have an impact on thel
Company's pet earmings,

The results for fiscal 2003 indude speval charges of $2 7 mitlien ($2.1 million after tax) cansisting
of a restruciuning charge related 1o the ntegration of the business acquired from Air Products &
Chemicals, Inc.

During fiscal 2007, 2006, 2005 and 2004, the Company paid its stockholders regular guarterhy
cash dividends of 50.07, $0.06, 50.045 and $0.04 per share, respectvely. in addition, on May 8,
2007, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a reqular quarterly cash dividead of $0.09 per
share payable June 29, 2007 to stockhalders of record 25 of June 15, 2007 Future dividend decla-
rations and associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company's earnings, financial
condition, loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by management
and the Company's Board of Directors.

Certan reclassifications have heen made to prior period financial statements to conform 1o the cur-
rent presentation The reclassifications reflect the presentation of Rutland Tool as discontinued
operations.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Results of Operations: 2007 Compared to 2006

Overview

Airgas, Inc, (the “Company”) had net sales for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2007 (“fiscal 2007" or “current year”} of $3.20
billion compared to $2.83 billion for the fiscal year ended March
31, 2006 (“fiscal 2006” or “prior year™). Net sales increased by 13%
driven by strong same-store sales growth and the impact of
acquisitions. Same-store sales growth contributed 8% to the
increase in total sales. Same-store sales growth was driven equally
by pricing initiatives and higher sales volumes. Price increases
were initiated in response to rising product, operating and
distribution costs. Higher sales volumes resulted from the
continued strength of the industrial economy, the non-residential
construction environment, and the continued success of the
Company’s growth initiatives. Acquisitions continue to be an
important component of the Company’s growth contributing 5%
to the overall increase in net sales. Operating income margin
expanded 120 basis points in the current year to 10,7% compared
0 9.5% in the prior year reflecting continued operating leverage.
Solid sates growth and operating expense discipline resulted in
income from continuing operations of $154.4 million or $1.92 per
diluted share, compared to $127.5 million, or $1.62 per diluted
share in fiscal 2006.

Accounting Change

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, Share-Based Payment,
(“SFAS 123R") using the modified prospective method. The new
standard requires the Company to estimate the value of stock
options issued to employees, including options to purchase shares
under its Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and recognize stock-
based compensation expense over the period in which the options
vest. Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company used the
intrinsic value method vutlined in Accounting Principles Board
Opinion Ne. 25 to account for stock-based compensation, For the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2007, the Company recognized stock-
based compensation expense of $15.4 millien ($10.9 million after
tax) or $0.13 per diluted share. Since the Company adopted

SFAS 123R using the modified prospective method, no stock-
based compensation expense was reflected in earnings prior 1o
April 1, 2006.

Financing

Effective July 25, 2006, the Company amended and restated its
senior credit facility with a syndicate of lenders. Subject to
compliance with certain covenants, the $1.6 billion senior
unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility™) permits the
Company to berrow up to $966 million under a U.S, dollar
revolving credit line, up to C$40 million (U.S. $34 million) under
a Canadian dollar revolving credit line and up to $600 million
under two or more term loans. The Company used borrowings
under the term loan provision of the Credit Facility to finance the
$100 million maturity of its 7.75% medium-term notes on

Airgas, Inc. BIITY

September 15, 2006 and the remaining $500 million for the Linde
bulk gas acquisition that closed on March 9, 2007. The Credit
Facility matures on July 25, 2011.

On Qctober 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated notes due QOctober 1, 2011 (the
“Notes™) at a premium of 104.563% of the principal amount with
borrowing under the Company’s Credit Facility. In ¢conjunction
with the redemption of the Notes, the Company recognized a
charge on the early extingwishment of debt of $12.1 million ($7.9
million after tax}, or approximately $0.10 per diluted share. The
charge related 1o the redemption premium and the write-off of
unamortized debt issuance costs.

Acquisitions

During fiscal 2007, the Company completed 13 acquisitions with
combined annual sales of approximately $336 million. These
acquisitions include the September 2006 purchase of Houston,
Texas-based Aeriform Corporation, a distributor of industrial
gases and related hardgoods. Aeriform, with 29 locations and 240
employees in Texas, Louisiana, Oklshoma and Kansas, generated
annual revenue of $65 million. In November 2006, the Company
purchased the Union Industrial Gas Group, a distributor of
industrial gases and related hardgoods. The Union Industrial Gas
Group, with 14 locations and 100 employees in New Mexico, Texas
and Louisiana, had annual revenue of $38 million. In January
2007, the Company purchased CFC Refimax, a leading full-service
refrigerant supplier and reclamation company, CEC Refimax,
based in Atlanta, Georgia with 50 employees, generated annual
revenue of $19 million. In March 2007, the Company acquired
Linde's divested U.S. bulk gas assets. The Linde bulk gas business,
consisting of eight air separation units (ASUs) and 300 employees,
produced annual revenue of $176 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006.

With the acquisition of the Linde bulk gas business, the Company
formed a new business unit, Airgas Merchant Gases, to manage
production, distribution and administrative functions for seven of
the air separation plants. One air separation plant and its aligned
sales was transferred to the Company’s National Welders joint
venture, [n connection with the transaction, most of the acquired
bulk gas customers and related service equipment were transferred
to existing Distribution business units. Airgas Merchant Gases
principally operates as an internal supplier of bulk oxygen,
nitrogen and argon to the business units in the Distribution
business segment.

Pending Acquisition

On March 29, 2007, the Company announced a definitive
agreement to acquire, for $310 million in cash, a significant part of
the U.S. packaged gas business of Linde AG. The operations to be
acquired include branches, warehouses, packaged gas fill plants,
and other operations involved in distributing packaged industrial
and specialty gases and related hardgoods. The business includes
130 locations in 18 states, with more than 1,400 employees, which
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis continued

Adrgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

generated $346 million in revenues in the year ended December
31, 2006. Approximately 50 percent of the revenue was from gas
sales and cylinder rent, with the remainder from sales of welding
equipment and supplies. The acquisition will be financed under
the Company’s Credit Facility.

tooking Forward

The Company anticipates that fiscal 2008 will be another
productive year. The Company expects further expansion of the
industrial economy during fiscal 2008 and estimates fiscal 2008 net
earnings to be between $2.33 to $2.41 per diluted share. For the
first quarter of fiscal 2008, the Company estimates that it will earn
between $0.52 to $0.54 per diluted share. The estimate of fiscal
2008 net earnings anticipates a supportive sales environment and
continued success of pricing actions designed to offset rising costs.
The annual earnings guidance does not reflect anticipated earnings
from the pending acquisition of Linde’s U.S. packaged gas
business. In accordance with the Company's standard practice, the
earnings guidance, noted above, does not reflect any impact from
acquisitions that have not closed at the time the guidance is issued.
However, the acquired Linde business, net of integration costs, is
expected to be slightly accretive in the first twelve months of
operation.

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 13% in fiscal 2007 compared to fiscal 2006
driven by strong same-store sales growth of 8% and acquisition
growth of 5%. Same-store sales growth reflected pricing initiatives,
velume growth, and strategic product sales gains, driven by the
continued strength of the industrial production, energy and non-
residential construction markets served by the Company. The
Company estimates same-store sales based on a comparison of
current period sales to prior period sales, adjusted for acquisitions
and divestitures. The pro-forma adjustments consist of adding
acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested operations from,
sales reported in the prior period. The table below reflects actual
sales and does not include the pro-forma adjustments used in
calculating the same-store sales metric. The intercompany
eliminations represent sales from All Other Operations 1o the
Distribution segment.

{In thousands) 2007 2006 Increase
Distribution '$ 2,691,814 § 2,395,938 § 295,876 12%
All Other Operations. 579,671 493,430 86,241 17%
Intercompany
eliminations {66,434} (59,758) (6,676}
'$ 3,205,057 % 2,829610 $ 375,441 13%

The Distribution segment’s principal products include industrial,
medical and specialty gases; cylinder and equipment rental; and
hardgoods. Industrial, medical and specialty gases are distributed
in cylinders and bulk containers. Equipment rental fees are
generally charged on cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers, bulk
and micro-bulk tanks, tube trailers and welding equipment.
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Hardgoods consist of welding consumables and equipment, safety
products, and maintenance, repair and operating (“MRO")
supplies.

Distribution segment sales increased 12% compared to the prior
year driven by same-store sales growth of $200 million (8%) and
sales contributed by both current and pricr year acquisitions of
$96 million (4%). The increase in Distribution same-store sales
resulted from higher hardgoods sales of $§82 million (8%) and gas
and rent sales growth of $105 million (8%). Broad demand from
industrial, energy infrastructure and non-residential construction
sectors helped the Company’s core gas and welding hardgeods
business. Several of the Company’s business units reported
double-digit growth. Sales growth was also driven by double-digit
growth of strategic products sales. Strategic products are identified
by the Company as those expected to grow at a faster rate than the
overall industrial economy and include safety products, medical,
specialty, and bulk gases, as well as carbon dioxide products, such
as dry ice. Accordingly, the Company has initiatives focused on
promoting these products. Approximately 75% of the Distribution
segment’s $96 million sales growth contributed by acquisitions was
the result of current year acquisitions. Current year acquisitions
attributable to the Distribution segment historically generated
annual revenue of approximately $300 million. The largest of the
current year acquisitions closed in the second half of the fiscal
year, with the Linde bulk gas acquisition clesing in March 2007.
Fiscal 2007 acquisitions are expected to contribute more than $200
million to the Distribution segment’s sales growth in fiscal 2008,
Additionally as noted in the overview section, the pending
acquisition of a significant part of the U.S. packaged gas business
of Linde, with annual revenues of $346 million, approximately $50
million of which will be acquired by the Company’s joint venture
National Welders (which is accounted for in the All Other
Operations segment), should also be a significant contributor to
fiscal 2008 sales growth.

The Distribution segment’s gas and rent same-store sales of 8%
reflects both price increases and volume growth. The impact of
price increases reflects pricing actions implemented in June 2006
and November 2005. Sales of industrial gases during the current
year remained strong reflecting demand from the Company’s core
industrial markets. Sales of strategic gas products increased 11% in
the current year driven by bulk, medical and specialty gas sales
gains. Bulk gas sales volumes were up related to growth in micro-
bulk and the signing of new bulk customer contracts. Medical gas
sales growth was attributable to higher demand from the hospital
sector as well as success of the Walk-O,-Bout® medical cylinder
program. Rental revenues benefited from the Company’s rental
welder business that generated 33% same-store sales growth in the
current year. The rebuilding effort in the Gulf Coast area, power
plant construction projects and the strong non-residential
construction market contributed to the increase in demand for
welding machines, gases and consumables.
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Hardgoods same-store sales growth reflects continued volume and
pricing gains. The Company’s successful Radnor® private label
brand of products generated sales growth of 11% in the current
year, reaching a total of $128 million. Same-store sales of safety
products increased 10% reflecting the success of the telemarketing
operations (telesales) and effective cross-selling of safety products
to new and existing customers.

The All Other Operations segment consists of the Company's Gas
Operations Division, Airgas Merchant Gases and the National
Welders joint venture. The Gas Operations Division produces and
distributes certain gas products, principally carbon dioxide, dry
ice, nitrous oxide, specialty gases, anhydrous ammonia and related
supplies, services and equipment. Airgas Merchant Gases was
formed with the acquisition of the Linde bulk gas business to
manage production, distribution and administrative functions for
the acquired air separation plants. National Welders is a producer
and distributor of industrial, medical and specialty gases and
hardgoeds based in Charlotte, North Carolina. All Other
Operations’ sales increased $86 million (17%) compared to the
prior year resulting from same-store sales growth and acquisitions.
Same-store sales growth of 8% was driven by continued sales gains
of National Welders and growth in carbon dioxide products. Sales
of dry ice and liquid carbon dioxide were strong contributors to
sales growth in the current year reflecting success in the food pro-
cessing and industrial carbon dioxide markets and the Company’s
nationwide network of Penguin® Brand Dry Ice retail locations.
Sales growth from acquisitions primarily reflects a prior year
acquisition of a packaged gas distributor by National Welders.
Current year acquisitions reflected in the All Other Operations
business segment include CFC Refimax and the Linde bulk gas
business. Current year acquisitions did not significantly impact the
current years' sales growth as they closed in the fourth quarter.
However, the fiscal 2007 acquisitions are expected to have a signifi-
cant impact on the All Other Operations sales growth in fiscal
2008. The most significant contributor to the All Other Operations
sales growth will be Airgas Merchant Gases. However, Airgas
Merchant Gases will principally be a wholesale supplier to the
business units in the Distribution business segment. Therefore, the
sales of Airgas Merchant Gases to the Distrubution segment will be
eliminated when preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Company. Third-party sales from the fiscal 2007 acquisi-
tions are expected to contribute approximately $55 million to
fiscal 2008 sales growth. As noted above, upen clesing the pending
acquisition of a significant part of the U.S. packaged gas business
of Linde, operations with approximately $50 million in annual
revenue would be acquired by the Company’s National Welders
joint venture, also contributing to the fiscal 2008 sales growth.

Gross Profits

Gross profits do not reflect depreciation expense and distribution
costs. As disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company reflects distribution costs as elements of
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Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses and recognizes
depreciation on all its property, plant and equipment on the
income statement line item “Depreciation.” Other companies may
report certain or all of these costs as elements of their Cost of
Products Sold, and as such the Company’s gross profits discussed
below may not be comparable to those of other entities.

Gross profits increased §5% principally from sales growth and
acquisitions. The gross margin in the current period was 51.1%
compared to 50.5% in the prior year period.

{In thousands) 2007 2006 Increase

Distribution § 1,336,447 $ 1,172,503 § 163,844 14%

All Other Operations 301,514 255,129 46,385 18%
$ 1,637,961 % 1,427632 § 210,329 15%

The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $164 million
(14%) compared to the prior year, The Distribution segment’s
gross margin was 49.6% versus 48.9% in the prior year. The
increase in the gross margin of 70 basis points reflected the impact
of price increases as well as a favorable shift in product mix toward
and within gas and rent. Gas and rent as a percentage of the
Distribution segment’s sales was 52.0% in the current year as
compared ta 51.7% in the prior year.

The All Qther Operations segment’s gross profits increased $46
million {18%) primarily from strong sales growth at National
Welders and sales volume growth of carbon dioxide products. The
segment’s gross margin increased 30 basis points to 52,0% versus
51.7% in the prior year period driven by improvement in pricing
and margin expansion particularly with respect to the anhydrous
ammonia product line acquired in June 2005.

Operating Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses (“SD&A”) consist
of labor and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing
and distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs
associated with a variety of administrative functions such as legal,
treasury, accounting, tax and facility-related expenses.

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expense decreased 50 basis
points to 35.9% compared to 36.4% in the prior year reflecting
improved cost leverage and effective cost management. The
decrease in SD&A expense as a percentage of sales occurred
despite $15.4 million or approximately 50 basis points of stock-
based compensation expense in the current vear (as described in
the Overview section). There was no stock-based compensation
expense in the prior year, SD&A expenses increased $118 million
(11%) primarily from higher variable expenses associated with the
growth in sales volumes and the operating costs of acquired
businesses. Acquisitions contributed estimated incremental SD&A
expenses of approximately $30 million in the current year. The
increase in $D&A cxpense attributable to factors other than stock-
based compensation and acquisitions was approximately $72
million or an increase of 7% primarily attributable to salaries and
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wages and distribution-related expenses. The increase in salaries
and wages reflected increased operational headcounts and
overtime to fill cylinders, deliver products and operate facilities to
meet increased customer demand. The increase in distribution
expenses was attributable to higher fuel and vehicle repair and
maintenance costs, which were up approximately $12 millien
versus the prior year. Higher fuel costs were directly related to the
rise in diesel fuel prices over the past year and the increase in miles
driven to support related sales growth. Operating expenses in the
prior year include $2.2 million associated with hurricanes Katrina
and Rita.

Depreciation expense of $139 million increased $16 million (13%)
compared to the prior year. Acquired businesses contributed
depreciation expense of approximately $3.3 million. The
remainder of the increase primarily reflects the current and prior
year's capital investments in revente generating assets to support
customer demand, primarily cylinders, bulk tanks and rental
welders, as well as the addition of new fill plants and branch stores.
Amortization expense of $8.5 million was $3.4 million higher than
the prior year period driven by the amortization of customer lists
and non-compete agreements associated with acquisitions.

Operating Income

Operating income increased 27% in the current year driven by
higher sales levels and margin improvement. Improved cost
leverage on sales growth was the primary contributor to a 120
basis point increase in the operating income margin to 10.7%
compared to 9.5% in the prior year.

(Int thousands) 2007 2006 Increase
Distribution $ 266,708 % 208466 $ 58,242 28%
All Other Operations 74,744 60,292 14,452 24%

$ 341,452 § 268738 § 72,694 27%

Operating income in the Distribution segment increased 28% in
the current year. The Distribution segment’s operating margin
increased 120 basis points to 9.9% compared to 8.7% in the prior
year. The significant margin improvement was driven by
continued operating profit leverage on sales growth and effective
management of costs and pricing.

Operating income in the All Other Operations segment increased
24% compared to the prior year. The segment’s operating income
margin of 12.9% was 70 basis points higher than 12.2% in the
prior year. The increases in operating income and operating
margin were driven by the strong business momentum of National
Welders and the improved anhydrous ammonia business.

The acquired Linde bulk gas business is expected to improve the
Company’s consolidated fiscal 2008 operating income and
operating margin. The newly formed Airgas Merchant Gases,
accounted for in the All Cther Operations segment, will
principally act as an internal wholesale supplier to the Distribution
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segment business units. The business units in the Distribution
segment will manage the customer relationships and bill the new
bulk gas customers. Since the end customer is served by the
Distribution segment companies, the improved operating margin
will principally be reflected in the Distribution business segment.

interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade
Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade
receivables totaled $74 million representing an increase of 17%
compared to the prior year. The increase primarily resulted from
higher average debt levels associated with acquisitions, a larger
securitization program and higher weighted-average interest rates
related to the Company’s variable rate debt instruments, partially
offset by the current year refinancing of higher fixed rate debt.

In July 2006, the Company amended and restated its senior credit
facility with a syndicate of lenders. The Credit Facility expanded
the Company's borrowing capacity, subject to compliance with
certain covenants, to $1.6 billion principally at an effective interest
rate of LIBOR plus 75 basis points. The Company used the Credit
Facility to refinance the $100 million maturity of its 7.75%
medium-term notes on September 15, 2006. Additionally, on
Qctober 27, 2006, the Company used the Credit Facility to redeem
its $225 million 9.125% senior subordinated notes. Based on
current interest rates under the revolving credit facility, interest
savings from these refinancings are estimated to be $700 thousand
per month.

‘The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three
commercial banks to sell up to $285 million of qualifying trade
receivables. The amount of outstanding receivables under the
agreement was $264 million at March 31, 2007 versus $244 million
at March 31, 2006. Net proceeds from the sale of trade receivables
were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving
credit facilities. The discount on the securitization of trade
receivables represents the difference between the carrying value of
the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The amount of
the discount varies on a monthly basis depending on the amount
of receivables sold and market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company
manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in
interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest
rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the
Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2007
was 21% fixed to 79% variable. A majority of the Company’s
variable rate debt is based on a spread over the London Interbank
Offered Rate {“LIBOR”). Based on the Company’s fixed to variable
interest rate ratio, for every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, the
Company estimates that its aninual interest expense would increase
approximately $3 million.
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Loss on Debt Extinguishment

On October 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated notes at a premium of 104.563% with
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facility. In
conjunction with the redemption, the Company recognized a third
quarter charge on the early extinguishment of debt of $12.1
million ($7.9 million after tax) or approximately $0.10 per diluted
share. The charge related 1o the redemption premium and the
write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

Income Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 38.8% of pre-tax earnings in the
current year compared to 37.4% in the prior year. The effective
income tax rate in the current year reflects » one-time tax benefit
associated with changes in state income tax law in Texas.
Additionally, the current year's tax rate reflects the limited
deductibility of stock-based compensation associated with the
Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan and the absence of state
tax benefits associated with the loss on the extinguishment of debt.
The lower tax rate in fiscal 2006 reflected favorable changes in
valuation allowances associated with state tax net operating loss
carryforwards and a faverable adjustment to previously recorded
tax liabilities. The Company expects the overall effective tax rate
for fiscal 2008 1o range from 39% to 39.5% of pre-tax earnings.

Income from Continuing Operations

Income from continuing operations in the current year was $154
million, or $1.92 per diluted share, which reflects an afier-tax loss
of $7.9 million from the early extinguishment of debt, or $0.10 per
diluted share, stock-based compensation expense of $10.9 million
after tax, or $0.13 per diluted share, and $1.8 million, or $0.02 per
diluted share, one-time tax benefit associated with changes in state
income tax law. Income from continuing operations in the prior
pertod was $128 million, or $1.62 per diluted share. Stock-based
compensation expense was not recognized in the prior vear.

Income (loss) from Discontinued Operations

In December 2005, the Company divested its business unit
Rutland Tool & Supply Co., Inc. (*Rutland Too!”). Consequently,
the operating results of Rutland Tool for fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005
are reflected as discontinued operations. For fiscal 2006, the loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $1.4 million, which
principally represented a loss on the sale of the business.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 143, (“FIN 477), and recorded a $2.5 million after-
tax charge ($0.03 per diluted share) as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle. The ongoing annual expense
resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 is not material.
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Net Earnings

Net earnings were $154.4 miilion, or $1.92 per diluted share,
compared to $123.6 million, or $1.57 per diluted share, in the
prior year.

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and
the holders of the preferred stock of National Welders, until june
30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the option to exchange
their 3.2 million shares of National Welders voting redeemable
preferred stock either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or to
tender them to the joint venture in exchange for approximately 2.3
million shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas common stock
has a market value of $24.45 per share, the stock and cash
redemption options are equivalent. The weighted shares used in
the fiscal 2007 and 2006 diluted earnings per sharc calculations
include the assumed conversion of National Welders’ preferred
stock 1o Airgas common stock. Also see Note 4 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Results of Operations: 2006 Compared to 2005

Overview

The Company had net sales for fiscal year ended March 31, 2006
(“fiscal 2006™) of $2.83 billion compared 1o $2.37 billion for fiscal
year ended March 31, 2005 (“fiscal 2005™). Net sales increased by
209% driven by strong same-store sales growth and the impact of
acquisttions. Same-store safes growth contributed 11% to the
increase in total sales. Acquisitions contributed 9% to the overall
increase in net sales. The operating income margin expanded 90
basis points in fiscal 2006 to 9.5% compared to 8.6% in fiscal 2005
reflecting improving cost leverage. Solid sales growth and operating
expense discipline resulted in income from continuing operations of
$127.5 million, or $1.62 per diluted share, compared to $91.6 mil-
lion, or $1.19 per diluted share, in fiscal 2005, a 36% increase.

Accounting Change

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standard Board Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for
Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of FASB
Staterment No. 143, ("FIN 477), and recorded a $2.5 million
after-tax charge ($0.03 per diluted share) as a cumulative effect of
a change in accounting principle. The ongoing annual expense
resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 is not material.

Discontinued Operations

On December 1, 2005, the Company divested its subsidiary,
Rutland Tool. Rutland Tool distributed metalworking tools,
machine tools and MRO supplies from seven locations and had
approximately 180 employees. Rutland Tool generated annual sales
of approximately $50 million and an insignificant amount of
operating income. As a result of the divestiture, the Company
reflected fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 operating resuits of Rutland
Tool as “discontinued operations.” The fiscal 2006 loss from
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discontinued operations, net of tax, was $1.4 million, or $0.02 per
diluted share, which principally represented a loss on the sale of
the business. Proceeds from the divestiture were approximately $15
million. The operating results of Rutland Tool were previously
reflected in the Distribution business segment.

Acquisitions

During fiscal 2006, the Company completed 13 acquisitions
(including three businesses acquired by the Company’s joint
venture, National Welders) with combined annual sales of
approximately $141 million. The largest of these acquisitions
included the June 2005 purchase of the Industrial Products
Division of LaRoche Industries, Inc. (“LaRoche™). LaRoche was a
leading distributor of anhydrous ammeonia in the U.S. with annual
sales of approximately $65 million. The LaRoche operations were
incorporated into a new business unit, "Airgas Specialty Products,”
that was added to the All Other Operations business segment.

Income Statement Commentary

Net Sales

Net sales increased 20% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005
driven primarily by strong same-store sales growth of 11% and
acquisitions. The Company estimates same-store sales based on a
comparison of current period sales to prior period sales, adjusted
for acquisitions and divestitures. The pro-forma adjustments
consist of adding acquired sales to, or subtracting sales of divested
opetations from, sales reported in the prior period. The table
below reflects actual sales and does not include the pro-forma
adjustments used in calculating the same-store sales metric. The
intercompany eliminations represent sales from All Other
Operations to the Distribution segment.

{In theusands) 2006 2005 Increase

Distribution $ 2,395,938 § 2,035,112 % 360,826 18%

All Other Operations 493,430 385,611 107,819 28%
Intercompany
eliminations (59,758) (52,941) (6,817)
$ 2.829610 § 2,367,782 3§ 461,828 20%

Distribution segment sales increased 18% compared to fiscal 2005
driven by same-store sales growth of $245 million (11%) and sales
contributed by both fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 acquisitions of
$116 miilion. Incremental sales from acquisitions were driven by
nine fiscal 2006 acquisitions and the impact of a full year of
operations of the July 2004 acquisition of the packaged gas
business of The BOC Group, lnc. (“BOC™). Same-store sales
growth was driven approximately equally by pricing initiatives and
higher sales volumes. Price increases were initiated in response to
rising product, operating and distribution costs as well as other
factors. Higher sales volumes resulted from the continued strength
of the industrial economy and the continued success of the
Company’s growth initiatives. Same-store sales growth of
hardgoods was 13%, and gas and rent was 10%, with a majority of
the Company's business units reporting double-digit growth. Sales
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growth in the Gulf Coast and southwestern portions of the U.S.
was particularly strong reflecting post-hurricane demand for
equipment, safety products and welding machines. Sales growth
was also driven by sales of strategic products. Strategic products
were identified by the Company as those expected to grow at a
faster rate than the overall industrial economy and include safety
products, medical, specialty, and bulk gases, as well as carbon
dioxide products, such as dry ice.

The Distribution segment’s same-store sales growth for gas and
rent of 10% was driven by price increases and volume growth.
Broad pricing actions were initiated in March 2005 and November
2005 in response to rising product and delivery costs. Sales growth
was achieved across nearly all major product lines, including the
largest product line, industrial gases (e.g., nitrogen, oxygen, argon,
acetylene, etc.). Sales of strategic products, particularly related to
bulk, medical and specialty gases, also helped drive the growth in
gas and rent same-store sales. Sales of bulk, medical, and specialty
gases generated combined same-store sales growth of 12%. Same-
store sales growth was also helped by a 31% increase in welding
equipment rentals.

The increase in Distribution same-store sales from hardgoods of
5131 million {13%) is attributable to strong volume gains in sales
of safety and Radnor private label products. Same-store sales of
safety products grew 17% in fiscal 2006 benefiting from excellent
execution in cross-selling and in our telesales operation, the strong
industrial economy and reconstruction efforts along the Gulf
Coast. Radnor products grew 26% reflecting the rollout of new
products and expansion of the Company’s branch-store core
stocking program to acquired locations. Same-store sales of
hardgoods also benefited from pricing actions taken during fiscal
2006 to offset rising product costs.

In fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, the All Other Operations segment
consisted of the Company’s Gas Operations Division and its
National Welders joint venture. The Gas Operations Division
produces and distributes certain gas products, principally carbon
dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide and specialty gases. Beginning in
June 2005, the division also began distributing anhydrous
ammonia and related supplies, services and equipment. National
Welders is a producer and distributor of industrial, medical and
specialty gases and hardgoods based in Charlotte, North Carolina.
All Other Operations’ sales, net of intercompany eliminations,
increased $101 million compared to fiscal 2005. The acquisition of
the anhydrous ammonia business from LaRoche and the
subsequent formation of Airgas Specialty Products in June 2005
contributed sales of $67 million in fiscal 2006. Same-store sales
growth was primarily attributable to National Welders and pricing
actions taken by Airgas Specialty Products, Sales of liquid carbon
dioxide and dry ice also increased modestly.
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Gross Profits

Gross profits increased 17% resulting from higher sales volumes,
acquisitions and price increases. The gross profit margin decreased
90 basis points to 50.5% in fiscal 2006 compared to 51.4% in fiscal
2005. The decrease in the gross profit margin reflects the
acquisition and subsequent growth of the lower margin anhydrous
ammonia product line and a shift in sales mix.

(In thousands) 2006 2005
Distribution $ 1,172,503 § 1,004,828
All Other Operations 255,129 211,172

$ 1,427,632 % 1,216,000

Incrense
$ 167,675 17%
43,957 2%
$ 211,632 17%

i The Distribution segment’s gross profits increased $168 million

(179) compared to fiscal 2005. Distribution’s gross profit margin
of 48.9% decreased 30 basis points from 49.4% in fiscal 2005. The
lower gross profit margin reflects a shift in gas sales mix, including
the impacit of higher sales growth of lower margin bulk gases, as
well as higher same-store sales growth of lower margin hardgoods.
The Distribution segment’s sales consisted of 51.7% gas and rent
compared to 51.9% in fiscal 2005. Pricing actions taken by the
Company in fiscal 2006 helped to mitigate the impact of rising
product costs.

The All Other Operations segment’s gross profits increased $44
million primarily from strong sales at National Welders and the
addition of the anhydrous ammonia business in fiscal 2006.
Although the gross profit dollars for the segment increased, the
gross profit margin declined by 310 basis points to 51.7% from
54.8% in fiscal 2005. The gross profit margin decline reflects the
acquisition of the anhydrous ammonia product line, which carries
a lower margin than other products in this segment, and
competitive pressures in the market for dry ice.

Operating Expenses

As a percentage of net sales, SD&A expenses decreased 170 basis
points to 36.4% compared to 38.1% in fiscal 2005 resulting from
improved cost leverage. SD&A expenses increased $129 million
{14%) primarily from operating costs of acquired businesses and
higher variable expenses associated with the growth in sales
volumes. As compared with fiscal 2005, acquisitions contributed
an estimated additional $62 million to SD&A expenses. The SD&A
expenses contributed by fiscal 2006 acquisitions reflect acquisition
integration costs that were $1.9 millien in fiscal 2006. Fiscal 2005
SD&A expenses reflect a total of $6.4 million of costs associated
with integrating the BOC acquisition as well as employee

separation costs. The balance of the increase in SD&A expenses is
primarily attributable to higher labor costs, distribution-related
expenses, selling expenses and approximately $2.2 million of
incremental costs resulting from hurricanes Katrina and Rita. The
increase in labor costs reflected costs to fill cylinders and operate
facilities to meet increased demand for products as well as normal
wage inflation. The increase in distribution expenses is attributable
10 higher fuel costs and vehicle repair and maintenance expenses.
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Higher fuel costs were directly related to the rise in diesel fuel
prices and the increase in miles driven to support the higher sales
volumes. The increase in selling expenses is attributable to higher
sales levels.

Depreciation expense of $122 million increased $17 million {16%)
compared to $105 million in fiscal 2005. Fiscal 2006 and fiscal
2005 acquisitions contributed depreciation expense of
approximately $8 million. The remainder of the increase primarily
reflects fiscal 2006’s and fiscal 2005’s capital expenditures to
support growth, including purchases of cylinders, bulk tanks and
rental welders. Amortization expense of $5 million in fiscal 2006
was consistent with fiscal 2005.

Operating Income

Operating income increased 33% in fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal
2005 driven by higher sales levels. Cost leverage and the improved
operations of the BOC business acquired in fiscal 2005
contributed to a 90 basis point increase in the operating income
margin to 9.5% compared to 8.6% in fiscal 2005.

(In thousands) 2006 2005 Increase

Distribution § 208466 $ 157,239 § 51,227 33%

All Other Operations 63,292 45,215 15,077 33%
$ 268,758 § 202,454 § 66,304 33%

Operating income in the Distribution segment increased 33% in
fiscal 2006. The Distribution segment’s operating income margin
increased 100 basis points to 8.7% compared to 7.7% in liscal
2005. The increase in the operating income margin reflects the
lower operating expenses as a percentage of net sales, described
above. Fiscal 2005 was negatively impacted by integration costs
and initial lower margins of the business acquired from BOC.

Operating income in the All Other Operations segment increased
33% resulting primarily from the strong business momentum of
National Welders as well as the acquisition of the anhydrous
ammonia business from LaRoche. The segment’s operating income
margin increased 50 basis points to 12.2% in fiscal 2006 compared
to 11.7% in fiscal 2005, The higher operating income margin
principally relates to lower operating expenses as a percentage of
net sales, partially offset by the lower operating margin of the
anhydrous ammonia business.

interest Expense and Discount on Securitization of Trade
Receivables

Interest expense, net, and the discount on securitization of trade
receivables totaled $63 million representing an increase of 13%
compared to fiscal 2005. The increase in interest expense primarily
resulted from higher debt levels associated with acquisitions and
higher weighted-average interest rates.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with
commercial banks to sell qualifying trade receivables. The amount
of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $244 million
and $190 million at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net
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proceeds from the sale of trade receivables were used to reduce
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The
discount on the securitization of trade receivables represents the
difference between the carrying value of the receivables and the
proceeds from their sale. The amount of the discount varies on a
monthly basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and
market rates.

As discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” the Company
manages its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in
interest rate swap agreements. Including the effect of the interest
rate swap agreements and the trade receivables securitization, the
Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2006
was 53% fixed to 47% variable.

Incomne Tax Expense

The effective income tax rate was 37.4% of pre-tax earnings
compared to 36.8% 1n fiscal 2005. The lower tax rate in fiscal 2005
resulted from favorable changes in valuation allowances associated
with state tax net operating loss carryforwards and the realization
of federal and state tax credits.

Income from Continwing Operations

Income from continuing operations was $127.5 million, or $1.62
per diluted share, compared to $91.6 million, or $1.19 per diluted
share in fiscal 2005.

Income (loss) from Discontinued Operations

As a result of the divestiture of Ruttand Tool in December 2005,
the Company reflected fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 operating results
of Rutland Tool as “discontinued operations.” The fiscal 2006 loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $1.4 million, or
$0.02 per diluted share, which principally represented a loss on the
sale of the business. Proceeds from the divestiture were
approximately $15 million. In fiscal 2005, income from
discontinued operations was $464 thousand. The operating results
of Rutland Tool were previously reflected in the Distribution
business segment.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle

In conjunction with the adoption of FIN 47 on March 31, 2006,
the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $2.5 million as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The ongoing
annual expense resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 is not
material.

Net Earnings
Net earnings were $123.6 miilion, or $1.57 per diluted share,
compared to $92 million, or $1.20 per diluted share, in fiscal 2005.

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and
the holders of the preferred stock of Nattonal Welders, until June
30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the option to exchange
their 3.2 million shares of National Welders voting redeemable
preferred stock either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share or to
tender them to the joint venture in exchange for approximately 2.3
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million shares of Airgas common stock. If Airgas common stock
has a market value of $24.45 per share, the stock and cash
redemption options are equivalent. The weighted shares used in
the fiscal 2006 diluted earnings per share calculation include the
assumed conversion of National Welders’ preferred stock to Airgas
common stock. In fiscal 2005, the conversion of National Welders
preferred stock to Airgas common stock was anti-dilutive. Also see
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Fiscal 2007 Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $318 million in fiscal
2007 compared to $352 million in fiscal 2006. Net earnings
adjusted for non-cash items provided cash of $384 million versus
$304 million in the prior year. Working capital resulted in 2 use of
cash of 386 million versus a use of $8 million in the prior year. The
use of cash for working capital in fiscal 2007 principally reflects a
higher level of trade receivables associated with sales growth, a
higher levet of income tax payments, and the timing of payments
to vendors. The Company also increased the amount of receivables
sold under its trade receivables securitization program providing
cash of $20 million in the current year versus $54 million in the
prior year. Cash flows of National Welders, in excess of a
management fee paid by National Welders to the Company, are not
available to the Company. Cash provided by operating activities in
the current year included $34 million of cash provided by Naticnal
Welders versus $23 million in the prior year. Consolidated cash
flows provided by operating activities were used to fund investing
activities, such as capital expenditures and acquisitions.

Net cash used in investing activities in fiscal 2007 totaled $923
million and primarily consisted of cash used for acquisitions and
capital expenditures. Cash of $688 million was paid in the current
year for 13 acquisitions, including the acquisition of Linde’s bulk
gas business, and holdback settlements. Capital expenditures were
$244 million in the current period (including $18 million at
National Welders). Capital expenditures reflect investments to
support the Company’s sales growth initiatives. For example,
investments in rental welders by the Company’s Red-D-Arc
subsidiary supported its fiscal 2007 same-store sales growth of
33%. The Company has also continued to invest in its core
business through purchasing cylinders and bulk tanks. Other
significant investments included a new carbon dioxide plant and
fill plant expansions. The Company expects that fiscal 2008 capital
expenditures will approximate 7% of net sales.

Financing activities provided net cash of $596 million primarily
from net borrowings under the Company’s Credit Facility. The
additional borrowing was principally used to fund acquisitions.
Other sources of cash effectively offset the use of cash within
financing activities.
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Dividends

During fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company paid its
stockholders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.07, $0.06 and
$0.045 per share, respectively. On May 8, 2007, the Company’s
Baoard of Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of
$0.09 per share, which is payable on June 29, 2007 to stockholders
of record as of June 15, 2007. Future dividend declarations and
associated amounts paid will depend upon the Company’s
earnings, financial condition, loan covenants, capital requirements
and other factors deemed relevant by management and the
Company’s Board of Directors.

Stock Repurchase Plan

Due to certain contemplated acquisitions, in July 2006, the
Company suspended the three-year share repurchase plan that it
initiated in November 2005. No shares of Company common stock
were repurchased during fiscal 2007, Since inception, 195,400
shares have been repurchased under the plan and $137.2 million of
the original $150 million authorization remains available. The
Company continues to focus on using its cash flow for investing in
growth opportunities, including future acquisitions, paying down
debt and growing its dividend.

Financial Instruments

Debt Refinancing

Effective July 25, 2006, the Company amended and restated its
senior credit facility with a syndicate of lenders, Subject to
compliance with certain covenants, the $1.6 billion senior
unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility™) permits the
Company to borrow up to $966 miilion under a U.S. dollar
revolving credit line, up to C$40 million (U.S. $34 million) under
a Canadian dollar revolving credit line and up to 3600 million
under two or more term loans. The Company used borrowings
under the term loan provision of the Credit Facility to finance the
$100 million maturity of its 7.75% medium-term notes on
September 15, 2006. The remaining $300 million term loan was
used to finance the previously announced Linde bulk gas
acquisition that closed on March 9, 2007. The Credit Facility will
mature on July 25, 2011.

As of March 31, 2007, the Company had approximately $1,067
million of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $471 million
under the U.S. dollar revolver, C$22 million (U.5. $18 million)
under the Canadian dollar revolver and a $578 million under the
term loan. The term loans are repayable in quarterly installments
of $22.5 million between March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2010. The
quarterly installments then increase to $71.2 millien from
September 30, 2010 to fune 30, 2011, The Company also had
letters of credit of $34 million outstanding under the Credit
Facility. The U.S. dollar borrowings and the term loans bear
“interest” at LIBOR plus 75 basis points and the Canadian dollar
borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rate
plus 75 basis points, As of March 31, 2007, the effective interest
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rates on the U.S. dollar borrowings, the term loans and the
Canadian dollar borrowings were 6.09%, 6.10% and 5.20%,
respectively.

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of a bankruptcy
remote special purpose entity (the “domestic subsidiaries™},
guarantee the U.S. and Canadian borrowings. The Canadian
borrowings are also guaranteed by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are
made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 100%
of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its
foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under the Credit
Facility. The Credit Facility provides for the release of the
guarantees and collateral if the Company attains an investment
grade credit rating and a similar release on all other debt,

Total Borrowing Capacity and Acquisition Financing

At March 31, 2007, approximately $461 million remained unused
under the U.S. dollar revolving credit line and approximately C518
million (U.S. 316 million) remained unused under the Canadian
dollar revolving credit line, As of March 31, 2007, the financial
covenants of the Credit Facility permitted the Company increase
its total borrowings under the Credit Facility or through other
debt instruments by approximately $538 million. The Credit
Facility contains customary events of default, including
nonpayment and breach of covenants. [n the event of default,
repayment of barrowings under the Credit Facility may be
accelerated.

The Company continues to look for acquisition candidates. The
financial covenant calculations of the Credit Facility include the
pro forma results of acquired businesses. Therefore, total
borrowing capacity is not reduced dollar-for-dollar with
acquisition financing. The Company intends to finance the
pending acquisition (purchase price of $310 million) of the U.S.
packaged gas business of Linde AG with borrowings under the
revolving credit line of the Credit Facility. A portion of the
business to be acquired will be sold by the Company te National
Welders. National Welders will secure financing necessary to
acquire their portion of the business.

The Company believes that it could obtain financing on
reasonable terms if its requirements exceed amounts available
under the Credit Facility. The terms of any future financing
arrangements depend on market conditions and the Company’s
financial position at that time.

Money Market Loan

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed $30 million
for a maximum term of three months. The agreement expires on
November 30, 2007, but may be extended subject to renewal
provisions contained in the agreement. The amount, term and
interest rate of an advance are established through mutual
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agreement with the financial institution when the Company
requests such an advance. At March 31, 2007, the Company had an
outstanding advance under the agreement of $30 million for a
term of 90 days bearing interest at 5.75%.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2007, the Company had $150 million of senior
subordinated notes (the “2004 Notes™) outstanding with a
maturity date of july 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a
fixed annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15
and fuly 15 of each year. The 2004 Notes have an optional
redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its option,
to call the 2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first
scheduled optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of
103.125% of the principal amount.

The 2004 Notes contain covenants that could restrict the payment
of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the issuance of
preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional indebtedness and
liens. The 2004 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
jointly and severally, on a subordinated basis, by each of the wholly
owned domestic guarantors under the Credit Facility. The stock of
the Company’s domestic subsidiaries is also pledged to the note
holders on a subordinated basis.

On October 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated notes in full at a premium of
104.563% of the principal amount with proceeds from the
Company’s revolving credit line. In conjunction with the
redemption of the Notes, the Company recognized a charge on the
early extinguishment of debt of approximately $12.1 million ($7.9
million after tax) in October 2006. The charge related to the
redemption premium and the write-off of unamertized debt
issuance costs.

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company’s long-term debit also included acquisition and
other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of
businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At
March 31, 2007, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately
$17 million with interest rates ranging from 4% to 8.5%.

Financial Instruments of the National Welders Joint Venture
Pursuant to the requirements of the FASB’s Financial
Interpretation No. 46 {revised December 2003), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, (“FIN 46R”), the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2007 and 2006 include
the financial obligations of National Welders. National Welders’
financial obligations are non-recourse to the Company, meaning
that the creditors of National Welders do not have a claim on the
assets of Airgas, Inc.

The National Welders Credit Agreement (the “NWS$ Credit
Agreement”) provides for a revolving credit line of $100 million, a
Term Loan A of $26 million, a Term Loan B of $21 million, and a
Term Loan C of $9 miilion. At March 31, 2007, National Welders
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had borrowings under its revolving credit line of $73 million and
under Term Loan A of $12 million. There were no amounts
outstanding under Term loans B or C at March 31, 2007. National
Welders also had $681 thousand in acquisition notes and other
debt obligations.

The NWS revolving credit borrowings mature in August 2009,
Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of $254 thousand
plus accrued interest with a lump-sum payment of the cutstanding
balance at maturity in March 2011. The variable interest rate on
the revolving credit line and Term Loan A ranges from LIBOR plus
70 to 145 basis points varying with National Welders’ leverage
ratio. At March 31, 2007, the effective interest rate for the revolving
credit line and Term Loan A was 6.02%. The NWS Credit
Agreement also contains certain covenants which, among other
things, subject National Welders to minimum net worth
requirements, limit the ability of National Welders to incur and
guarantee new indebtedness, and limit its capital expenditures,
ownership changes, merger and acquisition activity, and the
payment of dividends. National Welders had additional borrowing
capacity under the NWS$ Credit Agreement of approximately $27
million at March 31, 2007, Term Loans B and C were previously
repaid and provide no additional borrowing capacity.

As of March 31, 2007, the revolving credit line and Term Loan A
are secured by certain current assets, principally trade receivables
and inventory, totaling $38 million, non-current assets, principally
equipment, totaling $119 million, and Airgas common stock with a
market value of $39 million classified as treasury stock and carried
at cost of $370 thousand.

Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three
commercial banks to sell up to $285 million of qualifying trade
receivables. The agreement expires in March 2010, but may be
renewed subject to provisions contained in the agreement. During
fiscal 2007, the Company sold, net of its retained interest, $2.70
billion of trade receivables and remitted to bank conduits,
pursuant to a servicing agreement, $2.68 billion in collections on
those receivables. The net proceeds were used to reduce
borrowings under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. The
amount of outstanding receivables under the agreement was $264
million at March 31, 2007 and $244 million at March 31, 2006.

Interest Rate Swap Agreements

The Company manages its exposure to changes in market interest
rates. At March 31, 2007, the Company had six fixed interest rate
swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of $150
million. These swaps effectively convert $150 million of variable
interest rate debt associated with the Company’s Credit Facility to
fixed rate debt. At March 31, 2007, two swap agreements with a
total notional amount of $50 million required the Company to
make fixed interest payments based on a weighted average effective
rate of 4.15% and receive variable interest payments from its
counterparties based on a weighted average variable rate of 5.32%.
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The four other swap agreements with a total notional amount of
$100 million required the Company to make fixed interest
payments based on a weighted average effective rate of 5.39% and
receive variable interest payments from its counterparties based on
a weighted average variable rate of 5.35%. The remaining terms of
each of these swap agreements are between 15 months to 26
months. The Company monitors its positions and the credit
ratings of its counterparties and does not anticipate non-
performance by the counterparties.

National Welders was a party to one interest rate swap agreement
with a major financial institution with a notional principal
amount of $27 million. National Welders is required to make fixed
interest payments of 5.36% and receive variable interest payments
from its counterparty based on one month LIBOR, which was
5.36% at March 31, 2007. The remaining term of the swap
agreement is 26 months.

Including the effect of the interest rate swap agreements, the debt
of National Welders, and the trade receivables securitization, the
Company’s ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2007
was 21% fixed to 79% variable. A majority of the Company’s
variable rate debt is based on a spread over LIBOR. Based on the
Company's fixed to variable interest rate ratio, for every 25 basis
point increase in LIBOR, the Company estimates that its annual
interest expense would increase approximately $3 million.

Other

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Note 1 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant
accounting policies and methaods used in the preparation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Estimates are used for, but not
limited to, determining the net carrying value of trade receivables,
inventories, goodwill, other intangible assets and business
insurance reserves. Uncertainties about future events make these
estimates susceptible to change. Management evaluates these
estimates regularly and believes they are the best estimates,
appropriately made, given the known facts and circumstances. For
the three years ended March 31, 2007, there were no material
changes in the valuation methods or assumptions used by
management. However, actual results could differ from these
estimates under different assumptions and circumstances. The
Company believes the following accounting estimates are critical
due to the subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for
these matters, their susceptibility to change and the potential
impact that different assumptions could have on operating
performance.
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Trade Receivables

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables to fair
value based on estimates of accounts that will not ultimately be
collected. An allowance for doubtful accounts is generally
established as trade receivables age beyond their due date. As past
due balances age, higher valuation allowances are established
lowering the net carrying value of receivables. The amount of
valuation allowance established for each past due period reflects
the Company’s historical collections experience and current
economic conditions and trends. The Company also establishes
valuation allowances for specific problem accounts and
bankrupicies. The amounts ultimately collected on past due trade
receivables are subject to numerous factors including general
economic conditions, the condition of the receivable portfolio
assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts emerging
from bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions impact the
Company’s collection experience and may result in the recognition
of higher or lower valuation allowances. Management evaluates
the allowance for doubtful accounts monthly, The Company has a
low concentration of credit risk due 1o its broad and diversified
customer base across multiple industries and geographic locations,
and its relatively low average order size. No individual customer
accounts for more than 0.5% of the Company’s annual sales.
Historically, the Company’s sales returns, sales allowances, and bad
debts have been in the range of 1.4% to 1.7% of sales.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. The majority of the products the Company carries in
inventory have long shelf lives and are not subject to technological
obsolescence. The Company writes its inventory down to its
estimated market value when it believes the market value is below
cost. The Company estimates its ability to recover the costs of
items in inventory by product type based on its age, the rate at
which that preduct line is turning in inventory, its physical
condition as well as assumptions about future demand and market
conditions, The ability of the Company to recover its cost for
products in inventory can be affected by facrors such as furure
customer demand, general market conditions and the relationship
with significant suppliers. Management evaluates the
recoverability of its inventory at least quarterly. In aggregate,
inventory turns approximately four times per vear.

Goodwill and Other intangible Assets

The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in
accordance with SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
Under SFAS 142, goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are instead tested for
impairment at least annually. The Company has elected to perform
its annual tests for indications of goodwill impairment as of

29




Management’'s Discussion and Analysis continued

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

October 31 of each year or whenever indicators of impairment
exist. Goodwill impairment is recognized when the carrying value
of a reporting unit exceeds its “implied fair value.” Implied fair
value is estimated based on a discounted cash flow analysis for
each reporting unit. The discounted cash flow analysis requires
estimates, assumptions and judgments about future events. The
Company’s analysis uses internally generated budgets and long-
range forecasts, which are the same budgets and ferecasts used for
managing operations, awarding management bonuses and seeking
alternative or additional financing. The Company's discounted
cash flow analysis uses the assumptions in these budgets and
forecasts about sales trends, inflation, working capital needs, and
forecasted capital expenditures along with an estimate of the
reporting unit’s terminal value {the value of the reporting unit at
the end of the forecast period) to determine the implied fair value
of each reporting unit. The Company’s assumptions about
working capital needs and capital expenditures are based on
historical experience. Terminal values reflect an assumed perpetual
growth rate consistent with long-term expectations for inflation,
The discount rate used to determine the present value of the
estimated future cash flows is a risk adjusted rate consistent with
the weighted average cost of capital of peer group companies for a
term equal to the forecast period.

The Company believes the assumptions used in its discounted cash
flow analysis are appropriate and result in reasonable estimates of
the implied fair value of each reporting unit. However, the
Company may not meet its sales growth and profitability targets,
working capital needs and capital expenditures may be higher than
forecast, changes in credit markets may result in changes to the
Company's discount rate and general business conditions may
result in changes to the Company’s terminal value assumptions for
its reporting units. Based on the October 31, 2006 assessment, the
Company does not expect that such changes would result in the
recognition of goodwill impairment in the Company’s reporting
units.

Business Insurance Reserves

The Company has established insurance programs to cover
workers’ compensation, business automobile, and general liability
claims. During fiscal 2007, these programs had self-insured
retention of 31 million per occurrence. During fiscal 2006 and
2005, the Company’s self-insured retention was $500 thousand per
occurrence with an additional aggregate retention of $2.2 million
in fiscal 2006 and $1.7 million in fiscal 2005, for claims in excess of
$500 thousand. For fiscal 2008, the self-insured retention will
remain $1 million per eccurrence with no additional aggregate
retention. The Company reserves for its self-insured retention
based on individual claim evaluations performed by a qualified
third-party administrator. The third-party administrator
establishes loss estimates for known claims based on the current
facts and circumstances. These known claims are then “developed,”
through actuarial computations, to reflect the expected ultimate
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loss for the known claims, as well as incurred but not reported
claims. Actuarial computations use the Company’s specific loss
history, payment patterns, insurance coverage, plus industry trends
and other factors to estimate the required reserve for all open
claims by policy year and loss type. Reserves for the Company’s
self-insurance retention are evaluated monthly. Semi-annually, the
Company obtains a third-party actuarial report to validate that the
computations and assumptions used are consistent with actuarial
standards. Certain assumptions used in the actuarial computations
are susceptible to change. Loss development factors are influenced
by items such as medical inflation, changes in workers’
compensation laws, and changes in the Company’s loss payment
patterns, all of which can have a significant influence on the
estimated ultimate loss related to the Company’s self-insured

retention. Accordingly, the ultimate resolution of open claims may
be for amounts more or less than the reserve balances. The
Company’s operations are spread across a significant number of
locations, which helps to mitigate the potential impact of any
given event that could give rise to an insurance-related loss. Over
the last three years, business insurance expense has generally been
in the range of 0.8% to 0.9% of sales.
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The following table presents the Company’s contractual obligations and ofi-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2007:

(In thousands) Payments Due by Period

Contractual and Off-Balance Sheet Obligations Total Lass than 1 Year 110 3 Years Jto5 Years More than 5 Years
Obligations reflected on the
March 31, 2007 Balance Sheet:
Long-term debt (1) $1,350,015 $ 40,29 $ 268,753 $ 889,186 $ 151,780
Estimated interest payments on
long-term debt (2) 313,849 80,649 137,500 76,300 19,000
Estimated payments {receipts) on
interest rate swap agreements (3} (1,200) (500) (700} — —
Off-balance sheet obligations
as of March 31, 2007:
Operating leases (4) 212,889 59,757 90,817 49,546 12,769
Trade receivables securitization (5) 264,400 — 264,400 — —
Estimated discount on securitization (6) 44,814 14,938 29,876 — —
Letters of credit (7) 34,426 34,426 — — —
Purchase cbligations:
Liquid bulk gas supply agreements (8) 808,021 89,015 165,716 158,750 394,540
Liquid carbon dioxide supply agreements (9) 180,072 15,981 23,700 17,851 122,540
Ammonia supply agreements (10) 87,557 18,469 34,544 34,544 —
Other purchase commitments (71) 43,996 17,121 11,562 7,983 7,330
Construction commitments (12) 64,974 44,810 20,164 — —
Total $3,403,813 1 414,962 $1,046,732 $1.234,160 $ 707,959

(1) The less than ane year relates to obligations due in fiscal 2008. The 1 to 3 years column relates to
abligauens due in fiscal years ended March 31, 2009 and 2010. The 3 1o 5 years column relates
to obligations due in fiscal years ended March 31, 2011 and 2€12. The more than 5 yaars column
relates to cbligations due in fiscal years ended March 31, 2013 and beyond. Aggregate long-term
debt instruments are reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of March 31, 2007, Long-
term debt includes capital lease cbiigations, which were nol material and, therefore, did not
warrant separate disclosure. See Note 9 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements for more infor-
mation regarding long-term debt instruments.

The future interest payments on the Company's long-term debt abligations were estimated based
on the current outstanding principal reduced by scheduled maturities in each period presented
and interest rates as of March 31, 2007. The estimated interest payments may differ materially
from those presented above based on acwal ameunts of long-term debr outstanding and actual
interest rates in future periods

Paymenzs of receipts under inierest rate swap agreements result from changes in market interest
1ates compared to contractual rates and payments tc be exchanged between the parties ic the
agreements. The estimated receipts in future periods were determined based on interest rates as
of March 31, 2007, Actual receipts or payments may ciffer materially from those presented abeove
based on actual interest rates in future periods.

The Company’s operating leases include approximazely $140 million i fleet vehicles under long-
term operating leases. The Company guarantees a residual value of $18 million related to its
leased vehicles.

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with three commercial banks 10 sell up to
$285 million of qualifying trade receivables. The agreement expires in March 2010, but may be
tenewed subject to provisions contained in the agreement. Under the securitization agreement,
on a monthly basis, trade receivables are sold to three commercial banks through a bankrupicy-
remote special purpose entity. Proceeds received from the sale of receivables were used by the
Company to reduce 1ts borrowings under its Credit Facility. The securitizatien agreemenit is a form
of off-balance sheet financing. Also see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The discount on the securitization of trade receivables represents the difference between the car-
rying value of the receivables and the proceeds from their sale. The amount of the discount varies
on a monthly basis depending on the amount of recaivables sold and market interest rates. The
estimated discount in future periods is based on receivables sold and interest rates as of March
31, 2007. The actual discount recognized in future penods may differ materially from those pre-
sented above based on actual amounts of receivables sold and market rates.

Letters of credit are guarantees of payment 16 third partes. The Company's letters of credit
principally back obligations associated with the Company’s self-insured retention on workers'
compensation, automobile and general liability claims. The lerters of credit are supported by the
Company's Credit Facility,

In addition to the gas volumes supplied by the recently formed Airgas Merchant Gases, the
Campany purchases incustrial, medical and specialty gases pursuant 1o requirements contracts
from national and regional producers of industrial gases. The Company has a long-term take-or-

@

pay supply agreement, in effect through September 1, 2017, under which Air Products and
Chemicals, Inc. {"Air Products™) will supply at teast 35% of the Company’s bulk liguid nitrogen,
oxygen and argon requirements, exclusive of the volumes produced by the Company and those
purchased under the Linde supply agreements noted below. Additionally, the Company purchases
helium under the terms of the supply agreement. Based on 1he volume of fiscal 2007 purchases,
the Air Products supply agreement represents approximately $50 million annually in liquid bulk
gas putchases. The purchase commitments for future periods contained in the table above reflect
estimates based on fiscal 2007 purchases.

The Company and Linde AG as successar to BOC entered into a long-term take-or-pay supply
agreement to purchase axygen, nitrogen and argon. The agreement will expire in July 2019 and
tepresents approximately $3 million in annual bulk gas purchases. In September and October
2006, the Company and Linde AG entered into long-term take-or-pay supply agreements {c pur-
chase helium, The total annual commitment amount under the Linde agreements is approximately
$28 miilion.

The Company also participates in a long-term agreement with Praxair to swap production of bulk
nitrogen, oxygen, and argon through 204, The Praxair agreement represents approximately $7
millon annually.

The supply agreements above contain periadic adjustments based on certain economic indices
angd market analysis. The Company believes the minimum preduct putchases under the agree-
ments are within the Company's normal product purchases. Actual purchases in future periods
under the supply agreemenms coutd differ materially from those presented in the 1able due 1o fuc-
tuations in demand requirements related 1o varying sales levels as well as ¢hanges in economic
conditions.

The Company is a party to long-term take-or-pay supply agreements for the purchase of liquid
carbon dioxide. The aggregate obligations under the supply agreements represeni approximaiely
20% of the Company's annual carbon dicxide requirements, The purchase commitments for future
periods contained in the table above reflect estimates based on fiscal 2007 purchases. The
Company believes the minimum product purchases under the agreements are within the
Company's narmal product purchases. Actual purchases in futoze periods under the carbon diox-
ide supply agreements could differ materially from those presented in the table due to
fluctuations in demand requirements related to varying safes levels as well as changes in eco-
nomic conditions. Certain of the liguid carbon dioxide supply agreements contain market prcing
subject to certain economic indices.

{10} The Company purchases ammonia from a variety of sources. With one of those sources, the

Cempany has minimum purchase commitments under supply agreements, which is perpetua!
pending a 180-day written notification of termination from either party.

{11) Other purchase commitments primarily indude property, plant and equipment expendstures.

{12) Consiruction commiimenis represent oulstanding commitments to customers to build and oper-

ate air separation plants in Carroliton, KY and New Carlisle, IN. The projects are expected to begin
operating in the spring of 2009.

ER
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for
Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments — an amendment of FASB
Statements No. 133 and 140 (“SFAS 1557}, SFAS 155 addresses the
application of SFAS 133 to beneficial interests in securitized
financial assets. SFAS 155 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after September 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS 155 and has not yet determined the impact
on its consolidated financial statements.

In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for
Servicing of Financial Assets — an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 140 (“SFAS 156”). SFAS 156 requires that an entity recognize a
servicing asset or liability each time it undertakes an obligation to
service a financial asset by entering into a service contract under
certain situations. SFAS 156 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after September 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS 156 and has not yet determined the impact
on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2006, the FASB issued EITF No. 06-3, How Taxes Collected
from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should
Be Presented in the Income Statement (“EITF 06-3"). EITF 06-3
requires companies to disclose the presentation of any tax assessed
by a governmental authority that is directly imposed on a revenue-
producing transaction between a seller and a customer {e.g. sales
and use tax) as either gross or net in the accounting principles
included in the notes to the financial statements. EITF 06-3 is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2006. The Company will disclese its policy when EITF 06-3

is adopted.

In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48"},
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes
detailed guidance for the financial statement recognition,
measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions in an
enterprise’s financial statements. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected
to be taken in a tax return. Tax positions must meet a more-likely-
than-not recognition threshold at the effective date in order to be
recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent
periods. FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2006 and the provisions of FIN 48
will be applied to all tax positions accounted for under FASB
Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, upon initial
adoption. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN
48 will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained earnings in the period of adoption, The Company has not
completed its final assessment of the impact of FIN 48, but
adoption is not expected to have a significant impact on the
consclidated financial statements.
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In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value
Measurements {“SFAS No. 157™). This standard defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
expands disclosure about fair value measurements. SFAS 157
applies to the fair value requirements as applicable in other
accounting standards that require or permit fair value
measurements. Accordingly, this statement does not require any
new fair value measurerment. SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the
requirements of SFAS 157 and has not yet determined the impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

In February of 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-Including an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS 1597). SFAS 159
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments
and certain other items at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses
on items for which the fair value option has been elected will be
recognized in earnings at each subsequent reporting date, SFAS
159 is effective as of the beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year
that begins after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently
evaluating the requirements of SFAS 159 and has not yet
determined the impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Forward-looking Statements

This report contains statements that are forward looking within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. These statements include, but are not limited to, statements
regarding: the closing of the pending acquisition of Linde’s U.S.
packaged gas business and the related financing of the acquisition
under the Company's Credit Facility; the Company’s belief that
fiscal 2008 will be another productive year; the expansion of the
industrial economy in fiscal 2008; the Company’s estimate of net
earnings of $2.33 to $2.41 per diluted share for fiscal 2008 and
$0.52 to $0.54 per diluted share in the first quarter of fiscal 2008;
a supportive sales environment in fiscal 2008 and continued
success of pricing actions designed to offset rising costs; the
Company’s expectation that Linde’s packaged gas business will be
a significant contributor to fiscal 2008 sales growth and will be
slightly accretive to earnings in the first twelve months of
operation; the expectation that fiscal 2007 acquisitions will
contribute more than $200 miilion to the Distribution segment’s
sales growth in fiscal 2008; the expectation that the Linde bulk gas
business will improve the Company’s consolidated fiscal 2008
operating income and operating margin; the expectation that the
fiscal 2007 acquisitions will contribute approximately $55 miliion
to fiscal year 2008 sales growth in the All Other Operations
segment; the expectation that the most significant contributor to
the All Other Operations sales growth in fiscal 2008 will be Airgas
Merchant Gases; the expectation that third-party sales from the
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fiscal 2007 acquisitions of CFC Refimax and the Linde U.S,
packaged business 1o be transferred to National Welders will
contribute to fiscal 2008 sales growth it the All Other Operations
segment; the expectation that fiscal 2008 operating income and the
operating income margin will improve, principally in the
Distribution segment; the expectation 1hat Airgas Merchant Gases
will have a lower operating income margin than the other
businesses in the All Other Operations segment; interest savings
from the fiscal 2007 refinancings; the ability of the Company to
manage its exposure to interest rate risk through participation in
interest rate swap agreements; the Company's estimate that for
every 25 basis point increase in LIBOR, annual interest expense
will increase approximately $3 million; the expectation that the
overall effective tax rate for fiscal 2008 will range from 39% to
39.5% of pre-tax earnings; the expectation that fiscal 2008 capital
expenditures will be approximately 7% of net sales; the ongoing
annual expense resulting from the adoption of FIN 47 will not be
material; the future payment of dividends; the continued use of
cash flow for investing in growth opportunities, future
acquisitions, paying down debt and growing the dividend; the
Company’s ability to identify acquisition opportunities and
expand its business; the ability of National Welders to secure the
necessary financing to acquire their portion of Linde’s packaged
gas business; the Company’s belief that it could obtain financing at
reasonable terms in excess of amounts available under its Credit
Facility; the performance of counterparties under interest rate
swap agreements; the Company’s low concentration of credit risk
associated with its customers; the reasonableness and accuracy of
estimates of the implied fair value of the Company’s reporting
units; the Company’s belief that future goodwill impairment
would not result from changes in the assumptions utilized in the
annual impairment analysis; the estimated ultimate loss related to
the Company’s self-insured retention; the estimate of future
interest and principal payments for financial instruments
contained in “Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet
Arrangements”; the Company’s estimates of purchase
commitments associated with product supply agreements and the
belief that the minimum product purchases under the agreements
are within the Company’s normal product purchases; and the
Company’s cost estimates and in-service dates associated with the
construction of certain air separation plants.

These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties.
Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those predicted in any forward-looking statement include, but are
not limited to: the inability to close the acquisition of Linde’s U.S.
packaged gas business; dilution to earnings from Linde’s packaged
gas business or Linde’s bulk gas business; the impact on sales
growth, operating income and operating income margin that
differs from the Company’s estimates resulting from, among other

Airgas, Inc. P4

things, the loss of customers, integration problems and higher
than expected expenses; the inability of National Welders to obtain
additional financing due to debt covenants, credit risk, and other
factors, that prevent it from purchasing its portion of the Linde
packaged gas business; an economic downturn {including adverse
changes in the specific markets for the Company’s products);
higher or lower interest savings from the fiscal 2007 refinancings
versus the Company’s estimates due to higher interest rates and/or
a change in the Company’s credit rating; higher or lower capital
expenditures versus the Company’s estimate resulting from
available cash flow, the completion of capital projects, and other
factors; adverse customer response 1o the Company’s products
and/or the inability to identify products that will grow at a faster
rate than the overall economy; the identification of new asset
retirement obligations and/or the valuation of asset retirement
obligations in future periods and the effect on the materiality of
FIN 47 to the financial statements; the inability to identify
acquisition candidates and consummate and successfully integrate
acquisitions; rising product costs and the inability to pass those
costs on to custamers and the impact on gross profit margin;
customer acceptance of price increases; the inability to obtain
alternate supply sources of hardgoods products; higher than
estimated interest expense resulting from increases in LIBOR
and/or changes in the Company’s credit rating; the inability to
obtain alternative supply sources to adequately meet customer
demand and the effect on customer relationships; the Company’s
inability to control operating expenses and the potential impact of
higher operating expenses in future periods; adverse changes in
customer buying patterns; disruption to the Company’s business
from integration problems associated with acquisitions; a lack of
available cash flow necessary to pay future dividends; changes in
the Company’s debt levels and/or credit rating, which prevent the
Company from arranging additional financing; the inability to
manage interest rate exposure; defaults by counterparties under
interest rate swap agreements; the effects of competition from
independent distributors and vertically integrated gas producers
on products, pricing and sales growth; future goodwill impairment
due to changes in assumptions used in the annual impairment
analysis; changes in actuarial assumptions and their impact on the
ultimate loss related to the Company’s self-insured retention;
changes in customer demand and the impact on the Company’s
ability to meet minimum purchases under take-or-pay supply
agreements; uncertainties regarding accidents or litigation, which
may arise in the ordinary course of business; and the effects of,
and changes in, the economy, monetary and fiscal policies, laws
and regulations, inflation and monetary fluctuations and
fluctuations in interest rates, both on a national and international
basis. The Company does not undertake to update any forward-
looking statement made herein or that may be made from time to
time by or on behalf of the Company.
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Statement of Management’s Financial Responsibility

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company™)
has prepared and is responsible for the consolidated financial
statements and related financial information in this Annual
Report. The statements are prepared in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. The financial statements
reflect management’s informed judgment and estimation as

to the effect of events and transactions that are accounted for

or disclosed.

Management maintains a system of internal control, which
includes internal control over financial reporting, at each business
unit. However, this system of internal control does not extend to
the Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders Supply
Company, Inc. (“National Welders”). As disclosed in Note 15 to the
accompanying financial statements, National Welders is a joint
venture formed in 1996 that has been consolidated since the
Company adopted FASB Interpretation No., 46R, Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, on December 31, 2003. Although the
Company does receive audited financial statements for National
Welders, the joint venture agreement does not permit the
Company to dictate, modify or assess the effectiveness of the
internal controls of National Welders. The Company acquired the
U.S. bulk gas business of Linde AG (“Linde”) on March 9, 2007,
and management excluded Linde’s internal control over financial
reporting from its assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of March
31, 2007. The Company’s system of internal control is designed to
provide reasonable assurance that records are maintained in
reasonable detail to properly reflect transactions and permit the
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, that transactions are
executed in accordance with management’s and the Board of
Directors’ authorization, and that unauthorized transactions are
prevented or detected on a timely basis such that they could not
materially affect the financial statements. The Company also
maintains a staff of internal auditors who review and evaluate the
system of internal contrel on a continual basis. In determining the
extent of the system of internal control, management recognizes
that the cost should not exceed the benefits derived. The
evaluation of these factors requires estimates and judgment by
management.
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Management has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting, as of March 31, 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission, Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting, which does not extend to the
internal control of National Welders or the acquired U.S. bulk gas
business of Linde, is included herein. KPMG LLP, an Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, has also audited management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting, as well as the Company’s financial
statements. The Reports of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm, which express opinions on both management’s
assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting and the fair presentation of the Company’s financial
position at March 31, 2007 and 2006 and the results of operations
and cash flows for the three-year period ended March 31, 2007,
appear herein.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting solely
of independent Directors, meets regularly (jointly and separately)
with the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, the
internal auditors and management to satisfy itself that they are
properly discharging their responsibilities. The Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm has direct access to the Audit
Committee.

Airgas, Inc.

(o

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

May 29, 2007




Management's Report on Internal Control Over

Financial Reporting

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Management of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is
responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system
of internal control over financial reporting. This responsibility,
however, does not extend to the Company’s consolidated affiliate,
National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National Welders”),
which represented approximately 9% of total assets and 7% of net
sales. The system of internal control over financial reporting of
National Welders, which has been consolidated by the Company
since the December 31, 2003 adoption of FASB Interpretation No.
46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, is the responsibility
of National Welders” management. Although the Company does
receive audited financial statements for National Welders, the joint
venture agreement does not permit the Company to dictate,
modify or assess the effectiveness of the internal controls of
National Welders and the Company does not, in practice, have the
ability to assess those controls. Accordingly, management’s
assessment of internal control has been limited to the system of
internal control of Airgas, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The Company
acquired the U.S. bulk gas business of Linde AG (“Linde”} on
March 9, 2007, and management excluded Linde’s internal control
over financial reporting from its assessment of the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2007.

Airgas, Inc. iy

Management, under the supervision and with the participation of
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, conducted an assessment of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on the framework
established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission in [nternal Control — Integrated
Framework. Based on this assessment, management concluded
that, as of March 31, 2007, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting was effective. KPMG LLP, an [ndependent
Registered Public Accounting Firm, as stated in their report,
has audited management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2007.

Airgas, Inc,

(B

Peter McCausland
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Cont M A bpet—
Robert M. McLaughlin
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

May 29, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying censolidated balance sheet of
Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of March 31, 2007
and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of earnings,
cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of

the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2007. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of

the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express

an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based

on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstaternent. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of March 31, 2007 and 2006, and
the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2007, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
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As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123R, Share-Based Payment,
using the modified prospective transition method, effective April

1, 2006 and Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements, effective April 1, 2006, Effective March 31, 2006, the
Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. (FIN) 47, Accounting
for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations an interpretation of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal ¢control over

financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, based on criterta
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSQ), and our report dated May 29, 2007,
expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment
of, and the effective operation of, internal control over

financial reporting.

KPMe P

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

May 29, 2007




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

The Beard of Directors and Stockholders
Airgas, Inc.:

We have audited management'’s assessment, included in the
accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting appearing herein, that Airgas, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the Company) maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, based on c¢riteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COS50). The Company’s management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility 1s 1o express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances, We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain
to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and {3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Airgas, Inc. FRLUKY

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
March 31, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of March 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in fnternal Control-Integrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COS0).

Management’s assessment did not extend to the Company’s
consolidated affiliate, National Welders Supply Company, Inc.
(National Welders), which has been consolidated by the Company
in accordance with FIN 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities. National Welders’ total assets and net sales represent 9%
and 7%, respectively, of the related consolidated amounts as of and
for the year ended March 31, 2007. Although the Company does
receive audited financial statements for National Welders, the joint
venture agreement does not permit the Company to dictate,
modify or assess the effectiveness of the internal controls of
National Welders and the Company does not have the ability in
practice to assess those contrels. Management’s assessment also
did not extend to the U.S. bulk gas business of Linde AG, which
was acquired on March 9, 2007, and whose financial statements
constitute approximately 15% of total assets and less than 1% of
revenues and net income as of and for the year ended March 31,
2007. Our audit of internal control aver financial reporting of
Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries also excluded an evaluation of the
internal control over financial reporting of National Welders and
the U.5. bulk gas business of Linde AG.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
March 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements
of earnings, cash flows, and changes in stockholders’ equity for
each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2007
and our report dated May 29, 2007, expressed an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements,

KKPMe WP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

May 29, 2067
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings
Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005
Net Sales $ 3,205,051 . $ 2,829,610 $ 2,367,782
Cost and Expenses ‘
Cost of products sold {excluding depreciation expense) 1,567,090 ¢ 1,401,978 1,151,782
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses 1,149,166 1,031,332 902,468
Depreciation 138,818 122,396 105,614
Amortization (Note 7) 8,525 5,146 5,464

Total costs and expenses 2,863,599 2,560,852 2,165,328
Operating Income 341,452 | 268,758 202,454
Interest expense, net {Note 16) (60,180} (53,812) (51,245)
Discount on securitization of trade receivables (Note 12} {13,630}, (9.371) 4,711)
Loss on the extinguishment of debt (Note 9) {12,099)! — -
Other income, net 1,601 . 2,462 1,129

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes, ‘

minority interest and change in accounting principle 257,144 208,037 147,627

Income taxes {Note 17) (99,883) (77,866) (54,261}
Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affiliate (Note 15} (2,845) (2.656) {1,808}
Income from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of

a change in accounting principle 154,416 127,515 91,558
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 3) — {1,424} 464
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax (Note 2) — {2,540) —
Net Earnings $ 154,416 § 123,551 $ 92,022
Net Earnings Per Common Share (Note 4)
Basic

Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of .

a change in accounting principle 3 1.98 $ 1.66 $ 1.22
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations _ (0.02) 0.01
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — (0.03) —
Met earnings per share 3 1.98 $ 1.61 $ 1.23

Diluted .
Earnings from continuing operations before the cumulative effect of !

a change in accounting principle '3 1.92 $ 1.62 $ 1.19
Earnings (loss} from discontinued operations — {0.02) 0.01
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle - (0.03) —
Net earnings per share $ 1.92 $ 1.57 $ 1.20

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic _ 78,025 76,624 74,911
Dituted 82,566 81,152 76,957
Comprehensive income $ 153,848 . $ 125,693 $ 97,197
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

{In thousands, except per share amounis)

Airgas, Inc.

March 31, 2007 2006
Assets

Current Assets

Cash $ 25,931 $ 34,985
Trade receivables, less allowances for doubtiul accounts of $15,692 in 2007

and $14,782 in 2006 (Note 12) 193,664 132,245
Inventories, net {(Note 5) 250,308 228,523
Deferred income tax asset, net {Note 17} 31,004 30,141
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 48,592 31,622

Totat current assets 549,499 458,516
Plant and equipment at cost (Note 6) 2,755,747 2,191,673
Less accumulated depreciation {890,329) {792,918)

Plant and eguipment, net 1,865,418 1,398,757
Goodwill (Note 7) 832,162 566,074
Other intangible assets, net (Note 7) 62,935 26,248
Other non-current assets 23,443 24,817

Total assets § 3,333,457 3 2474412
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounis payable, trade 3 146,385 $ 143,752
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities {Note 8) 241,275 200,001
Current portion of lang-term debt (Note 9) 40,296 131,907

Total current liabilities 427,956 475,654
Leng-term debt, excluding current portion (Note 9) 1,309,719 635,726
Deferred income tax liability, net {Note 17) 373,246 327,818
Other non-current liabilities 39,963 30,864
Minority interest in affiliate {Note 15} 57,191 57,19%
Commitrents and contingencies {Note 21)

Stockholders’ Equity {(Note 13}
Preferred stock, no par value, 2C,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding in 2007 and 2006 — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 200,000 shares authorized,

79,960 and 78,569 shares issued in 2007 and 2006, respectively 799 786
Capital in excess of par value 341,101 289,598
Retained earnings 792,433 665,158
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,183 4,751
Treasury stock 1,292 common shares at cost at March 31, 2007 and 2006 (13,134) (13,134)

Total stockholders’' equity 1,125,382 947,159

Total liabilities and stockholders” equity $ 3,333,457 $ 2,474,412

See uccompanying notes to censolidated financiaf statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidfaries

Years Ended March 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

Airgas, Inc. LN

Shares of
Common
Stock $0.01

{In thousands) Par Value

Common
Stack

Capitat in
Excess of
Par Value

Accumulated
Other

Retained Comprehensive

Earnings

Income {Loss)

Treasury
Stock

Employee
Benefits Comprehensiva
Trust Income

Balance — March 31, 2004 77,159
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised (Nate 14} 308
Shares issued from treasury stock associated
with warrants exercised (Note 13)
Dividends paid on commoen stock
($0.18 per share) {Note 13)
Tax benefit associated with exercise
of stock options and warrants
Shares issued from Employee Benefits Trust
for Employee Stock Purchase Plan {(Note 14)
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreements
Net change in fair value of National welders’
interest rate swap agreement
Net tax expense of comprehensive income items

$772

§233,574

10,278

(893)

8,435

5,648

$481,677

92,022

{13,643)

$ (2,566)

2,314

2,894

1,583
(1,616}

$ {4,658)

893

1 (16,898)

$ 92,022
2,312

10,095

4,258

2,894

1,583
{1,616)

Balance - March 31, 2005 77,467
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised (Note 14} 570
Purchase of treasury stock {(Note 13)
Dividends paid on common stock
(30.24 per share) {Note 13)
Tax benefit associated with exercise
of stock options
Shares issued in connection with the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Note 14) 532
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreements (Note 10}
Net change in fair value of National Welders’
interest rate swap agreement {Note 10)
Net tax expense of comprehensive income items

$775

$257,042

14,136

7,891

10,529

$560,056

123,551

{18,449)

3 2609

1.012

867

885
{622)

§ (3.765)

3,402
(12,771)

T @5 391197

123,551%
1,012

2,545

867

885
(622)

Batance — March 31, 2006 78,569
Cumulative adjustment 1o retained earnings for
adoption of SAB 108, net of tax (Note 2)
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjusiment
Shares issued in connection with
stock options exercised (Note 14) 960
Dividends paid on common stock
{$0.28 per share) (Note 13)
Tax benefit associated with exercise
of stock options
Shares issued in connection with the
Employee Stock Purchase Plan {Note 14) 431
Expense related to stock-based compensation
Net change in fair value of interest rate swap
agreements (Note 10}
Net change in fair value of National Welders’
interest rate swap agreement {(Note 10)
Net tax benefit of comprehensive income items

$ 786

$289,598

15,097

9,013

11,948
15,445

$665,158

{5.161)
154,416

(21,980}

3 4751

(1,222)

372
280

$(13,134)

% —_—

$125,693

154,436
2

(1,222),

372
280

Balance — March 31, 2007 79,960

$ 799

$341,101

$752,433

$ 4,183

$(13,134)

]

— $153,848
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Aurgas, Ing. and Subsidiaries

Airgas, Inc. [ZHXZA

Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 154,416 $ 123,551 3 92,022
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation 138,818 122,396 105,614
Amortization 8,525 5,146 5,464
Deferred income taxes 51,911 47,148 31,639
Loss (gain} on divestiture — 1,9C0 (360)
Loss {gain) on sales of plant and equipment 39 (1,330 (321)
Minority interest in earnings 2,845 2,656 1,808
Stock-based compensation expense 15,445 —_ —
Loss on debt extinguishment 12,099 — —
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — 2,540 —
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding effects of business
acquisitions and divestitures:
Securitization of trade receivables 20,200 54,300 27,300
Trade receivables, net (37,687) (17,021} {39,583)
Inventories, net (1,491) {14,087} (32,356)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (23,326) 12,603 (8,149)
Accounts payable, trade (23,351) 1,533 27,984
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 266 9,323 {574)
QOther non-current assets 1,808 3,340 4,107
QOther non-current liabilities {2,363) (2,363) (2,185)
Net cash provided by cperating activities 318,155 351,635 212,410
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (243,583) {214,193) {167,977)
Proceeds from sales of plant and equipment 8,685 8,202 5,361
Proceeds from divestitures — 14,562 828
Business acquisitions and holdback settlements (687,892) {153,428) (191,820)
Other, net (474} 170 171
Net cash used in investing activities (923,264} (344.,687) (353,437)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings 1,591,464 568,379 621,450
Repayment of debt (1,008,186) (606,532) (494,684)
Purchase of treasury stock — (12,771) —
Financing costs (5,103) — (2,531}
Premium paid on call of senior subordinated notes (10,267) — —
Termination cf interest rate hedge — — 3,848
Minority interest in earnings (2,845) (2,656) (1,808)
Minority stockholder note prepayment — 21,000 —
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 15,107 19,707 20,374
Stock issued for emplayee stock purchase plan 11,951 10,534 9,807
Tax benefit realized from the exercise of stock options 9,013 — —
Dividends paid to stockholders (21,980) {18,449) (13,643)
Cash overdraf 16,901 16,185 5,592
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 596,055 (4,603) 148,605
Change in Cash $ (9,054) $ 2,345 $ 7.578
Cash — Beginning of year 34,985 32,640 25,062
Cash - End of year $ 25,931 $ 34,985 $ 32,640

For supplemental cash flow disclosures see Note 22,
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consalidated Financial Statements

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Note 1
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Description of the Business

Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries {“Airgas” or the “Company”} became
a publicly traded company on The New York Stock Exchange in
1986. Since its inception, the Company has made over 350 acquisi-
tions to become the largest U.S. distributor of industrial, medical,
and specialty gases, and hardgoods, such as welding equipment
and supplies. Airgas is also the third-largest U.S. distributor of
safety products, the largest U.S. producer of nitrous oxide and dry
ice, the largest liquid carbon dioxide producer in the Southeast,
and a leading distributor of process chemicals, refrigerants, and
ammonia products. More than 11,500 employees work in over 900
locations including branches, retail stores, gas fill plants, specialty
gas labs, production facilities and distribution centers. Airgas mar-
kets its products and services to its diversified customer base
through multiple sales channels including branch-based sales rep-
resentatives, retail stores, strategic customer account programs,
telesales, catalogs, eBusiness and independent distributors.

(b} Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of
Airgas, Inc. and subsidiaries, as well as the Company’s consolidated
affiliate, National Welders Supply Company, Inc. (“National
Welders™) (see Note 15). Intercompany accounts and transactions,
including those between the Company and National Welders, are
eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has made estimates and assumptions relating to the
reporting of assets and liabilities and disclosure of centingent
assets and liabilities to prepare these statements in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, Estimates are
used for, but not limited to, determining the net carrying value of
trade receivables, vendor rebates, inventories, plant and
equipment, goodwill, other intangible assets, asset retirement
obligations, business and health insurance reserves, loss
contingencies and deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

(c) Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial
statements to conform to the current presentation.

(d) Cash and Cash Overdraft

On a daily basis, all available funds are swept from depository
accournts into a concentration account and used to repay debt
under the Company’s revolving credit facilities. Cash principally
represents the balance of customer checks that have not yet cleared
through the banking system and become available to be swept into
the concentration account, and deposits made subsequent to the
daily cash sweep. The Company does not fund its disbursement
accounts for checks it has written until the checks are presented to
the bank for payment. Cash overdrafts represent the balance of
outstanding checks and are classified with other current liabilities.
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There are no compensating balance requirements or other
restrictions on the transfer of cash associated with the Company’s
depository accounts.

(e) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts,
which includes sales returns, sales allowances, and bad debts. The
allowance adjusts the carrying value of trade receivables to fair
value based on estimates of accounts that will not ultimately be
collected. An allowance for doubtful accounts is generally
established as trade receivables age beyond their due date. As past
due balances age, higher valuation allowances are established
lowering the net carrying value of receivables. The amount of
valuation allowance established for each past due period reflects
the Company’s historical collections experience and current
economic conditions and trends. The Company also establishes
valuation allowances for specific problem accounts and
bankruptcies. The amounts ultimately collected on past due trade
receivables are subject to numerous factors including general
economic conditions, the condition of the receivable portfolio
assumed in acquisitions, the financial condition of individual
customers, and the terms of reorganization for accounts exiting
bankruptcy. Changes in these conditions impact the Company’s
collection experience and may result in the recognition of higher
or lower valuation allowances.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is
determined using the first-in, first-out {FIFO) method for
approximately 85% of the inventories at March 31, 2007 and 2006.
Cost for the remainder of inventaries is determined using the last-
in, first-out {LIFO) method.

(g} Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method based on the estimated
useful lives of the related assets. The carrying values of long-lived
assets, including plant and equipment, are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the recorded value cannot be recovered from undiscounted
future cash flows. When the book value of an asset exceeds
associated expected future cash flows, it is considered to be
impaired and is written down to fair value, which is determined
based on either future cash flows or appraised values.

(h) Goodwiill, Other Intangible Assets and Deferred

Financing Costs
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of an acquired
entity over the amounts assigned to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually. The
Company has elected to perform its annual tests for indications of
goodwill impairment as of October 31 of each year. As of October
31, 2006 and 2005, the Company’s annual assessment of each of its
reporting units indicated that goodwill was not impaired.
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Other intangible assets primarily include non-competition
agreements and customer lists resulting from business
acquisitions. Both non-competition agreements and customer lists
are vatued using third-party appraisals and are amortized using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which
range from 2 to 11 years. The Company assesses the recoverability
of other intangible assets by determining whether the
amortization of the asset balance can be recovered through
projected undiscounted future cash flows of the related business
over its remaining life.

Financing costs related to the issuance of long-term debt are
deferred and recognized in other long-term assets. Deferred
financing costs are amortized as interest expense over the term of
the related debt instrument.

(i) Asset Retirement Obligations

The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is
recognized in the period when the asset is placed in service. The
fair value of the liability is estimated using discounted cash flows.
In subsequent periods, the retirement obligation is accreted to its
future value or the estimate of the obligation at the asset
retirement date. When the asset is placed in service a
corresponding retirement asset equal to the fair value of the
retirement obligation is also recorded as part of the carrying
amouant of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the
asset’s useful life. Also see Note 2.

(i) Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments,
litigation and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and the amount of the claim,
assessment or damages can be reasonably estimated.

The Company maintains business insurance programs with self-
insured retention, which covers workers’ compensation, business
automobile and general liability claims. The Company accrues
estimated losses using actuarial models and assumptions based on
historical loss experience. The actuarial calculations used to
estimate business insurance reserves are based on numerous
assumptions, some of which are subjective. The Company will
adjust its business insurance reserves, if necessary, in the event
future loss experience differs from historical loss patterns.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under the
plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not
reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,
some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan
participants and an aging employee base.
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(k) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability
method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases and operating loss carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the
enactment date. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce
deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit
will not be realized.

{!) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is
the applicable local currency. The translation of foreign currencies
into U.S. dollars is performed for balance sheet accounts using
current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and for
revenue and expense accounts using average exchange rates during
each reporting period. The gains or losses resulting from such
translations are included in stockholders’ equity as a component of
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” Gains and
losses arising from foreign currency transactions are reflected in
the consolidated statements of earnings as incurred.

{m) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to
concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade
receivables. Concentrations of credit risk are limited due to the
Company’s large number of customers and their dispersion across
many industries throughout North America. Credit terms granted
1o customers are generally net 30 days.

{n} Financial Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure, the Company enters into
interest rate swap agrecments. An interest rate swap is a contrac-
tual exchange of interest payments between two parties. A
standard interest rate swap involves the payment of a fixed rate
times a notional amount by one party in exchange for a floating
rate times the same notional amount from another party. As inter-
est rates change, the difference to be paid or received is accrued
and recognized as interest expense or income over the life of the
agreement. These instruments are not entered into for trading
purposes. Counterparties to the Company’s interest rate swap
agreements are major financial institutions. In accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {“SFAS”) No. 133,
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging
Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 137 and 138, the Company rec-
ognizes interest rate swap agreements on the balance sheet at fair
value. The interest rate swap agreements are marked to market
with changes in fair value recognized in either other comprehen-

43




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

sive income (loss) or in the carrying value of the hedged portions
of fixed rate debt, as applicable.

The carrying amounts for trade receivables and accounts payable
approximate fair value based on the short-term maturity of these
financial instruments,

(o) Employee Benefits Trust

The Company maintained an Employee Benefits Trust to fund
obligations of the Company’s employee benefit and compensation
plans. Shares were purchased by the Employee Benefits Trust from
the Company at fair market value and were reflected as a reduction
of stockholders’ equity. Shares were transferred from the Employee
Benefits Trust to fund compensation and employee benefit obliga-
tions based on the original cost of the shares to the trust. The
satisfaction of compensation and employee benefit plan obliga-
tions was based on the fair value of shares transferred. Differences
between the original cost of the shares to the Employee Benefits
Trust and the fair market value of shares transferred were charged
or ¢redited to capital in excess of par value, During fiscal 2005, the
rematning shares held in the Employee Benefits Trust were used
for employee stock option exercises and the Trust was terminated.

{p) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from sales of gases and hardgoods products is recognized
when products are delivered to customers. Rental fees on cylinders,
cryogenic liquid containers, bulk gas storage tanks and other
equipment are recognized when earned. For cylinder lease agree-
ments in which rental fees are collected in advance, revenues are
deferred and recognized over the terms of the lease agreements.

{q) Cost of Products Sold

Cost of products sold for the Distribution segment principally
consists of direct material costs and freight-in for bulk gas
purchases and hardgoods (welding supplies and equipment, safety
products and supplies}. Maintenance costs associated with
cylinders, cryogenic liquid containers and bulk tanks are also
reflected in cost of products sold.

Cost of products sold for All Other Operations, which produce
much of the gas sold, consists of direct material costs, direct labor,
manufacturing overhead, freight-in and internal transfer costs
associated with the production of gas products.

(r) Selling, Distribution and Administrative Expenses

Selling, distribution and administrative expenses consist of labor
and overhead associated with the purchasing, marketing and
distribution of the Company’s products, as well as costs associated
with a variety of administrative functions such as legal, treasury,
accounting and tax, and facility-related expenses.

(s) Depreciation

The Company determines depreciation expense using the straight-
line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
Company uses accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes
where appropriate. Depreciation expense is recognized on all of
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the Company’s property, plant and equipment in the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings line item “Depreciation.”

(t) Shipping and Handling Fees and Distribution Costs

The Company recognizes delivery and freight charges to customers
as elements of net sales. Costs of third-party freight are recognized
as cost of products sold. The majority of the costs associated with
the distribution of the Company’s products, which include direct
labor and overhead associated with filling, warehousing and
delivery by Company vehicles, is reflected in selling, distribution
and administrative expenses and were $444 million, $395 miilion
and $338 million for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. The Company conducts multiple
operations out of the same facilities and does not allocate facility-
related expenses to each operational function. Accordingly, there is
no facility-related expense in the distribution costs disclosed
above. Depreciation expense associated with the Company’s
delivery fleet of $11 million, $9.4 million and $6.6 million was
recognized in depreciation for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 2
Accounting and Disclosure Changes

SFAS 123 (Revised 2004)

Effective April 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, {“SFAS 123R”), which super-
seded Accounting Principles Board Opinion No, 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, (“APB 257). SFAS 123R requires that
grants of employee stock options, including options to purchase
shares under employee stock purchase plans, be recognized as
compensation expense based on their fair values. The Company
adopted SFAS 123R using the “modified prospective” methed in
which compensation cost is recognized from the date of adoption
forward for both new awards and the portion of any previously
granted awards that vest after the date of adoption.

Prior periods are not restated under the modified prospective
method of adoption, Prior to April 1, 2006, the Company
accounted for its stock-based compensation using the intrinsic
value method outlined in APB 25, which provides that
compensation expense is recorded on the date of grant only if the
current market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise
price. See Note 14 for additional disclosures associated with the
adoption of SFAS 123R.

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
{“FASB™) issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. FAS 123(R)-3,
Transition Election Related to Accounting for the Tax Effects of
Share-Based Payment Awards. This FSP provides an elective alter-
native simplified (“shortcut™) method for calculating the pool of
excess tax benefits (the “APIC pool”) available to absorb tax defi-
ciencies recognized subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 123R and
reported in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. The short-
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cut methed includes simplified procedures to establish the begin-
ning balance of the APIC pool and to determine the subsequent
effect on the APIC pool and the Statement of Cash Flows of the tax
effects of employee stock-based compensation awards that were
outstanding upon adoption of SFAS 123R. The Company has
elected to adopt the shortcut method established by the FSP.

SFAS 151

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Iuventory Costs,
as an amendment to the guidance provided on Inventory Pricing in
FASB Accounting Research Bulletin 43 ("SFAS 1517). SFAS 151
clarifies the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility
expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material. This
statement requires that if the costs associated with the actual level
of spoilage or production defects are greater than the normal
range of spoilage or defects, the excess costs should be charged to
current period expense. The Company adopted SFAS 151 effective
April 1, 2006, as required. Since the Company performs limited
manufacturing, the adoption of SFAS 151 did not have a material
impact on its results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

5FAS 153

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153, Exchanges of
Nonmonetary Assets, as an amendment to Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nenmonetary Transactions
(“SFAS 153"). SFAS 153 requires nonmonetary exchanges to be
accounted for at fair value, recognizing any gains or losses, if the
fatr value is determinable within reasonable limits and the
transaction has commercial substance. The Company adopted
SFAS 153 effective April 1, 2006, as required. The adoption of SFAS
153 did not have a material impact on its results of operations,
financial position er liquidity.

SFAS 154

On September 1, 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections (“SFAS 1547), which requires
retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of
voluntary changes in accounting principle, unless it is impractical
1o do so. The Company adopted SFAS 154 effective April 1, 2006,
as required.

SAB 108

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bultetin

No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements,
(“SAB 108”). SAB 108 provides interpretive guidance on how the
effects of the carryover or reversal of prior year misstatements
should be considered in quantifying a current year misstatement.
Prior to SAB 108, either a balance sheet approach (“iron curtain™)
or an income statement approach (“rollover”) was utilized 10
quantify the materiality of misstatements. Although cither
approach could result in a different conclusion about materiality,
both approaches were acceptable. Under SAB 108, both the balance
sheet and the income statement appreach must be considered
when evaluating the materiality of misstatements.
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The Company adopted SAB 108 as of March 31, 2007, as required.
Prior to adoption, the Company used the income statement
approach in which only the cffect of misstatements on the carrent
year's consolidated statement of earnings was considered. Thus,
the effect of correcting the balance sheet for misstatements that
originated in prior years was not considered. Upon adoption of
SAB 108, the Company applied both the balance sheet and income
statement approaches to assess the effect of misstatements,
regardless of when they originated. As a result of this dual
approach, the Company corrected two cumulative misstatements,
which included accounting for real estate lease expense and
deferred cylinder rental income associated with cylinder leases
with a term of onc year or less.

The adjustment for real estate leasc expense was recorded to
change a non-GAAP accounting policy for rent expense that his-
torically was recognized as paid. Under SFAS 13, Accounting for
Leases, when a lease contains fixed rent escalation terms, rent
expense should be recorded using a straight-line method over the
term of the lease. This effectively spreads contractual rental escala-
tions stated in the lease agreements evenly aver the lease term.

The adjustment for deferred cylinder rental income was recorded
to change a non-GAAP accounting policy and establish a liability
for deferred cylinder rental revenue associated with rental agree-
ments with customers for periods of one vear or less. Historically,
the Company recognized revenue from these agreements when
rent was billed rather than over the term of the agreement.

In accordance with SAB 108, the cumulative effect adjustment of
these accounting changes was recorded to beginning retained
earnings as of April |, 2006. The accounting changes are not
expected to have a material affect on future earnings. The table
below summarizes the effect on the Company’s April 1, 2006
balance sheet:

Beginning
Straight-Line Retained
Deferred Real Estate Earnings
Cylinder Rent Leases Balance
(In thousands) Dr (Cr} Dr{Cr) Dr {Cr}
Beginning Retained Earnings
as of April 1, 2006 $ (665,158)
Deferred Tax Asset 3 5,581 3 — (5,581}
Goodwill 5.351 — {5.351)
Accrued Real Estate Leases — (3,269} 3,269
Deferred Cylinder
Rental Income (14,091) —— 14,091
Long-Term Portion Deferred
Tax Liability — 1,267 (1,267)
Cumulative Adjustment to
Beginning Retained Earnings 5,161

Adjusted Beginning
Retained Earnings as of

April 1, 2006 $ (659,997)
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FASB Financial interpretation No. 47

Effective March 31, 2006, the Company adopted FASB
Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement
Obligations, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143, ("FIN
47™). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement
obligation refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement
activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are
conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the
control of the entity. The obligation to perform the asset
retirement activity is unconditional even though uncertainty exists
around the timing or method of settlement. FIN 47 also provides
guidance on estimating an asset retirement obligation’s fair value,
as required under SFAS 143, and clarifies when an entity has
sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an
asset retirement obligation.

In accordance with the adoption of FIN 47 at March 31, 2006, the
Company recognized a $6 million non-current liability for asset
retirement obligations and $1.9 million in capitalizable costs net of
accumulated depreciation. A charge of $2.5 million, net of a
deferred tax benefit of $1.6 million, was also recorded as the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. The
Company's asset retirement obligations are primarily associated
with requirements to remove bulk gas storage tanks from customer
locations upon the termination of gas supply contracts and from
leased facilities upon the termination of lease agreements. The
ongoing expense on an annual basis resulting from the adoption of
FIN 47 is not material,

Note 3
Acquisitions and Divestitures

{(a) Acquisitions

Acquisitions have been recorded using the purchase method of
accounting and, accordingly, results of their operations have been
included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements since
the effective date of each respective acquisition.

Fiscal 2007

During fiscal 2007, the Company purchased 13 businesses. The
largest of the acquisitions was the U.S. bulk gas business of Linde,
purchased March 9, 2007, The acquisition included eight air
separation units and related bulk gas business with about 300
employees and approximate annual revenues of $169 million, net
of sales to the Company. With the acquisition, the Company
formed a new business unit, Airgas Merchant Gases, to manage
production, distribution and administrative functions for the air
separation plants. In connection with the transaction, most of the
acquired bulk gas customers and related service equipment were
transferred to existing Distribution business units. Airgas
Merchant Gases will operate principally as an internal supplier to
the business units in the Distribution business segment. The
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operations of Airgas Merchant Gases have been included in the All
Other QOperations business segment. Also included in the All Other
Operations business segment are the specialty gas business
acquired from the Union Industrial Gas Group and the refrigerant
products and services business acquired from CFC Refimax, LLC,
with combined annual revenues of approximately $27 million. The
acquisitions were integrated into the operations of Airgas Specialty
Gases and Airgas Specialty Products, respectively. The remaining
current year acquisitions, with annual revenues of approximately
$140 million, were assumed by regional operating companies in
the Distribution business segment. The Company acquired the
businesses to expand its geographic coverage and strengthen its
national network of branch-store locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

‘The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2007 acquisitions and the
settlement of holdback liabilities associated with certain prior year
acquisitions was $688 million. The Company negotiated the
respective purchase prices of the businesses based on the expected
cash flows to be derived from their operations after integration
into the Company. The purchase price of each acquired business
was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on their estimated fair values as of the dates of each respective
acquisition. The purchase price allocations were based on
preliminary estimates of fair value and are subject to revision as
the Company finalizes appraisals and other analyses. In addition,
the purchase agreement provides that for federal income tax
purposes Linde and the Company agree on the purchase price
allocation within 180 days from the acquisition closing date.
Therefore, the final purchase price allocation may differ from the
amounts included in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Goodwill associated with the fiscal 2007 acquisitions is
deductible for income taxes. The table below summarizes the
allocation of purchase price of all fiscal 2007 acquisitions as well as
adjustments related to prior year acquisitions. Transaction costs of
approximately $5 million associated with the Linde bulk gas
acquisition are reflected in current liabilities below.

Linde Bulk Gas Remaining
Acquisition Acquisitions
All Other All Other
Distribution Operations Distribution Operations
{In thousands) Segment  Segment  Segment  Segment Total

Current assets, net $ 18220 ¢ 8704 § 26694 § 9745 § 63,363
Property and equipmemnt 79,471 222,917 66,572 1,653 370,613

Goodwill 86,705 80,215 70,194 23,480 260,594
Other intangible assets 12,715 3,985 20,400 7,442 44,542
Current liabilities (70)  {16,184) {23,303} 264 (39,293)
Long-term liabilities (1,491) (377) (5,682) 4,377) {11,927
Total cash
consideration $195,550 $299.260 $154,875 § 38,207 §£87,892
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Pro Forma Operating Results

The following presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if
the fiscal 2007 and 2006 acquisitions had occurred on April 1,
2005. The pro forma results were prepared from financial
information obtained during the due diligence process associated
with the acquisttions. Pro forma adjustiments to the historic
financial information of businesses acquired were limited to those
related to the Company’s stepped-up basis in acquired assets and
adjustments to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The
pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes
only and do not purport to be indicative of what would have
occurred had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2005 or of
results that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 31,
(In thousands, except per share amoun!s) 2007 20086
Net sales $ 3,449,150 $ 3,188,787
Net earnings 162,029 128,302
Diluted earnings per share 3 2.01 3 1.63
Fiscal 2006

During fiscal 2006, the Company purchased 13 businesses
(including three businesses acquired by National Welders)
associated with the distribution of packaged gases and related
hardgoods products, dry ice, and anhydrous ammonia. The largest
of the acquisitions included that of the Industrial Products
Division of LaRoche Industries (“LaRoche™), a leading distributor
of anhydrous ammonia and retated services in the U.S. The
anhydrous ammonia business acquired from LaRoche in June 2005
generated aggregate annual revenues of approximately $65 million.
The LaRoche operations were incorporated into a new business
unit, “Airgas Specialty Products,” that was added to the All Other
Operations business segment. The Company believes the bulk
ammonia customers served by LaRoche represent a cross-selling
opportunity for the Company’s complimentary product lines. In
addition to the LaRoche business, three businesses were acquired
with aggregate annual revenues of approximately $17 million and
were included in the All Other Operations segment. The remaining
nine acquired businesses had aggregate annual revenues of $59
million and were included in the Distribution segment. The
Company acquired the businesses to expand its geographic
coverage and strengthen its national network of branch store
locations.

Purchase Price Allocation

The aggregate cash paid for the fiscal 2006 acquisitions was $128
million. The Company negotiated the respective purchase prices of
the businesses based on the expected cash flows to be derived from
their operations after integration into the Company’s existing
distribution network. The purchase price of each acquired
business was allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
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assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the dates of each
respective acquisition. Approximately $45 million of the purchase
price assigned to goodwill will be deductible for income taxes. The
table below summarizes the allocation of purchase price of all
acquisitions categorized by segment.

All Other
Distribution Operations
{In thousands) Segment Segment Total
Current assets, net $ 13,146 $ 17,045 $ 30191
Property and equipment 23,668 23,757 47,425
Goodwill 21,409 32,723 54,132
Cther intangibie assets 7.328 7,519 14,847
Current liabilities (4,817) (6,926) (11,743}
Long-term liabilities {6,286) (266} (6,552)
Total cash consideration $ 54,448 $ 73,852 $ 128,300

1n additien, during fiscal 2006, the Company paid approximately
$25 million in acquisition-related holdback contingent payments.
The contingent payments included $20 million paid to The BOC
Group, Inc. ("BOC") associated with the July 2004 purchase of
BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business. The contingent consideration
paid to BOC was determined based on the Company achieving
certain financial targets that were set forth in the asset purchase
agreement as well as other factors associated with the transaction.

Pro Forma Operating Results

The following presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if
the fiscal 2006 and 2005 acquisitions had occurred on April 1,
2004. The pro forma results were prepared from financial
informatien obtained during the due diligence process associated
with the acquisitions. Pro forma adjustments to the historic
financial information of businesses acquired were limited to those
related to the Company's stepped-up basis in acquired assets and
adjustments to reflect the Company’s borrowing and tax rates. The
pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes
only and do not purport to be indicative of what would have
occurred had the acquisitions been made as of April 1, 2004 or of
results that may occur in the future.

Unaudited
Years Ended March 33,
(Int thousands, except per share armounts) 2006 2005
Net sales $ 2,884,110 $ 2,645,122
Net earnings 123,444 94,440
Diluted earnings per share 3 1.57 % 1.23
Fiscal 2005

During fiscal 2005, the Company purchased sixteen businesses
(including two businesses acquired by National Welders)
associated with the distribution of packaged gases and related
hardgoods products and dry ice. The largest of the acquisitions
was that of BOC’s U.S. packaged gas business in July 2004. The
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aggregate purchase price of the fiscal 2005 acquisitions was $227
million, including assumed liabilities. Thirteen of the businesses
had aggregate annual revenues of approximately $257 million and
were included in the Distribution segment. Three acquired
businesses generated aggregate annual revenues of approximately
$3 million and were included in the All Other Operations segment.
The Company acquired the businesses to expand its geographic
coverage and strengthen its national network of branch store
locations. Goodwill associated with the fiscal 2005 acquisitions was
deductible for income taxes. The table below summarizes the
allocation of the BOC purchase price as well as the combined
consideration of the fifteen other acquisitions, settlements and
adjustments related to prior year acquisitions.

Qther
Acquisitions
and Holdback
{In thewusands) 80OC Settlements Total
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Current assets, net f 47,394 $ 1,437 $ 48,831

Property and egquipment 159,080 12,627 171,707
Goodwill — 6,494 6,494
Other intangible assets 1,105 1,119 2,224
Current liabilities (7,154) {616) {7,770)
Contingent consideration (25,0009 — {25,000)
Long-term liabilities (1,225) (3,441} (4,666)

Total cash consideration § 174,200 $ 17,620 $ 191,820

{b) Divestitures

Fiscal 2006

On December 1, 2005, the Company sold its Rutland Tool &
Supply Co. {“Rutland Tool”) subsidiary. Rutland Tool distributed
metalworking tools, machine tools and MRO supplies from seven
locations and had approximately 180 employees. Proceeds of the
sale were approximately $15 million. As a result of the divestiture,
the Company reflected the operating results of Rutland Tocl as
“discontinued operations” and recognized a loss of approximately
$3.1 million, $1.9 million after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share, on
the sale. The loss principally relates to the write-off of feasehold
improvements and lease termination costs for long-term lease
commitments that are not being assumed by the purchaser. No
portion of consolidated interest expense was zllocated to the
discontinued operations. The operating results of Rutland Tool
were previously reflected in the Distribution business segment.
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The net sales and earnings (loss) before income taxes of Rutland
Tool {including the loss on sale) for the years ended March 31,
2006 and 2005, which were segregated and reported as discontin-
ued operations, are outlined below:

Years Ended March 31,

{In thousands) 2006 2005
Net sales 3 32,738 $ 43627
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (2,391) 786
Fiscal 2005

In May 2004, the Company divested a janitorial products
distribution business for cash proceeds of $828 thousand and
recognized a gain of $360 thousand. Proceeds from the divestiture
were used to reduce borrowings under the Company’s revolving
credit facilities. The business was included in the Distribution
segment and generated annual sales of appreximately $5 millien.

(<) Pending Acquisition

On March 29, 2007, the Company announced a definitive
agreement to acquire, for $310 million in cash, a significant part of
the U.S. packaged gas business of Linde AG. The operations to be
acquired include branches, warehouses, packaged gas fill plants,
and other operations involved in distributing packaged industrial
and specialty gases and related equipment. The business includes
130 locations in 18 states, with more than 1,400 employees, which
generated $346 million in revenues in the year ended December
31, 2006. This acquisition will be financed under the Company’s
Credit Facility and is expected to close, subject to regulatory
review and customary closing conditions, before the end of the
fiscal year end.

Note 4
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net earnings by
the weighted average number of shares of the Company’s common
stock outstanding during the period. Outstanding shares consist of
issued shares less treasury stock. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing net earnings by the weighted average
common shares outstanding adjusted for the dilutive effect of
common stock equivalents related to stock options and warrants.
The calculation of diluted earnings per share in fiscal 2007 and
2006 also assumes the conversion of National Welders’ preferred
stock to Airgas common stock.
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The table below presents the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005

Basic Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator;

Income from continuing operations § 154,416 $ 127,515 $ 91,558
Income {loss) from discontinued operations — {1,424) 464
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle —_ {2,540) —
Net earnings $ 154,416 $ 123,551 g 92,022

Denominator:

Basic shares outstanding 78,025 76,624 74,911
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations 3 1.98 $ 1.66 $ 1.22
Basic earnings ({loss) per share from discontinued operations — (0.02) 0.01
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — (0.03) —
Basic net earnings per share $ 1.98 $ 1.61 $ 1.23
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005

Diluted Earnings per Share Computation

Numerator:
Income from continuing operations $ 154,416 $ 127,515 i 91,558
Plus: Preferred stock dividends (1X2) 2,845 2,845 —
Plus: Income taxes on earnings of National Welders (3) 1,166 730 —
Income frem continuing operations assuming preferred

stock conversion 158,427 131,090 91,558
Income (loss} from discontinued operations — (1,424) 464
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle — (2,540) -—
Net earnings assuming preferred stock conversion $ 158,427 § 127,126 $ 92,022
Denominator:
Basic shares ouistanding 78,025 76,624 74,911
Incremental shares from assumed conversions:

Stock options and warrants 2,214 2,201 2,046
Preferred stock of National Welders (1) 2,327 2,327 —

Diluted shares outstanding 82,566 81,152 76,957
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations $ 1,92 $ 1.62 % 1.19
Diluted earnings {loss) per share from discontinued operations — {0.02) oM
Diluted loss from the cumulative effect of a change

in accounting principle — {0.03} —
Diluted net earnings per share $ 1.92 $ 1.57 b9 1.20

{1

Pursuant to a joint venture agreement between the Company and the holders of the preferred stock of National Welders, until June 30, 2009, the preferred stackholders have the eption to exchange their
3.2 million shares of National Welders voting redeemable preferred stock with a 5% annual dividend either for cash at a price of $17.78 per share of to tender them to tha joint venture in exchange for
appraximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock {see Note 15). If Airgas comman stock has a market value of $24.45 per share, the siock and cash redemption options are equivatent.

2

If the preferred stockholders of National Welders convert their preferred stock to Airgas comman stock, the 5% preferred stock dividend, recognized as “Minority interest in earnings of consolidated affil-
iate,” would no longer be paid to the preferred stockhelders, resukting in additional net earnings for Airgas.

3

The earnings of National Welders for tax purpeses are treated as a deemed dividend to Airgas, net of an 80% dividend exclusion. Upon the assumed conversion of Naticnal Welders preferred siock to
Airgas common stock, National Welders would become a wholly owned subsidiary of Airgas. As @ wholly cwned subsidiary, the net earnings of National Welders would not be subject to additional tax a1
the Aisgas fevel.

14

in Fiscal 2005, the assumed conversion of National Welders preferred stock to Airgas commen stock is not presented because it was anti-dilutive.
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Qutstanding stock options that are anti-dilutive are excluded from
the Company’s diluted computation. There were approximately
780 thousand, 3 thousand and 2 thousand outstanding stock
options that were not dilutive at March 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005,
respectively.

Note 5
Inventories, Net

Inventories, net consist of:

{In thousands)

March 31, 2007 2006
Hardgoods § 218,348 § 202,894
Gases 31,960 26,629

'$ 250,308 § 229,523

Net inventories determined by the LIFO inventory method totaled
$37 million at both March 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. If the
FIFQ inventory method had been used for these inventories, they
would have been $7.5 million and $6 million higher at March 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. Substantially all of the inventories are
finished goods.

Note &6
Plant and Equipment

The major classes of plant and equipment, at cost, are as follows:

(In thousands) Depreciable
March 31, Lives (Yrs) 2007 2006
Land and land improvements — % 89521 § 75528
Buildings and leasehold

improvements 25 265,146° 219,229
Cylinders 30 972,487 890,789
Machinery and equipment, :

in¢luding butk tanks 710 30 1,101,674, 719,086
Computers and furniture )

and fixtures 3t0 10 130,755 133,821
Transportation equipment J3t0 15 178,152, 142,466
Construction in progress — 18,012 10,754

'$ 2,755,747° § 2,191,673
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Note 7
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2007 and
2006 were as follows:

All Other

Distribution  Operations
{in thousands) Segment Segment Total
Balance at March 31, 2005  § 380,468 $ 130,728 $ 511,196
Acquisitions 21,409 32,723 54,132
Other adjusiments 705 4 746

Balance at March 31, 2006 _ § 402,582 § 163,492 $ 566,074

Acquisitions 156,899 103,695 260,594
QOther adjustments (157) 300 143
SAB 108 adjustments 5.351 — 5,351
Balance at March 31, 2007 $ 564,675 $ 267,487 $ 832,162

Other intangible assets amounted to $62.9 million (net of
accumulated amortization of $51.9 million) and $26.2 million (net
of accumulated amortization of $43.8 million) at March 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. These intangible assets primarily consist of
acquired customer lists amortized over 7 to 11 years and non-
compete agreements entered into in connection with business
combinations amortized over the term of the agreements. There
are no expected residual values related to these intangible assets.
Intangible assets also include a trade name with an indefinite
useful life valued at $1 million acquired in the BOC acquisition.
Estimated future amortization expense by fiscal year is as follows:
2008 — $10.1 million; 2009 — $8.9 million; 2010 — $8.3 million;
2011 — $8 million; 2012 - $7 million and $19.6 million thereafter.

Note 8
Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities include:

(In thousands)

March 31, 2007 2006
Accrued payroll and employee benefits  § 71,685 $ 57,555
Business insurance reserves 26,390 20,930
Health insurance reserves ' 8,446 9,734
Accrued interest expense 4,721 14,910
Taxes other than income taxes 14,771, 13,590
Cash overdraft 57,056 40,155

QOther accrued expenses and current
liabilities 58,206 43,127

$ 241,275 $ 200,001

The decrease in accrued interest reflects the refinancing of the
9.125% senior subordinated notes in October 2006 with the
Company’s Credit Facility. Interest on the senior subordinated
notes was due semi annually on October 1 and April 1. Interest on
the Credit Facility is payable monthly.
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Note 9
Indebtedness

Long-term debt consists of:

{In theusands)

March 31, 2007 2006
Revolving credit borrowings $ 489,398 $ 112,009
Term loan 577,500 81,250
Money market loans 30,000 25,000
Medium-term notes —_ 100,751
Senior subordinated notes 150,000 376,532
Acquisition and other notes 17,440 3,025
National Weliders debt 85,677 69,060
Total long-term debt 1,350,015 767,627
Less current portion of long-term debt (40,296) (131,901)
Long-term debt, excluding current portion $1,309,719  § 635,726

Debt Refinancing

Effective July 25, 2006, the Company amended and restated its
senior credit facility with a syndicate of lenders. Subject to
compliance with certain covenants, the $1.6 billion senior
unsecured credit facility (the "Credit Facility”) permits the
Company to borrow up to $966 million under a U.S. dollar
revolving credit line, up to C$40 million (U.S. $34 million) under
a Canadian dollar revolving credit line and up to $600 million
under two or more term loans. The Company used borrowings
under the term loan provision of the Credit Facility to finance the
$100 million maturity of its 7.75% medium-term notes on
September 15, 2006. The remaining $300 million of term loan was
used to finance the Linde bulk gas acquisition that closed on
March 9, 2007. The Credit Facility will mature on July 25, 2011.

As of March 31, 2007, the Company had approximately $1,067
million of borrowings under the Credit Facility: $471 million
under the U.S. dollar revolver, C$22 million (U.S. $18 million)
under the Canadian dollar revolver and a $578 million under the
term loans. The term loans are repayable in quarterly installmenis
of $22.5 million between March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2010. The
quarterly installments then increase to $71.2 million from
September 30, 2010 to June 30, 2011. The Company also had
letters of credit of $34 million outstanding under the credit
facility. The U.S. dollar borrowings and the term loans bear
interest at LIBOR plus 75 basis points and the Canadian dollar
borrowings bear interest at the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance Rate
plus 75 basis points. As of March 31, 2007, the effective interest
rates on the U.S. dollar borrowings, the term loans and the
Canadian dollar borrowings were 6.09%, 6.10% and 5.20%,
respectively.

At March 31, 2007, approximately $461 million remained unused
under the U.S. dollar revolving credit line and approximately C$18
million (1U.S. $16 million) remained unused under the Canadian
dollar revolving credit line. As of March 31, 2007, the financial
covenants of the Credit Facility permitted the Company increase
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its total borrowings under the Credit Facility or through other
debt instruments by approximately $538 million. The Credit
Facility contains customary events of default, including
nonpayment and breach of covenants. In the event of default,
repayment of borrowings under the Credit Facility may be
accelerated.

The Company’s domestic subsidiaries, exclusive of a bankruptcy
remote special purpose entity (the “domestic subsidiaries”),
guarantee the U.S. and Canadian borrowings. The Canadian
borrowings are also guaranteed by the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries. The guarantees are full and unconditional and are
made on a joint and several basis. The Company has pledged 100%
of the stock of its domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the stock of its
foreign subsidiaries as surety for its obligations under the Credit
Facility. The Credit Facility provides for the release of the
guarantees and collateral if the Company attains an investment
grade credit rating and a similar release on all other debt.

Money Market Loan

The Company has an agreement with a financial institution that
provides access to short-term advances not to exceed 330 million
for a maximum term of three months. The agreement expires on
November 30, 2007, but may be extended subject to renewal
provisions contained in the agreement. The amount, term and
interest rate of an advance are established through mutual
agreement with the financial institution when the Company
requests such an advance. At March 31, 2007, the Company had an
outstanding advance under the agreement of $30 million for a
term of 90 days bearing interest at 5.75%.

Senior Subordinated Notes

At March 31, 2007, the Company had $150 million of senior
subordinated notes {the “2004 Notes”) outstanding with a
maturity date of july 15, 2014. The 2004 Notes bear interest at a
fixed annual rate of 6.25%, payable semi-annually on January 15
and July 15 of each year. The 2004 Notes have an optional
redemption provision, which permits the Company, at its optien,
to call the 2004 Notes at scheduled dates and prices. The first
scheduled optional redemption date is July 15, 2009 at a price of
103.125% of the principal amount.

The 2004 Notes contain covenants that could restrict the payment
of dividends, the repurchase of common stock, the issuance of
preferred stock, and the incurrence of additional indebtedness and
liens. The 2004 Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed
jointly and severally, on a subordinated basis, by each of the wholly
owned domestic guarantors under the Credit Facility. The stock of
the Company’s domestic subsidiaries is also pledged to the note
holders on a subordinated basis.

On October 27, 2006, the Company redeemed its $225 million
9.125% senior subordinated notes in full at a premium of
104.563% of the principal amount with proceeds from the
Company's Credit Facility. In conjunction with the redemption of
the notes, the Company recognized a charge on the early
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extinguishment of debt of approximately $12.1 million ($7.9
million after tax) in October 2006. The charge relates to the
redemption premium and the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs,

Acquisition and Other Notes

The Company’s long-term debt also included acquisition and
other notes principally consisting of notes issued to sellers of
businesses acquired and are repayable in periodic installments. At
March 31, 2007, acquisition and other notes totaled approximately
$17 million with interest rates ranging from 4% to 8.5%.

Debt of the National Welders Joint Venture

Pursuant to the requirements of FIN 46R, the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2007 and 2006 include
the financial obligations of National Welders. National Welders'
financial obligations are non-recourse to the Company, meaning
that the creditors of National Welders do not have a claim on the
assets of Airgas, Inc. in settlement of the joint venture’s financial
obligations. The National Welders Credit Agreement (the “NWS$
Credit Agreement”) provides for a revolving credit line of $100
million, a Term Loan A of $26 million, a Term Loan B of $21
million, and a Term Loan C of $¢ million. The debt of National
Welders consists of:

(In thousands}

March 31, 2007 2006
Revolving credit borrowings $ 73,004 3 51,393
Term loan A 11,992 15,042
Term loan C — 1,622
Acquisition notes and other debt obligations 681 1,003
Total long-term debt - 85,677, 69,060
Less current portion of fong-term debt (3.652) (5,589)

Long-term debt, excluding current partion § 82,025 § 63,471

The NWS revolving credit borrowings mature in August 2009,
Term Loan A is repayable in monthly amounts of $254 thousand
with a lump-sum payment of the outstanding balance at maturity
in March 2011. The variable interest rate on the revolving credit
line and Term Loan A ranges from LIBOR plus 70 to 145 basis
points varying with National Welders’ leverage ratio. At March 31,
2007, the effective interest rate for the revelving credit line and
Term Loan A was 6.02%. The NWS Credit Agreement also
contains certain covenants which, among other things, subject
National Welders to minimum net worth requirements, limit the
ability of National Welders to incur and guarantee new
indebtedness, and limit its capital expenditures, ownership
changes, merger and acquisition activity, and the payment of
dividends. National Welders had additional borrowing capacity
under the NWS Credit Agreement of approximately $27 million at
March 31, 2007. Term Loans B and C were previously repaid and
provide no additional borrowing capacity.

As of March 31, 2007, the revolving credit borrowings and Term
Loan A are secured by certain current assets, principally trade
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receivables and inventory, totaling $38 million, non-current assets,
principally equipment, totaling $119 million, and Airgas common
stock with a market value of $39 million classified as treasury
steck and carried at cost of $370 thousand.

Aggregate Long-term Debt Maturities
The aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows:

{in thousands) HNational
Years Ending March 31, Alirgas, Inc.” Welders Total
2008 $ 36,644 $ 3,652 $ 40,296
2009 95,469 3,048 98,517
2010 94,184 76,052 170,236
2011 236,294 2,925 239,219
2012 649,967 — 649,967
Thereafter 151,780 — 151,780
$1,264,338 § 85,677 $1.350,015

(1) The Company has the ability 2nd irtention of refinancing current maturities related to the term
loan under its Credit Facility with its long-term revolving credit line. Therefore, the term loan
has been reflected as fong term in the aggregate maturity schedule.

Note 10
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Summarized below are the carrying and fair values of the
Company’s financial instruments at March 31, 2007 and 2006.

The fair value of the Company’s publicly traded financial instru-
ments is based on market pricing. The fair value of other
non-publicly traded financial instruments is based on estimates
using standard pricing models that take into account the present
value of future cash flows as of the balance sheet date. The compu-
tation of fair values of these instruments is generally performed by
the Company. The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet
for trade receivables and payables, accrued liabilities, accrued
income taxes, and short-term borrowings approximate fair value
due to the short-term nature of these instruments. Accordingy,
these items have been excluded from the following table:

2007 2007 2006 2006
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair
{In thousands) Value Value Value Value

Financial Instruments:
Revolving credit borrowings $ 489,398 §489,398 §$ 112,009 $112,009

Term loan 577,500 577,500 81,250 81,250
Money market loans 30,000 30,000 25,000 25,000
Medium-term notes — — 100,751 101,050
2001 senior

subordinated notes — — 226,532 237938
2004 senior

subordinated notes 150,000 146,250 150,000 147,750
Acquisition and other notes 17,440 17,440 '3,025 3,025
Interest rate swap

agreements:

Cash flow hedge ~
{asset) liability o (379 (379) (1,441}  (1,441)
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The carrying and fair values of the National Welders joint
venture’s financial instruments at March 31, 2007 and 2006 are
listed below:

2007 2007 2006 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
{In thousands) value Value Value Value

National Welders'
Financia! Instruments:

Revolving credit borrowings $ 73,004  § 73,004 $ 51,393 % 51,393
Term loan A 11,992 11,992 15,042 15,042
Term toan C — — 1,622 1,631
Acquisition notes and

other debt obligations 681 681 1,003 1,003
Note 11

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company manages exposure to changes in market interest
rates. The Company’s use of derivative instruments is limited 1o
highly effective fixed and floating interest rate swap agreements
used to manage well-defined interest rate risk exposures. The
Company monitors its positions and the credit ratings of its
counterparties and does not anticipate non-performance by the
counterparties. Interest rate swap agreements are not entered into
for trading purposes.

At March 31, 2007, the Company had six fixed interest rate swap
agreements with a notional amount of $150 million. These swaps
effectively convert $150 million of variable interest rate debt asso-
ciated with the Company’s Credit Facility to fixed rate debt. At
March 31, 2007, two swap agreements with a total notional
amount of $50 million required the Company to make fixed inter-
est payments based on a weighted average effective rate of 4.15%
and receive variable interest payments from its counterparties
based on a weighted average variable rate of 5.32%. The four other
swap agreements with a total notional amount of $100 miltlion
required the Company to make fixed interest payments based on a
weighted average effective rate of 5.39% and receive variable inter-
est payments from its counterparties based on a weighted average
variable rate of 5.35%. The remaining terms of each of these swap
agreements are between 15 months to 26 months.

National Welders was a party to one interest rate swap agreement
with a notional principal amount of $27 million. The counterparty
to the swap agreement is a major financial institution. National
Welders is required 1o make fixed interest payments of 5.36% and
receive variable interest payments from its counterparty based on
one month LIBOR, which was 5.33% at March 31, 2007. The
remaining term of the swap agreement is 26 months.

During fiscal 2007, the Company and National Welders recorded a
net decrease in the fair value of the fixed interest rate swap
agreements and a corresponding decrease 10 “Accumulated Other
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Comprehensive Income” of approximately $1 million. Including
the effect of the interest rate swap agreements, the debnt of National
Welders, and the trade receivables securitization, the Company’s
ratio of fixed to variable rate debt at March 31, 2007 was 21% fixed
to 79% variable.

Note 12
Trade Receivables Securitization

The Company participates in a securitization agreement with two
commercial banks to sell up to $285 million of qualifying trade
receivables. The agreement will expire in March 2010, but may be
renewed subject to renewal provisions contained in the agreement.
During fiscal 2007, the Company sold, net of its retained interest,
$2.70 billion of trade receivables and remitted to bank conduits,
pursuant to a servicing agreement, $2.68 billion in collections on
those receivables. The net proceeds were used to reduce
borrowings under the Company’s Credit Facility. The amount of
outstanding receivables under the agreement was $264 million at
March 31, 2007 and $244 million at March 31, 2006.

The transaction has been accounted for as a sale under the
provisions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing
of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under the
securitization agreement, trade receivables are sold to bank
conduits through a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity,
which is consolidated for financial reporting purposes. The
difference between the proceeds from the sale and the carrying
value of the receivables is recognized as “Discount on
securitization of trade receivables™ in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and varies on a monthly
basis depending on the amount of receivables sold and market
rates. The Company retains a subordinated interest in the
receivables sold, which is recorded at the receivables’ previous
carrying value.

A subordinated retained interest of approximately $80 million and
$63 million is included in “Trade receivables” in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The Company’s retained interest is generally collected
within 60 days. On a monthly basis, management measures the fair
value of the retained interest at management’s best estimate of the
undiscounted expected future cash collections on the transferred
receivables. Changes in the fair value are recognized as bad debt
expense. Actual cash collections may differ from these estimates
and would directly affect the fair value of the retained interest. In
accordance with a servicing agreement, the Company continues to
service, administer and collect the trade receivables on behalf of
the bank conduits. The servicing fees charged to the bank conduits
approximate the costs of collections.
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Note 13
Stockholders’ Equity

(a) Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 200 million shares of
common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. At March 31,
2007, the number of shares of common stock outstanding was 78.7
million, excluding 1.3 million shares (923 thousand of shares
owned by National Welders) of common stock held as treasury
stock. At March 31, 2006, the number of shares of common stock
outstanding was 77.3 million, excluding 1.3 million shares (923
thousand of shares owned by National Welders) of common stock
held as treasury stock.

(b) Preferred Stock and Redeemable Preferred Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 20 million shares of
preferred stock. Of the 20 million shares authorized, 200 thousand
shares have been designated as Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock and 200 thousand shares have been designated as
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock (see Stockholder
Rights Plan below). At March 31, 2007 and 2006, no shares of the
preferred stock were issued or outstanding. The preferred stock
may be issued from time to time by the Company's Board of
Directors in one or more series. The Board of Directors is
authorized to fix the dividend rights and terms, conversion rights,
voting rights, rights and terms of redemption, liquidation
preferences, and any other rights, preferences, privileges and
restrictions of any series of preferred stock, and the number of
shares constituting each such series and designation thereof.

Additionally, the Company is authorized to issue 30 thousand
shares of redeemable preferred stock. At March 31, 2007

and 2006, no shares of redeemable preferred stock were issued
or outstanding.

{c) Dividends

During fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company paid its stock-
holders regular quarterly cash dividends of $0.07, $0.06 and $0.045
per share, respectively. On May 8, 2007, the Company’s Board of
Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.09 per
share payable June 29, 2007 to stockholders of record as of June 15,
2007. Future dividend declarations and associated amounts paid
will depend upon the Company’s earnings, financial condition,
loan covenants, capital requirements and other factors deemed rel-
evant by management and the Company’s Board of Directors.

(d) Stockholder Rights Plan

On May 8, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a
stockholder rights plan (the “2007 Rights Plan”}. Pursuant to the
2007 Rights Plan, on May 25, 2007, the Board of Directors declared
a dividend distribution of one right for each share of common
stock. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company
one ten-thousandth of a share of Series B Junior Participating
Preferred Stock at an initial exercise price of $230 per share. The
2007 Rights Plan is intended to assure that all of the Company’s
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stockholders receive fair and equal treatment in the event of any
proposed takeover of the Company and to protect stockholders’
interests in the event the Company is confronted with partial ten-
der offers or other coercive or unfair takeover tactics.

Rights become exercisable only after 10 days following the
acquisition by a person or group of 15% {or 20% in the case of
Peter McCausland and certain of his affiliates) or more of the
Company’s outstanding common stock, or 10 business days {or
later if determined by the Board of Directors in accordance with
the plan) after the announcement of a tender offer or exchange
offer te acquire 15% (or 20% in the case of Peter McCausland and
certain of his affiliates) or more of the outstanding common stock.
If such a person or group acquires 15% or more {or 20% or more,
as the case may be) of the common stock, each right (other than
such person’s or group’s rights, which will become void} will
entitle the holder to purchase, at the exercise price, common stock
having a market value equal to twice the exercise price. In certain
circumstances, the rights may be redeemed by the Company at an
initial redemption price of $0.0001 per right. If not redeemed, the
rights will expire on May 8, 2017.

The 2007 Rights Plan replaced the 1997 Rights Plan that expired
on April 1, 2007. The 1997 Rights Plan had substantially the same
terms and conditions as the 2007 Rights Plan.

(e) Warrants

During fiscal 2002, the Company granted warrants to purchase
324,000 shares of the Company's common stock to an outside
consulting firm for services rendered. The warrants had a term of
three years and exercise prices in excess of market value of the
Company’s stock on the date of grant. The exercise prices ranged
from $11.98 to $18.78 per share. The aggregate value of the
warrants on the dates of grant, as determined by the Black-Scholes
model, was $1.1 million, which the Company expensed during
fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2005, all 324,000 warrants were exercised
at prices ranging from $21.54 to $26.47 per share. The holder of
the warrants elected a “net issue exercise” provision under the
warrant agreement. The net issue exercise provision allowed the
holder, without the payment of additional consideration, to receive
shares of the Company's common stock, equal to the value of the
warrants. As a result, the Company issued 114 thousand treasury
shares to redeem the warrants.

{f) Share Repurchase Plan

Due to certain contemplated acquisitions, in July 2006, the
Company suspended the three-year share repurchase plan that it
initiated in November 2005. No shares of Company common stock
were repurchased during fiscal 2007, Since inception, 195,400
shares have been repurchased under the plan and $137.2 million of
the original $150 million authorization remains available. The
Company continues to focus on using its cash flow for investing in
growth opportunities, including future acquisitions, paying down
debt and growing its dividend.
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Note 14
Stock-Based Compensation

The Company adopted SFAS 123R effective April 1, 2006 using the
modified prospective method, Under the modified prospective
method, stock-based compensation recognized since the date of
adoption includes: (a) any share-based payments granted
subsequent to the date of adoption; and (b) any portion of share-
based payments granted prior to the date of adoption that vests
subsequent to the date of adoption. Prior periods have not been
restated.

The Company recorded stock-based compensation of §15.4
million ($10.9 million after tax), or $0.13 per diluted share, in the
year ended March 31, 2007. The pre-tax compensation expense
was included in Selling, Distribution and Administrative expenses
in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings. The stock-based
compensation expense relates to stock options and options to
purchase commeon stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Prior Period Pro Forma Earnings

The following table presents the effect on net earnings and
earnings per share as if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, in fiscal 2006 and 2005:

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years Ended March 31, 2006 2005
Net earnings, as reported $ 123,551 $ 92,022
Deduct: Total stock-based employee

compensation expense determined under

fair value based methods for all awards,

net of related tax effects (8,035) (6,868)
Pro forma net earnings $ 115,516 $ 85,154
Earnings per share:

Basic — as reported 3 161 % 1.23

Basic - pro forma $ 1.51 % 1.14

Diluted — as reported b 1.57 $ 1.20

Diluted - pro forma 3 1.47 $ 1.1

2006 Equity incentive Plan

At the Company’s August 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the
stockholders approved the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006
Equity Plan”). The 2006 Equity Plan replaced both the Company’s
1997 Stock Option Plan for employees and the 1997 Directors’ Stock
Option Plan. Qutstanding stock options and stock options available
for grant under the prior stock option plans were carried forward to
the 2006 Equity Plan. Future grants of stock options 1o employees
and directors will only be issued from the 2006 Equity Plan to the
extent that shares are available for issuance. At March 31, 2007, a
total of 11.8 million shares were authorized under the 2006 Equity
Plan and predecessor plans, of which 4.5 million shares of common
stock were available for issuance under the 2006 Equity Plan.

Airgas, Inc. 24

Stock options granted prior to fiscal 2007 vest 25% annually and

have a maximum term of ten years. Stock options granted during
fiscal 2007 also vest 25% annually and have a maximum term of

etght years,

Fair Value

The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes option pricing medel to
determine the fair value of stock options under SFAS 123R, which
is consistent with that used for pro forma disclosures in prior
periods. The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock
options granted during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005 was $13.75, $9.35 and $9.28, respectively. The following
assumptions were used by the Company in valuing the stock
option grants issued in each fiscal year:

Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006  Fiscal 2005
Expected volatility 36.2% 35.3% 38.9%
Expected dividend yield 0.80% 0.83% 0.85%
Expected term 5.4 years 6.4 years 7.3 years
Risk-free interest rate 5.0% 3.9% 3.9%

The expected volatility was determined based on anticipated
changes in the underlying stock price over the expected term using
a weighting of historical and implied volatility. The expected
dividend yield was based on the Company’s history and
expectation of future dividend payouts. The expected term
represents the period of time that the options are expected to be
outstanding prior to exercise or forfeiture. The expected 1erm was
determined based on historical exercise patterns. The risk-free
interest rate was based on U.S. Treasury rates in effect at the time
of grant commensurate with the expected term,

Summary of Stock Option Activity
The following table summarizes the stock eption activity during
the three years ended March 31, 2007:

Weightad
Average
Number of Exercise Aggregate
Stock Price Intrinsic
Dptions  Per $hare Value
Outstanding at March 31, 2004 8,126,403 3% 1364
Granted 1,067,500 % 21.18
Exercised 1,648,368 § 12,27
Forfeited (182,234) § 1856
Outstanding at March 31, 2005 7,363,301 § 1495 § 65827911
Granted 1,063,200 $ 24.30
Exercised (1,337,944 § 1473
Forfeited (94,739) § 17.85
Outstanding at March 31, 2006 6,993,818 $ 1637 § 158,899,545
Granted 991,440 $ 36.19
Exercised {967,590/" § 15.91
Forfeited {134,694) 9§ 26.09
Outstanding at March 31, 2007 6,882,974 § 19.12 § 158,514,891

Vested or expected to vest as of

March 31, 2007 6,194,677 $ 19.12 $ 142,663,411

{1} Actual shares issued associated with stock option exercises was 960 thousand due to a net
share issue exercise.
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The aggregate intrinsic value represents the difference between the
Company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of each fiscal
year and the weighted-average exercise price multiplied by the
number of stock options outstanding as of that date. The total
intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended
March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $22.7 million, $19.5 million
and $18.5 million, respectively.

As of March 31, 2007, $16.7 million of total unrecognized
compensation expense related to non-vested stock options is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average vesting period
of 2.5 years.

The following table summarizes information about options
outstanding and exercisable at March 31, 2007:

Stock Options Qutstanding

Weighted
Number of Average Remaining Weighted
Stock Options Contractual Life Average
Qutstanding of Options - Years Exercise Price
1,294,949 3.51 $ 7.34
852,294 2.12 $ 13.12
1,040,224 3.69 $ 16.32
853,095 6.09 $ 19.13
793,026 7.15 $ 2115
154,703 7.36 3 21.59
878,268 8.15 $ 24.09
1,016,415 7.23 $ 35.77
6,882,974 5.33 $ 19.12

Stock Options Exercisable

Weighted

Number of Average
Stock Options Exercise Price
Exercisable Per Share
1,294,949 $ 7.34
852,294 $ 13.12
1,039,899 $ 16.32
633,999 3 19.09
366,081 $ 21.15
106,528 $ 21.55
203,303 $ 24.0%
114,603 $ 32.63
4,611,656 3 14.84

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”)
to encourage and assist employees in acquiring an equity interest
in the Company. The ESPP is authorized to issue up to 3.5 million
shares of Company common stock, of which 1.8 million shares
were available for issuance at March 31, 2007.

Under the terms of the ESPP, eligible employees may elect to have
up to 15% of their annual gross earnings withheld to purchase
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common stock at 85% of the market value. Employee purchases
are limited in any calendar year to an aggregate market value of
$25,000. Market value under the ESPP is defined as either the
closing share price on The New York Stock Exchange as of an
employee’s enrollment date or the closing price on the first
business day of a fiscal quarter when the shares are purchased,
whichever is lower. An employee may lock-in a purchase price for
up to 12 months. The ESPP effectively resets at the beginning of
each fiscal year at which time employees are re-enrolled in the plan
and a new 12-month purchase price is established. The ESPP is
designed to comply with the requirements of Sections 421 and 423
of the Internal Revenue Code.

Compensation expense under SFAS 123R is measured based on the
fair value of the employees’ option to purchase shares of common
stock at the grant date and is recognized over the future periods in
which the related employee service is rendered. The fair value per
share of options granted under the ESPP in fiscal 2007, 2006 and
2005 was $8.30, $5.57 and $5.14, respectively. In fiscal 2007, the
Company recognized stock-based compensation expense
associated with the ESPP of $3.3 million. The fair value of the
employees’ option to purchase shares of commen stock was
estimated using the Black-Scholes maodel. The following
assumptions were used by the Company in valuing the employees’
option to purchase shares of common stock under the ESPP:

Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005

Expected volatility 30.8% 27.1% 29.7%
Expected dividend yield 0.73% 0.90% 0.83%
Expected term 2to8months 31012 months 3 t0 12 months
Risk-free interest rate 5.0% 31% 1.1%

The following table summarizes the activity of the ESPP during
the three years ended March 31, 2007:

Weighted
Average
Number of Exercise  Aggregate
Purchase Price Intrinsic
Options Per Share Value
Outstanding at March 31, 2004 148,198 § 15.70
Granted 552,841 % 17.37
Exercised {564,681} § 17.54
Forfeited — 1 —
Outstanding at March 31, 2005 136,358 % 18.45 § 741,788
Granted 533,245 § 20.33
Exercised (531,916) § 19.80
Forfeited — 3 —
Qutstanding at March 31, 2006 137,687 §  20.50 § 2,559,601
Granted 395,587 3 31,10
Exercised (430,519) % 27.76
Forfeited —_— % —
Outstanding at March 31, 2007 102,755 §% 3086 % 1,160,104
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Note 15
Consolidated Affiliate and Minority Interest

The Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders, is a
producer and distributor of industrial gases based in Charlotte,
North Carolina. The joint venture owns and operates
approximately 50 branch stores, two acctylene plants, a specialty
gas lab, and four air separation plants that produce approximately
90% of its oxygen and nitrogen and over 65% of its argon
requirements. The joint venture also distributes medical and
specialty gases, process chemicals and welding equipment and
supplies. Ownership interests in National Welders consist of voting
common stock and voting redeemable preferred stock with a 5%
annual dividend. The Company owns 100% of the joint venture's
common stock, which represents a 50% voting interest. The
payment of dividends on the common stock is subordinate to the
payment of a 5% dividend on the preferred stock. Additionally, the
common stock dividends must be declared by a vote of the joint
venture's board of directers. A family holds approximately 3.2
million shares of redeemable preferred stock and controls the
balance of the voting interest.

Through June 30, 2009, the preferred stockholders have the option
to redeem their preferred shares for cash at a price of $17.78 per
share or to tender them to the joint venture in exchange for
approximately 2.3 million shares of Airgas common stock (See
Note 19 Retated Parties for a fiscal 2006 transaction with the
preferred stockholders). The common stock and cash redemption
options are equivalent when Airgas’ common stock has a market
value of $24.45 per share. If the preferred stockholders elect 10
exchange their shares for Airgas common stock, the Company is
obligated to provide the necessary shares to the joint venture by
capital contribution or other means the Company deems
reasonably appropriate. The Company may purchase shares on the
open market or may issue new or treasury shares to meet its
exchange obligation. The preferred stockholders may also elect to
retain their interest in the preferred stock beyond June 30, 2009.

In fiscal 2004, the Company determined that its joint venture with
National Welders met the definition of a “Variable Interest Entity”
under FIN 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, The
Company, as the only common stockhelder, was determined to be
the primary beneficiary of the joint venture. Therefore, effective
December 31, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46R, as it applies to
the joint venture, and consolidated this previously unconsolidated
affiliate. The Company has participated in the joint venture with
National Welders since June 1996 and prior to the adoption of FIN
46R, the Company used the “equity method of accounting” to
report its interest in the joint venture. Under the equity method of
accounting, the Company recognized its proportionate share of the
joint venture’s net assets and liabilities as an “Investment in
Unconsolidated Affiliate” and its proportionate share of the
operating results as “Equity in the Earnings of Unconsolidated
Affiliate.” As permitted by FIN 46R, the Company applied the
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interpretation prospectively from the date of adoption (prior
periods were not restated). With the adoption of FIN 46R, the
operating results of the joint venture were reflected broadly across
the income statement with minority interest expense reflecting the
preferred stockholders’ proportianate share of the joint venture's
operating results. The liabilities of the joint venture are non-
recourse to the Company (See Note 9 for a description of National
Welders debt). Likewise, cash flows in excess of a management fee
paid by National Welders are not available to the Company. The
tables below outline ¢lements of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company applicable to National Welders:

{In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006
Total assets of Naticnal Welders $ 302,597 ¢ 267240
Total liabilities of National Welders § 213,222 % 190,276
(In thowsards)
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005
Net sales ¢ 228320 $ 188314 § 167,473
Cperating income 32,490 22,046 15,662
Earnings before income taxes,

minarity interest and

equity earnings 29,514 14,919 12,418
Income taxes (12,037) (8,536) 4,712)
Minority interest in earnings

of consolidated affiliate {2,845} (2,658) {1,808}
Income from continuing

operations $ 14,632 % 8,727 % 5.898
Note 16
Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net, consists of:
{In theusands)
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005
Interest expense 3 62,095 §% 55,740 § 52,836
Interest and finance charge

(income) (1,915) (1,928) {1,591)

$ 60,180 $ 53812 § 51,245

Note 17

Income Taxes

Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes,
minerity interest and change in accounting principle were derived
from the following sources:

(In rhousamnds)

Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005
United States § 246,699 % 200,039 % 140,662
Foreign 10,445 7.998 6,965

§ 257,144 § 208,037 % 147,627
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Income tax expense from continuing opetations consists of:

Airgas, Inc,

Current deferred tax assets and current deferred tax liabilities have
been netted for presentation purposes. Non-current deferred tax

{fn thousands) assets and non-current deferred tax liabilities have also been
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005 T .
netted. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflected in the
Current: Company’s consolidated balance sheets as follows:
Federal $ 41,760 ¢ 26,551 § 19,666
Foreign 2,725 2,673 2,027 (In thousands)
State 3,487 1,494 929 March 31, 2007 2006
47,972 30,718 22,622
Current deferred tax asset, net § 31,004 $ 30,141
Deferred: Non-current deferred tax liability, net (373,246) (327,818)
Federal 46,440 43,672 29,327 Net deferred tax liability $(342,242) $(297.677)
Foreign 491 98 303
Siate 4,980 3,378 2.009 The Company has recorded tax benefits amounting to $9.0
51,911 47,148 31,639 million, $7.9 million, and $8.4 million in fiscal 2007, 2006 and
$ 99883 § 77866 3 54,261 2005, respectively, resulting from the exercise of stock options.

Significant differences between taxes computed at the federal
statutory rate and the provision for income taxes were:

Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005

Taxes at U.5. federal

statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
increasef{decrease) in
income taxes resulting from:
State income taxes,

net of federal benefit 2.9% 2.2% 1.9%

Stock-based compensation
expense 0.5% — —
Change in state tax law (0.8%} — —
Other, net 1.2% 0.2% (0.1%)
38.8% 37.4% 36.8%

The tax effects of cumulative temporary differences that gave rise
to the significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities
were as follows:

(In thousands)
March 31, 2007 2006
Deferred Tax Assets:
Inventories 9,177 $ 9,586
Deferred rental income 12,468 5,347
Insurance reserves 10,466 9,554
Litigation settlement and other reserves 2,745 1,972
Asset retirement obligations 792 2,361
Net operating loss carryforwards 20,217 36,592
Stock-based compensation 4,263 —
Other 10,204 7.865
Valuation allowance (5,432} {6,347}
64,900 66,930
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Accounts receivable (2,683) {1,785)
Plant and equipment (338,431) (307,036}
Intangible assets (49,323) {39,993}
Other {16,705) (15,793)
(407,142) (364,607)
$(342,242) $(297.677)
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This benefit has been recorded in capital in excess of par value.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management
considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation
of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Management considers
the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable
income in making this assessment. Based upon the level of
historical taxable income and projections for future taxable
income over the periods which the deferred tax assets are
deductible, at March 31, 2007, management believes it is more
likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of these
deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allowances.
Valuation allowances primarily relate to certain state tax net
operating loss carryforwards. In fiscal 2007, the Company revised
its estimates of the realizability of certain tax benefits associated
with state tax net operating loss carryforwards. Those revisions,
along with changes due to the utilization and expiration of net
operating loss carryforwards, resulted in a $900 thousand
reduction in the related valuation allowances.

Note 18
Benefit Plans

The Company has a defined contribution 401 (k) plan {the “401(k}
plan”} covering substantially all full-time employees. Under the
terms of the 401(k) plan, the Company makes matching
contributions up to two percent of participants’ wages. Amounts
expensed under the 401(k} plan for fiscal 2007, 2006, and 2005
were $5.8 million, $5.5 million and $4.6 million, respectively.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in multi-employer
pension and post-retirement plans, which provide defined benefits
to union employees. Contributions are made to the plans in accor-
dance with negotiated labor contracts. If the Company elected to
withdraw from these plans at March 31, 2007, the withdrawal lia-
bility would have been approximately $3.3 million. Amounts
expensed under the pension plans for fiscal 2007, 2006 and 2005
were $1.2 million, $1.3 million and $858 thousand, respectively.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Note 19
Related Parties

The Company purchases and sells goods and services in the
ordinary course of business with certain corporations in which
some of its directors are officers. The Company also leases certain
operating facilities from employees who were previous owners of
businesses acquired. The amounts of these transactions are not
material to the Company.

Transactions by National Welders

In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, National Welders entered into an
agreement with its preferred stockholders under which the
preferred stockholders prepaid their $21 million note receivable
owed to National Welders. National Welders used the proceeds
from the prepayment of the preferred stockholders’ note to repay
its $21 million Term Loan B, which had been collateralized by the
preferred stockholders’ note. The preferred stockholders’ note
payable to National Welders had been reflected as a reduction of
“Minority interest in affiliate” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Consequently, the prepayment of the preferred stockholders’ note
resulted in a $21 million increase to the Company’s “Minority
interest in affiliate.” Additionally, Term Loan B was subject to an
interest rate swap agreement, which was terminated in conjunction
with the debt repayment. The fee of $700 thousand to unwind the
interest rate swap agreement was reimbursed to National Welders
by the preferred stockholders.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2005, National Welders purchased the
assets of National Realty Sales Corporation for $11.4 million.
Members of the Turner family, who have a 50% voting interest in
National Welders, also owned National Realty Sales Corporation.
The assets purchased included 22 properties previously leased from
National Realty Sales Corporation. The purchase price of National
Realty Sales Corporation was established through an independent,
third-party appraisal. National Welders’ Board of Directors,
through which the Company holds a 50% voting interest, approved
the transaction.

Separation Agreement

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company and its former
Chief Operating Officer, entered into a separation agreement,
which terminated his employment. Under the agreement, the
former Chief Operating Officer received a payment of $1.4 million
and accelerated vesting of 15,000 stock options,

Note 20
Leases

The Company leases certain distribution facilities, fleet vehicles and
equipment under long-term operating leases with varying terms.
Most leases contain renewal options and in some instances, pur-
chase optiens. Rentals under these long-term leases for the years
ended March 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, amounted to approximately
$71 million, $68 million, and $61 million, respectively. Certain
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operating facilities are leased at market rates from employees of
the Company who were previous owners of businesses acquired.
Outstanding capital lease obligations and the related capital assets
are not material to the consolidated balance sheets at March 31,
2007 and 2006. Associated with the fleet vehicle operating leases,
the Company guarantees a residual value of $18 million, represent-
ing approximately 13% of the original cost.

At March 31, 2007, future minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable operating leases were as follows:

{In thousands) MNaticnal
Years Ended March 31, Airgas, Inc. Welders Total
2008 $ 57,739 $ 2,018 $ 59,757
2009 47,832 1,775 49,607
2010 39,624 1,586 41,210
2011 28,648 1,483 30,131
2012 18,074 1,341 19,415
Thereafter 10,582 2,187 12,769
§ 202,499 $ 10,350 $ 212,889
Note 21

Commitments and Contingencies

(2} Legal

The Company is involved in various legal and regulatory
proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of its business
and have not been fully adjudicated. These actions, when
ultimately concluded and determined, will not, in the opinion of
management, have a material adverse effect upon the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

(b) Insurance Coverage

The Company has established insurance programs to cover
workers' compensation, business automobile, and general liability
claims. During fiscal 2007, these programs had self-insured
retention of $1 million per occurrence. During fiscal 2006 and
2005, the Company’s self-insured retention was $500 thousand per
occurrence with an additional aggregate retention of $2.2 million
in fiscal 2006 and $1.7 million in fiscal 2005, for claims in excess of
$500 thousand. For fiscal 2008, the self-insured retention will
remain $! million per occurrence with no additional aggregate
retention. The Company believes its insurance reserves are
adequate. The Company accrues estimated losses using actuarial
models and assumptions based on historical loss experience. The
nature of the Company’s business may subject it to product and
general liability lawsuits, To the extent that the Company is subject
to claims that exceed its liability insurance coverage, such suits
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or liquidity.

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefits plan, which
provides medical benefits to employees electing coverage under the
plan. The Company maintains a reserve for incurred but not
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reported medical claims and claim development. The reserve is an
estimate based on historical experience and other assumptions,
some of which are subjective. The Company will adjust its self-
insured medical benefits reserve as the Company’s loss experience
changes due to medical inflation, changes in the number of plan
participants and an aging employee base.

{c} Supply Agreements

In addition to the gas volumes supplied by the recently formed
Airgas Merchant Gases, the Company purchases industrial,
medical and specialty gases pursuant to requirements contracts
from national and regional producers of industrial gases. The
Company has a long-term take-or-pay supply agreement, expiring
September 1, 2017, under which Air Products and Chemicals, Inc.
(“Air Products”) will supply at least 35% of the Company’s bulk
liquid nitrogen, oxygen and argon requirements, exclusive of the
volumes produced by the Company and those purchased under
the Linde/BOC supply agreements noted below. Additionally, the
Company purchases helium under the terms of the supply
agreement. Based on the volume of fiscal 2007 purchases, the Air
Products supply agreement represents approximately $50 million
in annual liquid bulk gas purchases.

The Company and Linde AG as successor to BOC entered into a
long-term take-or-pay supply agreement to purchase oxygen,
nitrogen and argon. The agreement will expire in July 2019 and
represents approximately $3 million in annual bulk gas purchases.
In September and October 2006, the Company and Linde AG
entered into long-term take-or-pay supply agreements to purchase
helium. The total annual commitment amount under the Linde
agreements is approximately $28 million.

The Company also participates in a long-term agreement with
Praxair to swap productien of bulk nitrogen, oxygen, and argon
through 2014. The Praxair agreement represents approximately $7
miilion annually.

The Company is alse party to other long-term take-or-pay supply
agreements with other major suppliers of oxygen, nitrogen and
argon (approximately $1 million in annual purchases), liquid
carbon dioxide {$16 million in annual purchases), and refrigerants
($2.5 million in annual purchases). The Company has purchase
commitments for ammonia which require a 180-day notice prior
to termination. Annual purchase commitments for ammenia are
approximately $18 million.

The supply agreements above contain periodic adjustments based
on certain economic indices and market analysis. The Company
believes the minimum product purchases under the agreements
are within the Company’s normal product purchases. Actual
purchases in future periods under the supply agreements could
differ materially due to fluctuations in demand requirements
related to varying sales levels as well as changes in economic
conditions.
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(d) Construction Commitments

Construction commitments represent outstanding commitments
to custometrs to build and operate air separation plants in
Carrollton, KY and New Carlisle, IN. The projects will cost
approximately $65 million and are expected to begin operating in
the spring of 2009.

{e) Commitments and Contingencies of National Welders
National Welders is involved in various claims and legal actions
arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of
National Welders’ management, the ultimate disposition of these
matters will not have a material or adverse effect on the entity’s
financial position, results of operations, or liquidity.

National Welders is self-insured for medical and workers’
compensation claims in North Carolina and South Carolina.
Medical claims are self-insured up to a $110 thousand limit per
person annually. Workers’ compensation claims are self-insured up
to $500 thousand per person annually. Provisions for expected
future payments for medical and workers’ compensation are
accrued based on estimates of the aggregate liability for claims
incurred plus an estimate for incurred but not reported claims
using historical experience.

Note 22
Supplemental Cash flow Information

Cash paid for interest expense, discount on securitization and

income taxes was as follows:

{In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005
Interest expense $ 72418 % 563561 $ 49,480
Discount on securitization 13,630 9,371 4,711
Income taxes (net of refunds} 50,021 21,641 30,104

Significant non-cash investing and financing transactions were
as follows:

{In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005

Acquisition liabilities assumed ‘S 51,220 % 18,295 $ 37,436
Cash flows, in excess of a management fee, associated with the
Company’s consolidated affiliate, National Welders {see Note 15),
are not available for the general use of the Company. Rather these
cash flows are used by National Welders for operations, capital
expenditures, and acquisitions and to satisfy financial obligations,
which are non-recourse to the Company. The Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows at March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 reflect
the following sources and uses of cash associated with National
Welders:
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{In thousands}
Years Ended March 31, 2007 2006 2005

Net cash provided by

operating activities $ 34455 & 23497 % 19612
Net cash used in

investing activities (47,507} (45,628) (29,240}
Net cash provided by

financing activities 13,527 21,308 9,500
Change in cash $ 475 $ (822) % (128)
Management fee paid

to the Company,

which is eliminated

in consolidation 5 1,454 $ 1,234 $ 1,089

Note 23
Summary by Business Segment

The Company aggregates its opcrations, based on products and
setvices, into two reportable segments, Distribution and All Other
Operations. The Distribution segment’s principal products are
packaged and less than truck load bulk gases, rent and hardgoods.
Gas sales include industrial, medical and specialty gases such as:
nitrogen, oxygen, argon, helium, acetylene, carbon dioxide, nitrous
oxide, hydrogen, welding gases, ultra high purity grades and
special application blends. Rent is derived from gas cylinders,
cryogenic liquid containers, bulk storage tanks, tube trailers and
through the rental of welding equipment. Hardgoods consist of
welding supplies and equipment, safety products, and MRO
supplies. During fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Distribution
segment accounted for approximately 85% of consolidated sales.

The All Other Operations segment consists of the Company’s Gas
Qperations Division, the newly formed Airgas Merchant Gases and
the National Welders joint venture. The Gas Operations Division
produces and distributes certain gas products, principally carbon
dioxide, dry ice, nitrous oxide, anhydrous ammonia, and specialty
gases. Airgas Merchant Gases primarily produces oxygen, nitrogen,
and argon, most of which is supplied to business units in the
Distribution segment. National Welders is a producer and distribu-
tor of industrial, medical and specialty gases based in Charlotte,
North Carolina. The joint venture structure limits the Company’s
control over the National Welders operations and cash flows and is
the primary factor that led the Company to conclude that National
Welders is most appropriately reflected in the All Other Operations
segment. The business units reflected in the Alt Other Operations
segment individually are not material enough to meet the thresh-
olds to be reported as separate business segments. The elimination
entries represent intercompany sales from the Company’s All Other
Operations segment to its Distribution segment.

The Company’s operations are predominantly in the United States.
The Company’s customer base is diverse with no single customer
accounting for more than 0.5% of total net sales.
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The accounting policies of the segments are the samc as those
described in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Note
1). Additionally, corporate operating expenses are allocated to each
segment based on sales dollars. However, sales associated with
National Welders are excluded from the corporate operating
expense allocation to All Other Operations as National Welders
maintains its own corporate functions. Corporate assets have been
allocated to the Distribution segment, intercompany sales are
recorded on the same basis as sales to third parties, and
intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation. See
Note 3 for the impact of acquisitions and divestitures on the
operating results of each segment.

Management utilizes more than one measurement and multiple
views of data to measure segment performance and to allocate
resources to the segments. However, the dominant measurements
are consistent with the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and, accordingly, are reported on the same basis below:

All Other

(In thousands) Distribution  Operations  Eliminations Combined
Fiscal 2007
Gas and rent $1,399,186 § 485,209 § (60,934} $1,823,461
Hardgoods 1,292,628 94,462 {5,500} 1,381,590
Tota! net sales 2,691,814 579,671 (66,434} 3,205,051
Cost of products sold,

excluding depreciation

expense 1,355,367 278,157 (66,434) 1,567,090
Selling, distributicn, and

administrative expenses 953,858 195,308 — 1,149,166
Depreciation expense 109,455 29,363 - 138,818
Amortization expense 6,426 2,099 — 8,525
Operating income 266,708 74,744 - 341,452
Assets 2,401,500 931,957 — 3,333,457
Capital expenditures 196,569 47,014 - 243,583

All Other

(In thousarids) Distribution Operations  Eliminations Combined
Fiscal 2006
Gas and rent $£1,238612 § 415,560 % (54,242) 31,599,930
Hardgoods 1,157,326 77,870 (5,516) 1,229,680
Total net sales 2,395,938 493,430 (59,758) 2,829,610
Cost of preducts sold,

excluding depreciation

expense 1,223,435 238,301 (59,758) 1,401,878
Selling, distribution, and

administrative expenses 864,192 167,140 — 1,031,332
Depreciation expense 55,615 26,781 — 122,396
Amortization expense 4,230 916 — 5.146
Operating income 208,466 60,292 — 268,758
Assets 1,931,205 543,207 — 2,474,412
Capital expenditures 176,019 38,174 — 214,193
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All Other
(In thousands) Distribution  Operations  Eliminations Combined
Fiscal 2005
Gas and rent $1,056,661 $ 318,748 § (49,300) $1,326,109
Hardgoods 978,451 66,863 (3,641) 1,041,673
Total net sales 2,035,112 385,611 (52,941) 2,367,782

Cost of products soid,

excluding depreciation

expense 1,030,284 174,439 (52,941) 1,151,782
Selling, distribution, and

administrative expenses 761,227 141,241 — 902,468
Depreciation expense 81,419 24,195 — 105,614
Amortization expense 4,943 521 — 5,464
Operating income 157,239 45,215 — 202,454
Assets 1,872,213 419,650 — 2,291,863
Capital expenditures 133,310 34,667 —_ 167,977
Note 24

Supplementary Information {Unaudited)

This table summarizes the unaudited results of operations for each
quarter of fiscal 2007 and 2006:

(In theusands, except

per share amiounts) First Second Third Fourth
2007

Net sales $ 773,036 § 790,747 § 787,407 § 853,861
Operating income (b} 78,906 84,263 85,330 92,953
Net earnings (b},{c) 38,652 39,547 32,483 43,735

Basic earnings

per share {a},(b),{c} 9 0.50 § 051 3§ 042 § 0.56
Diluted earnings

per share {a}.(b),{c) ] 048 3 049 3§ 040 3 054°

2006

Net sales £ 678,125 3§ 702,182 § 702,407 % 746,896
Operating income (d) 63,004 63,023 68,989 73,142
Net earnings (d),{e) 29,647 29,622 30,825 33,458

Basic earnings

per share {a},(d).(e) $ 039 % 039 § 040 § 0.43
Diluted earnings

per share {a),(d),(e) $ 038 § 038 § 039 § 0.42

a) Earnings per share calculations for each of the quarters are based on the weighted average
number of shaces outstanding in each quarter. Therefore, the sum of the quarterly earnings per
share does not necessarily equal the full year earnings per share disclosed on the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings.

b}  The quartery results for fiscal 2007 include stock-based compensation expense of approxi-
mately $3.9 miltion (52.7 million after tax), or $0.03 per diluted share per quarter, due ta the
adoption of SFAS 123R, Share-Based Payment, utilizing the modified prospective method, no
stock-based compensation expense was reflected in prior periods. Additionally, the results
inchude a charge of $12.1 million {(§7.9 million after tax), or approximately 30.10 per diluted
share, in the fiscal third quarter for the early extinguishment cof debt.

o) The quarterly results for fiscal 2007 also include a one-time tax benefit in the first fiscal quar-
ter of $1.8 million, or 30.02 per diluted share, refated to a change in the state income tax Jaw
in Texas,

d} The quarterly results for fiscal 2006 include a second quarter loss of $2.8 million {$1.7 million
after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, from hurricares Katrina and Rita.

e} The quarterly results for fiscal 2006 alse include a third quarter toss of $3.1 million {$1.9 mil-
tion after tax), or $0.02 per diluted share, from the divestiture of Rutland Tool; and a fourth

quarter aftes-tax chatge of $2.5 million, or $0.03 per diluted share, recorded as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principfe reflecting the adoption of FIN 42,
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Note 25
Subsequent Event

On May 8, 2007, the Company announced that its Board of
Directors declared a regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.09 per
share. The dividend is payable June 29, 2007 to stockholders of
record as of June 15, 2007. See Note 13 for the May 8, 2007
adoption of the stockholders rights plan.

Note 26
Condensed Consolidating Financial Information of
Subsidiary Guarantors

‘The obligations of the Company under its senior subordinated
notes (“the Notes”) are guaranteed by the Company’s domestic
subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”). The guarantees are made fully and
unconditionally on a joint and several basis. The Company’s joint
venture operations, foreign holdings and bankruptcy remote
special purpose entity (the “Non-guarantors™) are not guarantors
of the Notes. The claims of creditors of Non-guarantor
subsidiaries have priority over the rights of the Company to
receive dividends or distributions from such subsidiaries.

Presented below is supplementary condensed consolidating
financial information for the Company, the Guarantors and the
Non-guarantors as of March 31, 2007 and March 31, 2006 and for
each of the years ended March 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, As
disclosed in Note (3) Acquisitions and Divestitures, the Company
divested its subsidiary, Rutland Tool & Supply Co. {(“Rutland
Tool”), in December 2005. Accordingly, the operating results of
Rutland Tool, which was a guarantor of the Company's senior
subordinated notes, have been reclassified in the Consolidating
Statemnents of Earnings as discontinued operations for the years
ended March 31, 2006 and 2005. Additionally, intercompany
receivables and payables as of March 31, 2006 have been
reclassified to conform to the current period presentation and
stock issued for the employee stock purchase plan, previously
reflected as net cash provided by operating activities for the years
ended March 31, 2006 and 2005, has been reclassified as a source
of cash from financing activities.
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Airgas, Inc. [ZX0/]

{In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Assets
Current Assets
Cash $ — $ 24,652 $ 1,279 $ — $ 25931
Trade receivables, net — 8,885 184,779 — 193,664
Intercompany receivable/{payable) — 1,177 (1.177) — —
Inventories, net — 232,790 17,518 — 250,308
Deferred income tax asset, net 22,342 10,383 (1,721} — 31,004
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 17,878 27,156 3,558 —_— 48,592
Total current assets 40,220 305,043 204,236 — 549,499
Plant and equipment, net 15,990 1,642,278 207,150 —_ 1,865,418
Goadwill — 742,114 90,048 — 832,162
Other intangible assets, net — 58,037 4,898 — 62,935
Investments in subsidiaries 2,558,871 — — {2,558,871) —
Other non-current assets 8,408 12,176 2,859 — 23,443
Total assets $2,623,489 $2,759,648 $ 509,191 $(2,558,871} $3,333,457
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, trade $ 849 § 129,179 $ 16,357 $ — $ 146,385
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 89,651 128,366 23,258 — 241,275
Current portion of long-term debt 30,000 5,915 4,381 — 40,296
Total current liabilities 120,500 263,460 43,996 — 427,956
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 1,198,400 9,910 101,409 — 1,309,719
Deferred income tax liability, net (3,704) 333,599 43,351 — 373,246
Intercompany (receivable)/payable 176,448 (70,778) {105,670} — —
Other non-current liabilities 6,463 25,712 7,788 — 39,963
Minority interest in affiliate — — 57,191 - 57,191
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, no par value — — — — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 799 — — — 799
Capital in excess of par value 341,101 1,294,816 71,952 (1,366,768) 341,101
Retained earnings 792,433 902,320 286,138 (1,188,458) 792,433
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,183 609 3,406 (4,015) 4,183
Treasury stock {13,134) — {370 370 {13,134)
Total stockholders’ equity 1,125,382 2,197,745 361,126 (2,558,871) 1,125,382
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $2,623,489 $2,759,648 $ 509,191 ${2,558,871) $3,333,457
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{In theusands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
; Assets
! Current Assets
Cash $ — $ 30,061 $ 4924 $ — $ 34985
. Trade receivables, net — 7.149 125,096 — 132,245
; Intercompany receivable/payable) — (4,113) 4113 — —
; Inventories, net — 211,319 18,204 — 229,523
i Deferred income tax asset, net 21,988 9,239 (1,086) — 30,141
i Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,289 20,713 3,620 — 31,622
! Total current assets 29,277 274,368 154,871 — 458,516
{
Plant and equipment, net 18,285 1,194,523 185,949 — 1,398,757
i Goadwill — 488,317 77,757 — 566,074
: Other intangible assets, net — 22,362 3,886 — 26,248
Investments in subsidiaries 1,940,670 — — (1,940,670) —
Other non-current assets 15,491 6,394 2,832 — 24,817
| Total assets $2,003,723 $1,985,964 $ 425,395 $(1,940,670) $2,474,412
|
i Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable, trade $ 3,057 $ 122,078 $ 18,617 $ — $ 143,752
l Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 112,396 66,241 21,364 — 200,001
Current portion of long-term debt 125,751 561 5,589 — 131,901
Total current liabilities 241,204 188,880 45,570 — 475,654
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 549,382 2,450 83,894 — 635,726
Deferred income tax fiability, net 4,372 280,404 43,042 — 327,818
Intercompany (receivable)/payable 257,995 {148,123) (109,872) — —
QOther non-current liabilities 3,611 25,242 2,011 — 30,864
Minority interest in affiliate — — 57,191 — 57,191

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity
; Preferred stock, no par value — — — — -
: Common stock, par value $0.01 per share 786 — — — 786

i Capital in excess of par value 289,598 894,898 71,955 (966,853) 289,598
: Retained earnings 665,158 741,623 228,662 (870,285) 665,158
! Accumulated other comprehensive inceme 4,751 590 3,312 (3,202) 4,751
Treasury stock (13,134) — (370) 370 {13,139
Total stockholders’ equity 947,159 1,637,111 303,559 (1,840,670} 347,159
i Total lizhilities and stockholders” equity $2,003,723 $ 1,985,964 $ 425,395 $(1,940,670) $2,474,412
}
i
i
1
!
H
i
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(It thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Net Sales $ — $2,939,912 $ 265,139 b3 — $3,205,051
Costs and Expenses
Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) —_ 1,454,162 112,928 — 1,567,090
Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 6,593 1,039,066 103,507 _ 1,149,166
Depreciation 6,074 115,202 17,542 — 138,818
Amortization — 7,958 567 — 8,525
Operating Income (Loss) (12,667) 323,524 30,595 — 341,452
Interest (expense} income, net (74,369) 19,146 (4,957} — (60,180)
{Discount) gain on securitization
of trade receivables —_ (81,487) 67,857 — (13,630)
Loss on the extinguishment of debt {12,099} — — — (12,099)
Other income (expense), net {82} (1,543) 3,226 — 1,601
Earnings (loss} before income taxes
and minority interest (99,217) 259,640 96,721 — 257,144
Income tax benefit {expense) 34,555 (98,941} (35,497} - {99,883)
Minority interest in earnings of
consolidated affiliate — — (2,845) — (2,845)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 219,078 — — (219,078) —
Net Earnings $ 154416 $ 160,699 $ 58,379 $ (219,078) $ 154,416
(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consclidated
Net Sales 3 — $2,608,146 $ 221,464 $ — $2,829,610
Costs and Expenses
Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) — 1,306,924 95,054 — 1,401,978
Selling, distribution and
administrative expenses 24,135 912,700 94,497 — 1,031,332
Depreciation 7,518 98,984 15,894 — 122,396
Amortization — 4,992 154 — 5,146
Operating Income (Loss) {31,653) 284,546 15,865 — 268,758
Interest {expense) income, net (72,767} 22,781 (3,826) — (53,812)
{Discount) gain on securitization
of trade receivables — {73,990} 64,619 — (9,371}
Qther income (expense), net 19,784 {18,006} 684 — 2,462
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
and mincrity interest (84,636) 215,331 77,342 — 208,037
Income tax benefit (expense) 29,623 (79,415) (28,074) — (77,866)
Minority interest in earnings of
cansolidated affiliate — — (2,656) — {2,656)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 178,564 — — (178,564) —
Loss fram discontinued
operations,net of tax — (1,424) — — (1,424)
Cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle, net of tax — {2,296) (244) — (2,540}
Net Earnings $ 123,551 $ 132,196 $ 46,368 $ (178,564) $ 123,551
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
Net Sales $ it $2,173,444 $ 194,338 3 — $2,367,782

Costs and Expenses

]
I
|
|
I Costs of products sold
(excluding depreciation) _ 1,069,711 82,071 — 1,151,782
' Selling, distribution and
[ administrative expenses 31,690 786,050 84,728 — 902,468
l Depreciation 7,410 84,093 14,111 —_ 105,614
Amortization 99 5,269 96 — 5,464
‘ Operating Income (Loss) (39,199) 228,321 13,332 — 202,454
! Interest {expense} income, net (70,493) 23,228 (3,980) — (51,245)
{Discount) gain on securitization
of trade receivables — (61,185) 56,474 — @711
Other income (expense), net 21,249 (20,686) 566 — 1,129
Earnings (loss) before income taxes
and minority interest (88,443) 169,678 66,392 —_ 147,627
Income tax benefit (expense} 30,955 (61,538) (23,678) — (54,261)
Minority interest in earnings of
consolidated affiliate — — (1,808) — {1,808)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries 149,510 — — {149,510) —
Incorme from discontinued
operations,net of tax — 464 — — 464
Net Earnings § 92,022 $ 108,604 $ 40,906 $ (149,510) $ 92022
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

{In thousands} Non- Elimination
March 31, 2007 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated

Net cash provided by {used in}
operating activities $ (102,808) $ 390,032 3 30,831 $ — $ 318,155

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures {4,012) (215,532) (24,039) — (243,583}
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 177 6,835 1,673 — 8.685
Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

setttements of acquisition related liabilities — {657,286) (30,606) — (687,892)
Other, net (572) 25 73 — (474)
Net cash used in investing activities {4,407} {865,958) (52,899) — {923,264)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 1,480,984 15,743 94,737 _— 1,591,464
Repayment of debt (926,827} (2,930) (78,429) — {1,008,186)
Financing costs (5,103) — _ — {5,103)
Premium paid on call of senior

subordinated notes {10,267} — — — {10,267)
Minority interest in earnings — — {2,845) — (2,845)
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 15,107 — — - 15,107
Stock issued for employee stack purchase plan — 11,951 — - 11,951
Tax benefit realized from the exercise

of stock options 9,013 — — — 9,013
Dividends paid to stockholders (21,980) — — — (21,980}
Cash overdraft 16,901 — — — 16,901
Inter-company (450,613) 445,753 4,860 _— —
Net cash provided by financing activities 107,215 470,517 18,323 — 596,055
Change In Cash $ — 3 (5409 $ (3.645) $ - $  (8.054)
Cash - Beginning of year — 30,061 4,924 — 34,985
Cash - End of year $ — $ 24,652 $ 1,279 5 _— $ 2593
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(In thousands) Non- Elimination
i March 31, 2006 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consolidated
: Net cash provided by {used in)
j operating activities $ (13,484) $ 261618 $ 103,501 b — $ 351,635
i

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

; Capital expenditures (3,161) (183,651) (27,381} — (214,193)
; Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 104 5,143 2,955 — 8,202
! Proceeds from divestiture — 14,562 —_ — 14,562
! Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

f settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (128,742) (24,686) — (153,428)
! Other, net 749 (390) (189) — 170
i Net cash used in investing activities (2,308) (293,078} (49,301) — (344,687)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from borrowings 478,848 2,363 87,168 — 568,379
Repayment of debt (512,718} {6,388) (87,426) — (606,532)
Purchase of treasury stock (12,771} —_ —_ — {12,771)
Minority interest in earnings — — {(2,656) — (2,656}
Minority stockholder note repayment — —_ 21,000 — 21,000
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 19,707 — — — 19,707
Stock issued for employee stock purchase plan — 10,534 — — 10,534
Dividends paid to stockholders {18,249) — — — (18,449}
Cash overdraft 16,530 — (345) — 16,185
inter-company 44,645 25,672 (70,317) — —
Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities 15,792 32,181 (52,576) — (4,603)
Change In Cash $ — $ 721 3 1,624 $ — 3 2,345
Cash — Beginning of year — 29,340 3,300 _ 32,640
Cash — End of year $ — $ 30,061 3 4,924 $ — $ 34,985
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(in thousands) Non- Elimination
March 31, 2005 Parent Guarantors Guarantors Entries Consclidated
Net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities $  (35,408) § 234,821 $ 12,977 — $ 212,410
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Capital expenditures (3.890) (136,231) {27,856) — (167,977}
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 50 3,761 1,550 — 5,361
Proceeds from divestiture — 828 — — 828
Business acquisitions, holdbacks and other

settlements of acquisition related liabilities — (186,000} {5,820) — {191,820}
Other, net 267 — (96) — 171
Net cash used in investing activities (3,573) (317,642} (32,222) — (353,437)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from borrowings 547,762 2,069 71,619 — 621,450
Repayment of debt (436,768) (1,321) (56,595) — (494,684)
Financing costs (2,531) — — — (2,531)
Termination of interest rate hedge 3,948 — — — 3,948
Minority interest in earnings — — (1,808) — (1,808)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 20,374 —_ — — 20,374
Stock issued for employee stock purchase plan — 9,907 — — 9,907
Dividends paid to stockholders {13,643) — — — (13,643)
Cash overdraft 5,592 — — — 5,592
Inter-company (85,753) 77,917 7,836 — —
Net cash provided by financing activities 38,981 88,572 21,052 — 148,605
Change tn Cash $ — $ 5771 $ 1,807 % — $ 7,578
Cash - Beginning of year — 23,569 1,493 — 25,062
Cash - End of year 3 — $ 29,340 $ 3,300 $ — § 32,640
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

{(Unaudited)
Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities to Free Cash Flow

(In thousands}
Years Ended March 31, 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Net cash provided by operating activities § 187,012 $ 203,790 $ 212,410 $ 351,635 $ 318,155
Less: Net cash provided by operating
activities of National Welders (1) — (9,831) {19,612) (23,497) {34,455)
Plus: Management fees paid by
National Welders (1) — 249 1,089 1,234 1,454
Proceeds from sale of plant
and equipment 4,260 5,347 5,361 8,202 8,685
Operating fease buyouts — 4,011 24,130 14,558 9,509
Stock issued for employee stock
purchase plan 8,951 6,889 9,907 10,534 11,951
Tax benefit realized from exercise
of stock options — — — — 9,013
Less: Cash provided by the securitization
of trade receivables (24,900) (3,700) (27,300) (54,300} (20,200)
Capital expenditures {67,969) {93,749) (167,977} (214,193) (243,583)
Add back capital expenditures
of National Welders (1) — 2,265 24,584 21,362 18,449
Free Cash Flow $ 107,354 $ 11527 $ 62,592 $ 115,535 $ 78978

(1) Nationa! Weiders Supply Co. {*National Welders"} is a corporate joint ventuze meeting the definition of 3 variable interess entity and for which the Company is the primary beneficiary as described under
FIN 46R. National Welders was consolidated effective December 31, 2003. Prior to January 1, 2004, the Company reporiad the results of Naticnal Weklers in "Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliate.”
The liabilities of National Welders are non-recourse to the Company. Likewise, the cash flows in excess of the management fee paid by National Welders are not available to the Company. Accordingly, the
cash fiows of National Welders have been excluded from the Campany’s nan-GAAP liquidity measures,

The Company believes that free cash flow provides investors meaningful insight inzo the Company’s ability to generate cash from operations, which can be used at management's discretion for acquisitions,
the prepyament of debt or to support cther investing and financing activities.

Reconciliation of EPS from Continuing Operations to Adjusted EPS from Continuing Operations

Year Ended March 31,

2007 2006

Diluted EPS Diluted EPS

Earnings per diluted share {EPS) from continuing operations, as reported $ 1.92 $ 1.62

Plus charge for early extinguishment of debt, net of tax 6.10 —

Less tax benefit related to state tax law change . (0.02) —

Plus losses related to hurricanes, net of tax -— 0.02

Less stock-based compensation not recognized in prior period, net of tax — (0.10)

Adjusted EPS from continuing operations $ 2.00 3 1.54
Year-over-year increase in adjusted EPS from continuing operations 30%

The Company believes the Adjusted EPS fzom Continuing Operations measure provides meaningful insight into earnings growth by adjusting for significant unusual items and the prospective implementation
of SFAS 123R.
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial

Measures {Unaudited)

Airgas, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Reconciliation and Computation of Return on Capital

(In thousands)

Years Ended March 31, 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Operating Income % 156,336 $ 168,544 § 202,454 § 268,758 $ 341,252
Plus (Less):
Restructuring/special charges (recoveries) , net 2,694 (776) — — —
Adjusted Operating Income $ 159,030 $ 167,768 % 202,454 $ 268,758 $ 341,452
Five-Quarter Average of Total Assets $1,705,114 $1,776,185 $2,112,504 $2,378,324 $2,679,575
Five-Quarter Average of

Securitized Trade Receivables 147,680 157,400 183,300 216,360 246,240
Five-Quarter Average of

Current Liabilities (exciusive of debt) {219,153) (216,081) (269,975) (326,618) (354,623)
Five-Quarter Average of

Investrnent in Unconsolidated Affiliates (65,416) (38,793) — — —_
Five-Quarter Average Capital Employed 51,568,225 $1,677,711 $2,025,829 $2,268,066 $2,571,192
Return on Capital 10.1% 10.0% 10.0% 11.8% 13.3%

The Company believes this return on capital computation helps investors assess how effectively the Company uses the capital invested 1n its operations.

Nineteen Year Reconciliation of Operating income to Adjusted EBITDA to Cash from Operations

{In thowsands)

Years Ended March 31, - 1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1938 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Cperating income 15958 23,721 17,286 26,316 34,367 48,667 72,600 92,987 80,480 111,709 112,607 105461 106,728 124,938 156,336 168544 202,454 268,758 341,452
Add:

Depresation & amorvzanon 11,147 12,387 21,158 23,420 28,042 30571 36,868 45762 64,478 82227 83,830 85262 82796 T1I57 79,779 87447 111.078 127,542 147,343
Adjusted EBITDA 27105 40608 38444 49736 62,409 79,238 {09,468 138,749 144908 193,936 196,446 190,723 iB9,52% 196,695 235,615 255,991 313,532 396,300 483,795

[Uses)sources of tash
excluded from Adjusted
EBITDA, included in
Cash from Operations:

Inkerest expense, net (12,245) (16,198) {15,179} (12,838] (11,403} (12,486} (17,625} (24,862) {3%,367) (52,603) (59,677} (56.879) (59,550} (46,775} (46,374) (42,357} (51,245) (53,812) {60,180)
Discount on securitization of

recevables — — — — —_ — — — — — —_ - {1,303} (4.846) (3.326) (3,264) (4,711} {9,371) (13,630)
Cutrent income 1axes 404 1,700 (599) {3.591) (5.653) (7.838) (12,345} (17.654} (20,012) (16,502) (17,244) (16,902} (13,402} 4,536 (33,174) (24,623) {22,622) (30,718} (47,972)
Other income {expense) 25 157 870 214 546 453 1,607 781 1,695 98i% 29491 18625 1324 5987 2132 1472 1129 2462 1600
Equity in earnings of Elkem

joint venture 1,415 1,435 2009 2019 (897 ({1,258)  (B4D) (1428) ({1,356) {1,478)  {BAS} — — — — — — — -
(Gamsilgsses on dwestitures - — — — — — (560} — - {1,452y (25,468) (17,712} {(1,173) {5,548} 241 — {360) 1,900 —
(GanMlosses on sale of PPRE (32) 2 (715} {76) (292} (63} 110 (12} b6 (504) {222 (919} 502 405 (257)  (837) {321) (1.330) 19
Stock-based compensation

Expense —_ — —_ _ — — — — —_ — — _ — _— — —_ —_ — 15,445
Income(loss} on discontinued

operations - — — — — — — — 478 {635 (871)  (335) (400} (3.529) (i.776}  {457) 464 (1424} —_
Other nen-cash charges 260 308 252 250 — — — — 3930 w41 — 458 2,281 1088 — — - — -
Cash provided (used) by

working capital 4,379 702 6712 15868 131608 6,752 {2030} (6,948} (14,801} (13,548) (25,273} {22.686) 78,320 95691 33931 17865 (23,456} 47628 (65,943}

Net Cash Provided by
Operating Activities 21,501 28714 31,794 51682 58318 64,798 77,785 88626 76,091 128,447 96,313 94,377 196,132 243,694 187,012 203,790 212,410 351,635 318,155

The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA provides investors meaningful insight into the Company's abulity to generate cash from operations to support required working capital, caprtal expenditures and financial obligations.
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period financial statements to conform to the current presentation.
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Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
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2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

March 31 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Rirgas ' 100 106.86 120.74

S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals 100 97.42 124.38

5&P MidCap 400 100 114.14 126.04

The graph above assumes that $100 was invested on April 1, 2002, in Airgas, Inc. common stock,
the S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals Index, and the S&P MidCap 400 Index.

This performance graph shall be deemed an addendum to and a part of the Airgas, Inc. 2007
Annual Report to Stockholders. It compares the yearly change in the cumulative total stockholder
return on Airgas common stock against the cumulative total return of the S&P MidCap 400
Chemicals Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index for the five-year period that began April 1, 2002
and ended March 31, 2007.

We have approved the use of the S&P MidCap 400 Chemicals Index and the S&P MidCap 400 Index
for the purpeses of this performance comparison because Airgas is a component of the indices and
they include companies of similar size to Airgas.




BOARD OF DIRECTORS (FROM LEFT TO RIGHT)

James W. Hovey {4)
President
The Fox Companies

William 0. Albartini {2}
Former Chief Financial Gfficer
Bell Atlantic Corporation

Lee M. Thomas (3)
President and CEO
Rayonier, inc,

Paula A. Sneed (2]

Former Executive Vice President

Glohal Marketing Rescurces & Initiatives
Kraft Foods

W. Thacher Brown (1)(4)
Former Chairman and Prasident
1838 Investment Advisors, LLC

John C. van Roden, Jr. (2)(4)
Former Executive Vice President & CFQ
P.H. Glatfelter Paper Co.

Richard C. 1)) {3)
President and CEO
Triumph Group, Inc.

Peter McCausland {1}
Chairman and CEQ
Airgas. Inc.

David M. Stout {1}{3)
President, Pharmaceuticals
GlaxoSmithKline

1) Executive Committer

21 Audet Committee

{3 Governance angd Compensation Committee
(4} Finance Comnttas




Why N@W is the most exciting time in Airgas’ 25-year history...

1 Airgas has nearly 4,000 drivers delivering products safely to customers. 2 Cylinder inventory on Airgas loading docks
Is kept up to date with automated software. 3 The Airgas Emergency Response Qrganization {AERQ) is the largest, best-
prepared emergency response arganization in the industry. 4 "Cuiting & Welding” training for Airgas associates helps
us provide better service to our customers, 5 New proprietary technology automates the analysis of specialty gas mixes.
6 Sales to non-residential construction cusiomers were up 18 percent. 7 Airgas is the largest U.S. distributor of
industrial gases and welding hardgocds. 8 Airgas has the best people in the industry; taday we're 11,500 strong.
9 Qur core markets, including metal fabrication, are going strong. 10 Airgas affers a range of supply modes, from
cylingers —including liquid dewars—to bulk gas deliveries. 11 With 7 million eylinders, Airgas has the most
cylinders in the industry. 12 Red-D-Arc is the leading renter of welding and related equipment in North America.
13 Our MicroBulk supply mede transitions customers from cylinders to small butk deliveries. 14 Two Airgas Choppers
designed and built by Orange County Cheppers helpe'd raise more than $225,060 for the Cystic Fibrosis Foungation.
15 Airgas is the largest LS. distributor of dry ice and the leading producer of liguid carbon dioxide in the Southeast.
16 Airgas will soan have mare than 1,000 facilities in the U.5. 17 Qur newest business, Airgas Merchant Gases
sources, produces, and delivers bulk gases. 18 The Airgas patented AcuGrav™ specialty gas-mixing system helps us
daliver consistent product time after time. 19 Six strategically placed regional distribution centers speed products
to our stores and customers. 20 Airgas cylinder remediation service safely identifies discarded cylinder cantents to
keep customers safe and in compliance. 21 Airgas associates take an active role in their communities donating time
and money to nonprofit foundations, 22 Oecember 19, 2008 marked Airgas’ 20th year on the NYSE, with 20 percent
average annual compounded growth to shareholders. 23 Airgas Specialty Products provides ammonia and refrigerants
. to utilities, chemical processing, water treatment and cooling applications. 24 Even before Airgas Merchant Gases,

.. 1 bulk gas sales were up 18 percent. 25 Ancther link in the Airgas supply chain is our expanded eBusiness channel.
*1 5:2 . f 2! ‘g 26 Sales of our Radnor welding and safety preducts brand grew 11%. 27 C0:0irect, an Airgas company, provides
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beverage-grade carbon dioxide to tha food and beverage industry. 28 Walk-Oz-Bout® portable oxygen systems helped
medical gas sales grow 9 percent in fiscal 2007.

Airgas.

Airgas, Inc.
259 North Radnor-Chester Road
Radnor, PA 19087-5283

! WWW.BIrgas.com @
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